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Committed to
innovating for the future

Landgate’s commitment to innovation is evident in its 
ongoing delivery of cutting-edge products and services. 
Innovation is embedded within the culture of the authority 
and also its people. It paves the way for exploring existing 
and future business opportunities.
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Statement of compliance
Hon Terry Redman MLA
Minister for Regional Development; Lands
Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, 
we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the 
Annual Report of the Western Australian Land Information Authority, trading 
as Landgate, for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006.

Caroline de Mori *
Chair
4 September 2015

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive
4 September 2015

* Caroline de Mori was appointed Chair of the 
Landgate Board effective 1 August 2015

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Statement  of  compl iance
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Operat ional  h ighl ights

Operational highlights



Landgate Annual  Report  2014/156

During the past 12 months, Landgate has continued to create innovative 
ways of delivering high quality and relevant products and services. It’s been a 
busy and active year and the business is better equipped for the future. 
 
We know that to grow the business and meet changing customer 
expectations and an evolving technology landscape, we need to accelerate 
our ongoing reform agenda.

Landgate’s business-wide improvement program, known as Transform, 
commenced in early 2014 and will continue over the next few years. Much 
has been achieved in the past year. The program focuses on changes to the 
way we work including people, process and system improvements. 

Reform of Landgate’s pricing framework has made significant progress and 
provides the platform for the realisation of its transformation agenda. It will 
allow the authority to retain savings made through business efficiencies, 
resulting in public policy benefits and a greater return to our shareholder, the 
State of Western Australia. 

These, and other changes underway in the business, will ensure we 
deliver value to our customers and shareholders, enhance our operating 
performance and continue to build a highly-skilled and engaged workforce. 

Our financial performance to 30 June 2015 exceeded budget expectations, 
with Landgate making a gross profit of $29.8m. This has been achieved 
despite a weaker than expected property market, which resulted in a 
decrease in revenue from core services, and a revaluation of the Midland 
property that adversely affected our results. This was offset by additional 
investment revenue and lower expenditure as a result of tightly managed 
budgets and recruitment constraints.

Landgate’s strong net asset position of $201.7m, enables Landgate to 
contribute to the state’s finances through the payment of income and payroll 
taxes and dividends to the government.

Chairman’s 
message

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Chairman’s  message
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The authority’s ongoing commitment to innovation, research and 
development has led to its reputation as a leader in providing location 
information services. 

Plans for the creation of Western Australia’s first Location and Innovation 
Hub at Landgate are underway, following the development of a blueprint 
and widespread research to guide the implementation process. It will bring 
policy, governance, infrastructure, education, research and development 
together with private sector investment to address issues of local and state 
importance. Landgate will fulfil a lead role in the establishment of this facility. 

I acknowledge the commitment of my fellow Board members, whose skills 
and experience have been readily applied to meet the challenges of the past 
year. 

I would also like to thank the people at Landgate, the management group, 
and especially the Corporate Executive, which has developed into a strong, 
cohesive team led by Chief Executive, Mike Bradford. I have enjoyed working 
with them and have confidence they have the passion, skills and commitment 
to meet the challenges of the coming year. 

Finally, I would like to recognise the Minister for Lands, the Hon Terry 
Redman, who supports the important role Landgate undertakes and shares 
our vision for the authority’s future. 

Chairman’s 
message

Geoffrey Hick
Chairman

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Chairman’s  message
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As the Western Australian economy and the public sector face significant challenges, we continue to take a proactive approach.  Landgate has achieved much during the last 
12 months, delivering value to the Western Australian community and our customers.

In May, our National Electronic Conveyancing System project enabled 
transfers, caveats and withdrawal of caveats to join the suite of property 
transactions to be processed through the e-conveyancing system Property 
Exchange Australia (PEXA). This marked the first time a complete property 
transaction, including full financial settlement, could take place electronically. 

Our ongoing business improvement program, Transform, is building the 
foundation for improvements to our systems and operating performance, as 
well as enhancing the capabilities of our people. 

As part of this, our organisational values were refreshed and launched in late 
2014. Our new values guide how we behave and interact with our customers, 
community and colleagues.

During the year, more than 33,000 new lots were created, which is 16 per 
cent higher than the previous year. Recent process improvements enabled 
Landgate’s registration team to complete this large volume in relatively short 
timeframes. 

A strata titles reform consultation paper was released for public comment 
at the end of 2014 to ensure those with an interest in strata development 
were informed of the proposed changes to the Strata Titles Act 1985. These 
reforms will help provide more flexible and sustainable housing options, with 
the state’s population expected to increase to 3.5 million by 2031. 

In March 2015, the authority launched its new corporate website. Rebuilt 
from the ground up, it was designed in consultation with customers. Although 
relatively new, the website has already received positive feedback.  

Chief  
Executive’s
message

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Chief  Execut ive’s  message
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I am proud of the way Landgate seizes future opportunities and confronts 
challenges. This is due to the expertise and commitment of our people and 
has been the key to our success over the last 12 months.

I would like to acknowledge my Executive team whose input has contributed 
to Landgate’s many successful initiatives over the last year. 

Finally I would like to thank the Board, in particular the Chairman,  
Mr Geoffrey Hick, who completes his final year with Landgate in 2015. 
I sincerely appreciate his invaluable contribution to Landgate over the past  
six years. 

Chief  
Executive’s
message

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Chief  Execut ive’s  message
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About us
What we do

We maintain the state’s official register of land ownership and survey 
information for Western Australia. By providing a secure land titles register, 
we protect the property wealth of the state and support the function of the 
state’s property market and economy. 

We are responsible for valuing the state’s land and property for government. 
Additionally, we value and maintain the register of the state-owned property 
asset portfolio. 

We are the state’s trusted and respected source of land and geographic 
information for our private, business and government customers. This 
information assists decision-making, provision of emergency services, 
planning for land-use and infrastructure and management of agriculture and 
natural resources. 

Our services, projects and activities span over 2.5 million square kilometres 
and we have offices in Perth, Midland, Bunbury and Albany.

Our structure 

We are a statutory authority, managed by a Board which is accountable to 
the Minister for Lands for delivery of our services. 

Part of our surplus is returned to the government as a dividend for the 
development of the state. The remainder is reinvested in the business for 
capital works to improve systems and services for the benefit of Western 
Australia. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  About  us
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At Landgate, our values define the culture of our organisation and highlight 
what’s important to us. They guide how we behave and interact with our 
customers, our people and our community. 

Our values

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  About  us
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We do what we say we will do.  
We take personal responsibility. We are passionate, proud and 

enthusiastic. We make it easy to  
do business with us.

We think about tomorrow in 
what we do today. We celebrate 
success. 

We are supportive and respectful. 
We communicate openly. 

Our values are:

Commit
and act

Dynamic
and  
engaged

Innovate
and  
achieve

Honest
and true

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  About  us
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Executive 
summary
It has been an active and successful year. Landgate 
is in good shape and this is reflected in our results. 
We are well-positioned to take advantage of potential 
opportunities that may arise.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Execut ive  summary



Landgate Annual  Report  2014/1514

Executive summary

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Execut ive  summary

Strata Titles Act reform
Landgate continues to lead proposed reforms to Western Australia’s Strata 
Titles Act 1985. The reforms, which are expected to be legislated by the 
end of 2016, will ensure the state has a modern legislative and regulatory 
environment to better meet its needs, particularly in light of future growth. 
The reform proposals were released for public comment from October 
2014 to February 2015. The feedback received resulted in Landgate 
refining its reform proposals, which were well received by the Minister for 
Lands and key stakeholders. A draft submission is underway, requesting 
permission to draft the bill. 

Business improvement program (Transform)
During the year, considerable progress was made in advancing our business 
improvement program, Transform. Landgate’s organisational values were 
refreshed and launched to engender an improved performance culture.  
System, process and workforce reforms were identified and implemented 
in a number of areas across the business, building greater efficiency and 
capability.  In addition, Landgate began building a new registration system 
that will provide customers with a better service experience. 
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Execut ive  summary

Executive summary 

Electronic conveyancing
Landgate has been instrumental in establishing electronic conveyancing 
in Western Australia, processing the first electronic land transaction 
document through the e-conveyancing platform, PEXA, a year ago.This 
year, Landgate’s National Electronic Conveyancing System Implementation 
Project expanded the suite of property transactions able to be processed 
through PEXA to include transfers, caveats and withdrawal of caveats.  This 
marked the first time a complete property transaction could take place 
electronically.  Access to the new system was also made available to all 
members of the conveyancing industry. 
 

Regulated fees reform (pricing reform)
Pricing reform legislation, approved by Parliament in April and gazetted in 
June, has paved the way for Landgate to modernise its approach to the 
way regulated products and services are priced. The reform enables the 
authority and the Western Australian community to benefit from savings 
made through business efficiencies. Benefits include fee certainty for 
customers over the next three years and a more sustainable funding source 
for Landgate by reducing the impact of property market fluctuations.  
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Execut ive  summary

Executive summary

New IT Strategy enhances customer experience
Landgate adopted an IT Strategy that will deliver a greenfields replacement 
of the systems that support and deliver our products and services. It will also 
assist with the transformation of Landgate’s business. The new platforms 
are based on cloud services and are commercially available solutions 
to minimise cost and maximise productivity and customer value. Major 
transformation of core systems commenced in late 2014, including the 
launch of Landgate’s new website in March 2015. 

Customer Relationship Management 
Landgate is making good progress towards becoming a more customer-
focused business. A Customer Relationship Management system was 
implemented based on the authority’s Know Your Customer initiative. This 
new system will become the consolidated source of customer information at 
Landgate. It will help the authority better understand its customers and tailor 
services to their individual needs. Landgate staff and customers are also 
benefiting from new unified communications and collaboration platforms, 
which have improved call centre response times. 
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Execut ive  summary

Executive summary 

Location and Innovation Hub 
The creation of a Location and Innovation Hub is a key component of the 
State Government’s Location Information Strategy (LIS). Led by Landgate, 
the hub builds on the earlier success of the LIS program by harnessing 
existing location technology capabilities and emerging technology trends 
to deliver greater economic and social benefits for the state. Landgate 
recently created a blueprint to guide the implementation of the Location and 
Innovation Hub in Western Australia, informed by widespread research on 
other hubs throughout the world. 

Amendment to the Valuation of Land Act 1978 
During the year, the Valuation of Land Amendment Act 2015 was passed 
by Parliament to reflect changes to the definition of ‘unimproved value’ 
applied to mining tenements and exploration permits. The amendment was 
necessary to reverse the excessive rises in unimproved values inadvertently 
caused by increases in rents and fees charged by the Department of 
Minerals and Petroleum. The legislation will come into effect from  
1 July 2015.
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Financia l  summary

Landgate finished 2014/15 in a sound financial position.  Revenue has met expectation despite the 
uncertainty in the state’s property market, particularly in the second half of the financial year.  Management 
has maintained focus on delivering an efficient and effective operating environment with continued 
investment in the strategic reform of the authority to build a better Landgate for our customers, our people 
and the community.

Financial summary

$29.8
Gross profit

m

Landgate delivered a gross profit of $29.8m, 
15% above budget despite a weaker than 
expected property market.  This positive 
outcome compares favourably with last year’s 
result, considering challenging trading conditions 
and additional expenditure. The increase in 
expenditure was associated with strategic 
business improvement initiatives to deliver future 
benefits for customers and the community.
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Financia l  summary

Financial summary

$128.6 $201.4 $19.9
Customer 
revenue

Net 
assests

Capital  
expenditure

m m m

Customer revenue of $128.6m is primarily 
driven by activity in the state’s property market. 
This year’s result is slightly down compared to 
last year due to the weakening market, though 
overall, revenue finished 3.3% above target.

Landgate’s net assets have grown to $201.4m, 
representing a 3.2% increase on the previous 
year.  This was achieved mainly through 
continued positive retained earnings and the 
strengthening of the authority’s asset position 
relative to liabilities.

Capital expenditure during the year totalled 
$19.9m.  This investment supports strategic 
initiatives such as e-conveyancing, reforms 
to the Strata Titles Act 1985, and Landgate’s 
business improvement program Transform. 
Capital investment was also made to increase 
the delivery of online services and improve the 
quality and accessibility of location information 
across agencies and industry. 
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Financia l  summary

Gross profit ($m) Net assests ($m)

Financial summary 

Our profit
Landgate delivered a gross profit of $29.8m which was 15% above 
budget. This year’s positive outcome compares favourably to the last two 
years in light of the weakening property market impacting revenue and 
additional expenditure to support strategic initiatives. 

2011 20112012 20122013 20132014 20142015 2015

Our net assets
Landgate’s net assets have grown to $201.4m, representing a 3.2% 
increase on the previous year. This strong financial position allows 
continuing investment in the efficient delivery of services. It will also allow 
for further diversification and enhancement in the range of products and 
services available to the community. The strong net asset position will also 
enable Landgate to contribute to the state’s finances through the payment 
of income and payroll taxes and dividends to the government. 

$0.9

$108.1$20.9 $130.3

$38.0

$166.8

$40.6
$196.2

$29.8
$201.7
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Employee benefits $81.1m (57%) Customer revenue -  
registrations $104.5m (60%)

Supplies and services $29.3m (21%)
State government  
funding $30.5m (18%)Other expenses $10.7m (7%)

Customer revenue -  
valuations $14.3m (8%)

Depreciation and amortisation $9.8m (7%)

Other revenue $13.6. (8%)

Finance costs $2.1m (1%)

Customer revenue - other 
$9.9m (6%)

Accommodation $4.1m (3%)

Investment costs $5.4m (4%)

Financial summary 

Our expenditure
Landgate continues to proactively manage expenditure and finished within 
1.2% of its original budget. This was despite additional costs associated 
with its strategic business improvement initiatives that will lead to long 
term cost savings within Landgate’s two largest cost categories (Employee 
benefits and IT costs within supplies and services), with the goal of building 
a better Landgate for all stakeholders.

Our revenue
Landgate’s operating revenue exceeded the target by 3.3%. This was at a 
similar level to the previous financial year, mainly due to revenue from the 
reclassification adjustment of the authority’s investment in PEXA Ltd, which 
offset the decline in revenue from registrations, searches and valuations. 
Landgate also received service appropriation from the State Government, 
comprising 18% of total revenue which is comparable to last financial year.

Our expenditure ($m) Our revenue ($m)

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Financia l  summary
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Landgate’s key services include land information, valuation and access to government location information

Performance summary

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Performance summary
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Performance summary

Average cost per land registration action Average cost per land information action

Land registration actions
The actual average cost per land registration action of $34.42 for this
financial year was 9.7% above the target of $31.38. This was due to a
number of factors including the reduction in the expected number of land
registration actions and an increase in costs associated with Landgate’s
strategic business improvement initiatives. 

Land registration and information services are delivered to ensure the state’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a land information base and 
certainty of ownership and other interests in land

Land information actions
The actual average cost per land information action for this financial year
was $20.86, which was 11.8% above the target of $18.65. This was
due to a decrease in the expected amount of land information collected,
together with an increase in total costs for delivering this service as a result
of Landgate’s reform programs.

2011 20112012 20122014 20142013 20132015 
Actual

2015 
Actual

2015 
Target

2015 
Target

$36.84
$15.67

$39.69 $18.49

$31.67
$16.80

$30.05

$19.25
$34.42

$20.86

$31.38

$18.65

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Performance summary
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Performance summary 

Average cost per valuation

Valuations completed
The 2014/15 actual cost per valuation was $18.92 which was 13 cents 
below the target of $19.05, collectively due to an increase in valuations 
made, internal efficiencies and expenditure restraint. 

Independent valuations support the collection of rates and taxes and 
government’s management of property assets

2011 2012 20142013 2015 
Actual

2015 
Target

$18.92

$12.80
$14.91

$13.55

$18.92 $19.05

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Performance summary

356,010

206,235

33,988

1.38m

Documents 
lodged

Aerial imagery
captured

km2

Lots created

Valuations 
completed
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Performance summary 

Average cost of co-ordinating the SLICP per request for capture Average cost per gigabyte of information delivered by SLIP 

Requests by agencies for data capture through the State Land Information 
Capture Program (now known as Capture WA)
The 2014/15 actual average cost of $4,233 for coordinating SLICP 
requests for capture was significantly lower than the target of $10,041 
due to an increase in capture requests received, together with reduced 
overhead costs associated with delivering the program.  

Coordinating the capture and delivery of government location information

Information delivered by Shared Location Information Platform (SLIP)
The 2014/15 actual average cost per gigabyte of information delivered 
through SLIP of $1,117 was slightly lower than the target of $1,160. This 
was due to an increase in the information delivered through SLIP during 
the year, which offset an increase in costs associated with supporting and 
maintaining the SLIP service.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  Performance summary

2012 20122013 20132014 20142015 
Actual

2015 
Actual

2015 
Target

2015 
Target

$8,924

$933

$1,487

$6,834 $987

$10,644

$4,233

$1,117 $1,160

$10,041
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Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Signif icant 
achievements
Our customers and stakeholders –
enhancing value

Landgate is committed to the ongoing delivery of core public 
services and anticipating future demands and requirements. To 
ensure this takes place, the authority is innovatively transforming 
business systems and processes to deliver better services 
and improve efficiency. This allows capital and resources to be 
redirected to fulfil new business opportunities and needs. 
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Signif icant 
achievements

e-Conveyancing

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value

On 25 May 2015, Landgate achieved a major milestone when its National 
Electronic Conveyancing System Implementation Project enabled transfers, 
caveats and withdrawal of caveats to join the suite of property transactions 
already available. Mortgages and discharge of mortgages were able to be 
lodged through the PEXA system in June 2014.

This marked the beginning of full functionality of electronic conveyancing in 
Western Australia with steady growth expected over the coming years. All 
members of the conveyancing industry can now access the new system.
  
e-Conveyancing will revolutionise the state’s property industry and help to 
fulfil the Council of Australian Government’s objective to achieve a ‘seamless 
national economy’. 

It has reduced timeframes and improved the conveyancing process and 
productivity, as well as realising significant financial benefits to the state.

For people selling property, funds are now usually in their accounts within an 
hour of settlement. There are also fewer delays associated with settlements, 
as e-conveyancing reduces red tape associated with the land transaction 
process. 

The estimated savings associated with e-conveyancing from 2011 to 2028  
is expected to represent a financial benefit to Western Australia of about  
$80 million.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Electronic conveyancing allows for online property transactions
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Signif icant 
achievements

Strata Titles Act reform

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

Landgate is continuing to lead proposed reforms to Western Australia’s 
Strata Titles Act 1985. The reforms, expected to be legislated by the end 
of 2016, will ensure the state has a modern legislative and regulatory 
environment to better meet its future needs, particularly in light of population 
growth. 

The Strata Titles Act 1985 is the primary legislation that facilitates the 
subdivision of land into strata scheme developments. Significant changes 
in the property market have taken place since the law was last amended 
in 1996. In particular, as the use of smaller lot size continues, there is an 
increased demand for strata lots as a preferred development option. 

Extensive work was completed to refine the scope of the reform proposals 
to tenure, strata management, terminations, vendor disclosures and dispute 
resolution. This work was consolidated into a consultation paper released for 
public comment from October 2014 to February 2015.   

The feedback was predominantly positive and constructive and was used 
to further refine the reform proposals. A draft submission is underway 
requesting permission to draft the bill. This will be provided to Cabinet by the 
end of 2015. 

Strata titling is suitable for residential, commercial and industrial land use. It 
has gained acceptance in new and historic building renovation schemes and 
rural and resort developments. 

These reforms will also consider the level and effectiveness of disclosure 
regimes. It is envisaged they will provide more flexible staged development 
procedures and layered schemes developments. These will allow multiple 
schemes in one building so that different uses can be managed. 

The reforms will also provide benefits to residents and home owners, 
offering more affordable and liveable housing options and improved dispute 
resolution procedures. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Strata Titles Act reforms will prepare WA for future growth
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Image: Aurora showing potential impact of active bushfires on 
communities and infrastructure, south-east of Kununurra

Signif icant 
achievements

Location Information Strategy (LIS) for WA 

Aurora
Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

Landgate continues to successfully lead the implementation of the state’s 
$23 million LIS.

The strategy, which is carried out in collaboration with the Western Australian 
Land Information System (WALIS) community, enables and leverages location 
information to make planning and decision-making more timely and cost 
effective for government.

The key objective of the LIS, which commenced in 2012, is to minimise 
duplication so that location information is only collected once and is readily 
available to support government functions.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Aurora, the state’s bushfire spread simulation tool, won the Premier’s 
Award in the Revitalising the Regions category in November 2014. 
Aurora combines simulation technology developed by the University 
of Western Australia with Landgate’s FireWatch fire monitoring 
program to simulate the direction, intensity and rate of bushfire 
spread in near real-time. This provides the Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services (DFES) with an improved capability in 
responding to bushfires and advising regional communities of the 
potential impacts of active bushfires on life and property.
 
Landgate played an important role in the emergency planning for 
the Northcliffe and Lower Hotham bushfires in February 2015 by 
modifying the system to allow it to produce five-day fire-spread 
simulations. This allowed DFES to view the fire-spread predictions 
as hourly impact isochrones, providing critical information to assist  
in emergency decision-making.
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Signif icant 
achievements

State Location Information Platform (SLIP)

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

The new SLIP underpins the delivery of the LIS by enhancing the features of 
the previous platform to make access easier for all users. 

Providing this single source of location information and avoiding costs 
associated with duplication across government has led to savings of more 
than $8 million between 2012 to 2014. 

During the year a number of new services for imagery, local government and 
the land development industry were launched.

SLIP also underpinned the development of new and innovative business 
solutions such as the South West Native Title Settlement for the Department 
of Lands and the State Agreements and Major Projects Locator application 
for the Department of State Development. 

In early 2015, Google announced that the content management system 
for the new SLIP (Google Maps Engine) will no longer be supported as of 
January 2016. This has impacted the timeframe for the completion of the 
redeveloped SLIP program. Landgate is investigating alternative options for 
a SLIP platform and the project has been extended by 12 months to allow 
for an update to the system.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

SLIP is part of the State Government’s Location 
Information Strategy, delivered by Landgate
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(Image courtesy of Port Hedland Port Authority)

Signif icant 
achievements
Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

Port Hedland imagery delivered through Capture WA

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Capture WA Regional and Urban Scenario Planning 

The Capture WA program looks at the future location information needs of 
the state by delivering a coordinated approach to the capture of updated 
location information across Western Australia.

In 2014/15 a third round of high resolution aerial imagery for priority regional 
sites and updated high resolution satellite imagery was completed. The 
number of agencies participating in the program increased from 35 to 43 
and the number of shared requests also increased from 450 to over 500 
projects.

The implementation of a scenario planning capability in Western Australia’s 
planning framework was delayed until late 2014 due to funding negotiations 
between Landgate, the Department of Planning, Treasury and the 
Department of Regional Development. The 2014/15 funding was transferred 
to the Department of Planning. 

Progress has been made with Department of Planning to improve datasets 
required for scenario planning. The Department of Transport has also made 
significant progress by publishing priority datasets to the new SLIP, including 
a complete inventory of coastal infrastructure for Western Australia. 
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Signif icant 
achievements

Benefits study Location and Innovation Hub

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive

A study has found that the LIS has delivered up to $12 million worth of 
benefits across the public and private sectors. This work will continue in 
2015/16 and benefits are expected to increase further as more agencies 
take advantage of the new SLIP’s capabilities and services.

The outcomes of this study will be used to form a proposal for the business 
case for the next stage of the LIS. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

“Together, we make opportunities 
to connect, ideate and create to 

improve the way we use, develop 
and deliver location-based 

technologies”

A key component of the state’s LIS is Landgate’s commitment to creating a 
Location and Innovation Hub for Western Australia. 

The role of the hub is to provide the leadership and supporting structures 
to derive greater value from existing location and innovation technology 
capabilities in the state and capitalise on emerging opportunities. 

Following extensive research into other location and innovation hub-like 
entities around the globe, we have developed a blueprint to guide the 
implementation process. Formal implementation of the hub structure is 
planned for 2015/16. 
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Signif icant 
achievements

Amendment to the Valuation of Land Act 1978  

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Preparing Western Australia for the future

The Valuation of Land Amendment Act 2015 was approved by Cabinet 
in February 2015 and will come into effect on 1 July 2015. The act was 
amended to reflect changes to the definition of ‘unimproved value’ leading to 
a fairer and more consistent rating system. 

The amendment was driven by the tiered annual rents and fees charged 
by the Department of Minerals and Petroleum for minerals, petroleum and 
geothermal exploration licences and permits. This had caused distortions 
amongst the unimproved values assessed for rating purposes. 

Fairness and consistency have been restored to the unimproved values on 
the valuation roll, providing a more stable basis for determining rates. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Image: Max Robinson (Mortgage Settlements Australia) with 
Landgate Customer Service Officers Clare Molloy and George 

Dickinson at the first release of Landgate’s New Land Registry

New land registry system

The first release of Landgate’s New Land Registry platform went 
live on 15 June 2015. Part of the authority’s broader Transform 
program, the new platform supports Landgate’s goal to accelerate 
change through technology. Established on Landgate’s new 
cloud IT infrastructure, the platform will facilitate future delivery 
of various land registry services, including enhanced titling and 
plan management. The full rollout of this platform is scheduled for 
August 2015 to accommodate Landgate’s peak business periods.
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Signif icant 
achievements

New corporate website

Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Looking ahead: creating a more customer centric Landgate

Landgate launched its exciting new corporate website in March 2015. 

The website was designed in consultation with customers and features a 
fresh new look, easier navigation and improved functionality.  

It can be used with desktop, tablet and mobile devices and has intuitive 
online search tools to help users find content faster. Landgate still offers the 
same high-quality products, services and information. They are now available 
in a more user-friendly format. 

Landgate’s new website offers a more accessible service

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive

“Landgate will continue to build 
on past successes and lay the 
foundations for a prosperous 

future. The authority continues to 
deliver for customers today, while 
developing tomorrow’s business.”
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Signif icant 
achievements
Our customers and stakeholders – enhancing value
Looking ahead: creating a more customer centric Landgate

In 2014/15 Landgate assisted almost 209,000 phone customers

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  customers and stakeholders  -  enhancing value

Contact centre telephone system Customer Relationship Management 

Landgate’s customers can now enjoy an improved customer experience 
following the implementation of a new cloud-based telephone platform, 
known as AMCOM Cloud Collaboration.

The new system enables call flow management, call recording and 
appropriate routing of customer calls. Key performance measures 
show customer calls are already being answered faster and there is a 
reduction in call abandonment rates. 

Landgate has an ongoing commitment to improving customer relationships. 
As part of this commitment, the authority recently implemented a new 
Customer Relationship Management system for high value customer service 
and sales areas. 

Known as the CRM solution, it will become Landgate’s consolidated 
source of customer information. Over time it will deliver key benefits such 
as improved customer satisfaction, reduced customer effort and a more 
effective and efficient service. 
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Signif icant 
achievements
Our business improvement –
building our future

Landgate’s business improvement program, known as Transform, 
will generate greater efficiencies and new business prospects. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  business improvement  –  bui ld ing our  future
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Transform – improving our business

Transform is Landgate’s business improvement program which drives 
the authority’s reform activities. Initiated in 2014, Transform involves 
implementing a series of improvements to ensure Landgate can deliver 
optimal value to its customers and shareholders.  

Over the past 12 months, Transform has predominantly focused on system, 
process and workforce reforms across key parts of the organisation. 

Transform also included a refresh of Landgate’s values, which were officially 
launched during the year. The new values will help build a high performance 
culture by defining how Landgate as an organisation, and its people, interact 
with customers, partners and colleagues. 

Detailed operating model reviews were also undertaken to identify 
improvements across a number of business areas. These resulted in new 
roles and structures for approximately 20 per cent of Landgate’s workforce. 

Efficiencies were also realised through a voluntary severance process. 
Importantly, new specialised capabilities were introduced for Landgate’s 
customer, people and culture and portfolio management functions. 
Collectively, these functions will drive greater customer focus, people 
performance and return on capital investment. 

Another focus of Landgate’s business improvement program is the Know 
Your Customer program. As part of this program, foundation work for 
research into Landgate’s customer segments was completed, enabling 
a more detailed understanding of customer needs to support the newly 
implemented Customer Relationship Management system. 

Signif icant 
achievements
Our business improvement – building our future

Landgate’s Perth office
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Signif icant 
achievements

Transform – improving the registrations process

Our business improvement – building our future

Registrations reform focuses on replacing legacy systems and associated 
business process improvement, as part of Landgate’s transition to a new IT 
environment. 

During the year, significant progress was made in developing a new land 
registry system to replace the current ageing technology.  This system 
will enable the manual registrations process for simple transactions to be 
automated, providing faster turnaround times for our customers. 

The first release of Landgate’s new land registry system went live on  
15 June 2015, with the first paper transaction successfully lodged, 
electronically examined and registered.
 

Established on Landgate’s cloud IT infrastructure, the system will allow for 
future delivery of various land registry services, including enhanced titling and 
plan management.  
 
The full rollout of these title services is scheduled for August 2015 to 
accommodate Landgate’s peak business periods. Landgate is also 
investigating opportunities to leverage the system for use in other markets, 
following the rollout of national e-conveyancing.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  business improvement  –  bui ld ing our  future

Landgate is in the process of converting paper documents 
into a digital format as part of its Transform program
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Signif icant achievements
Our business improvement – building our future

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  business improvement  –  bui ld ing our  future

Pricing reform e-Valuation trial 

A recipient of Landgate’s Innovation of the Year Award, the e-Valuation trial 
significantly reduced the reliance on paper and improved work processes. 

The trial used mobile and cloud technology and new software for field-based 
valuation activities to improve the capture of property information.

The trial also improved the accuracy of data entry and reduced turnaround 
times by remotely accessing and transferring data. 

As a result of the review of the Land Information Authority Act 2006 
conducted in 2012, Landgate has modernised its pricing framework. 

The Land Legislation Amendment Act 2015 and the Land Legislation 
Amendment (Taxing) Act 2015 were gazetted on 2 June 2015 to facilitate 
important reforms to Landgate’s pricing of regulated products and services.  

These reforms will deliver fee certainty to consumers and provide a more 
sustainable and less volatile funding source by reducing the impact of 
property market fluctuations on Landgate.

They will also allow Landgate to use efficiency savings to:   

• reduce the real cost of services to customers by limiting increases to 
regulated fees to the Consumer Price Index

• improve systems and services

• pay an increased dividend and a higher national tax equivalent to the 
state to support government expenditure in other areas

• invest in capital works programs or strategies under Landgate’s Strategic 
Development Plan.
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Signif icant 
achievements
Our strategic alliances, 
partnerships and innovation – 
developing tomorrow’s business

Landgate is a world-leader in the management and use of 
location information and technology. The authority has an 
ongoing commitment to explore opportunities for further 
innovation and collaboration, locally and internationally, through 
business partnerships and alliances that harness Landgate’s 
unique resources, skills and knowledge.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  strategic  a l l iances, partnerships and innovat ion –  developing tomorrow’s business
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Signif icant 
achievements
Our strategic alliances, partnerships and 
innovation – developing tomorrow’s business

Landgate’s Innovation team

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  strategic  a l l iances, partnerships and innovat ion –  developing tomorrow’s business

Innovation Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information

Landgate is a leader and key supporter of innovation, research and 
development across the Western Australian public sector and an active 
member of the Western Australian Public Sector Joint Innovation Working 
Group. 

The Innovation team ran an extremely successful communications and 
engagement program during the last 12 months. One of the highlights was 
Landgate’s Innovation Month. Held in March, it featured a series of information 
sessions for staff.  Special guests were invited to speak and run workshops 
about creative thinking and mindfulness. Almost half of Landgate employees 
attended an Innovation Month event. 

The Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information (CRCSI) is 
Landgate’s main vehicle for coordinating spatial research and development. 
Linked to the authority’s Innovation Program and led by the Business 
Development team, the key objective of the CRCSI is to investigate 
commercial opportunities. 

Landgate is currently exploring the opportunities presented by agricultural 
research through the Biomass Business project. 

Landgate’s Innovation Program has been strategically positioned to act as a 
conduit to transfer knowledge and technology between CRCSI researchers 
and Landgate staff. For example, an innovation project is currently underway 
to determine how new tools for automated feature extraction from imagery 
can be integrated into the authority’s business process to deliver improved 
efficiencies. The authority is making good progress towards creating an 
environment where research and innovation form the core of how we do 
business.
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Signif icant 
achievements

Sharing knowledge locally and internationally

Our strategic alliances, partnerships and 
innovation – developing tomorrow’s business

Landgate’s reputation as a leader in the development of innovative land 
information solutions and delivery of quality professional training programs is 
demonstrated by its high success rate in winning funding from federal grants 
programs.

During the year, Landgate was awarded funding from the Department of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade for the delivery of three Australia Awards Fellowship 
programs. These programs aim to build capability and foster linkages with 
our developing neighbours in Asia and Africa.  

Landgate shared its location information expertise with more than 30 land 
administration professionals originating from Bhutan, Cambodia, Lesotho, 
Nepal and the Philippines. 

Landgate was delighted to host its first all-female fellowship from Nepal, 
Cambodia and Bhutan, who work in the land information sector in their 
respective countries.

Through these programs, Landgate contributes to the improvement of land 
governance in developing nations within the region. 

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  strategic  a l l iances, partnerships and innovat ion –  developing tomorrow’s business

Landgate’s first all-female fellowship 
visiting Parliament House earlier this year
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The use of ipads by Valuers working in regional  
WA has greatly reduced turnaround times

Signif icant 
achievements
Our strategic alliances, partnerships and 
innovation – developing tomorrow’s business

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  strategic  a l l iances, partnerships and innovat ion –  developing tomorrow’s business

HackED Electronic Valuation Requests

Electronic Valuation Requests (EVR) are a great example of successful 
collaboration among government agencies to improve efficiency and client 
satisfaction. The new service, introduced by Landgate and the Office of 
State Revenue, has reduced turnaround times from 15 to five working days 
and also significantly decreased the use of paper.

Every year, Landgate’s Property and Valuation Service provides 
approximately 7,500 valuations to the Office of State Revenue for ‘related 
party’ transfers, such as the sale of property between family members. 
Previously these requests were processed manually and paper documents 
were couriered between the two agencies. This meant documents spent 
more time ‘on the road’ than the time it took to do the actual work. 

The new EVR service has already led to an increase in customer satisfaction 
rates.

During the year Landgate developed a new outreach program called 
HackED, aimed at igniting a passion for location information and technology 
in the next generation of young adults.

HackED will introduce high school students in years seven to 10 to the 
power of location information and technology. It will enable them to use it 
as part of problem-solving at school and everyday decision-making in their 
future workplace.

Developed in collaboration with the public, private, research and education 
sectors in Western Australia, HackED builds on the success of other ‘Hack-
fest’ events supported by the State Government, including GovHack and 
RIIT Unearthed. 
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Bushfire-prone area mapping support

Over the last 12 months, Landgate provided technical support to the Office of 
Bushfire Risk Management to help create and maintain the state’s bushfire-
prone area dataset. Landgate will continue to update sections of the bushfire-
prone area dataset biannually, participate in the five-year review of the dataset 
and ensure it is publically available through SLIP and Landgate’s Property 
Interest Report. 

Australia and New Zealand Land Information Council

Landgate represents the interests of Western Australia at the Australia 
and New Zealand Land Information Council (ANZLIC) and associated 
Intergovernmental Committee on Surveying and Mapping (ICSM). 

Over the last 12 months, ANZLIC and ICSM have been working towards the 
implementation of the Foundation Spatial Data Framework. The framework 
aims to provide a consistent national coverage of the best available, most 
current, authoritative source of spatial data for Australia, to serve the widest 
possible variety of users.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  strategic  a l l iances, partnerships and innovat ion –  developing tomorrow’s business

Signif icant 
achievements
Our strategic alliances, partnerships and 
innovation – developing tomorrow’s business

Multi-skilling our people leads 
to better service for customers

As part of our ongoing commitment to continuous improvement, 
Landgate’s Customer Centre has undergone an organisational and 
technological transformation. Staff receive training across multiple 
disciplines within the agency supported by peer coaching and, 
where appropriate, task-based learning within specific business 
areas such as Registrations. This strategy enables knowledge 
transfer and a recalibration of roles from single-focus specialists to 
multifunction generalists.
 
New customer-focused and predominantly cloud-based 
technology such as Unified Communications, Customer Interaction 
Centre and Customer Relationship Management solutions have 
also been introduced. This ecosystem of people, process and 
technology positions Landgate to be able to adapt more readily to 
customers’ needs today and into the future.
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Signif icant 
achievements
Our people – the reason for  
our success

Investing in our people is critical to support Landgate’s future 
sustainability, achieve its vision and realise its potential. Landgate 
is proud to report that the authority is building a growing 
reputation as an employer of choice.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  people  –  the reason for  our  success
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Signif icant 
achievements

Landgate in the community Leave liability 

Our people – the reason for our success

Landgate hosted a number of events during the year, including the annual 
NAIDOC celebration with the City of Swan. 

The authority also hosted its annual International Women’s Day breakfast, 
attended by representatives from various local businesses, community groups 
and Landgate staff. 

Staff also took part in many community events such as volunteer planting 
at Whiteman Park and the Cancer Council initiatives ‘Daffodil Day’ and the 
‘Biggest Morning Tea’. Casual dress Fridays continued to be well supported 
and raised a significant amount of money which was donated to local 
charities.

Underpinned by our values, Landgate is a place of opportunity 
where our people are at the heart of everything we do.

The annual International Women’s Day  
event supported local charities

Over the last 12 months Landgate has continued its efforts to limit its leave 
liability by actively encouraging staff to take leave to ‘recharge’.  As a result, 
Landgate has maintained its leave liability at $18.9 million. 
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50%
of Landgate’s

are women

management

team
Tier 3

Signif icant achievements
Our people – the reason for our success

Developing our managers

Landgate’s commitment to preparing for the future is evidenced by the 
development of a People Management program which was piloted late in 
the year. 

The program reinforces capabilities required to be an effective manager at 
Landgate. It introduces specific strategies to manage staff through change 
and the ongoing fluctuations of an ever-evolving environment.  

Landgate will be better placed to deliver key business goals by ensuring its 
leaders develop and maintain these important skills.

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  people  –  the reason for  our  success

Underpinned by our values, Landgate is a place of opportunity where our people are at the heart of everything we do.
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Why I like working at Landgate

Operat ional  h ighl ights  -  S igni f icant  achievements . Our  people  –  the reason for  our  success

Signif icant 
achievements

Recruitment review

Our people – the reason for our success

To attract new talent to Landgate, work has been undertaken to improve the 
way the authority markets its career opportunities.  

A ‘Life at Landgate’ video series has been developed, which highlights why 
current staff members enjoy working at Landgate. These videos are available 
to view on the corporate website.

Additional work has also been carried out to automate and streamline 
Landgate’s recruitment processes. 

Underpinned by our values, Landgate is a place of opportunity 
where our people are at the heart of everything we do.

Sarah Davis

“I really enjoy tackling old problems in new ways. Looking 
at better ways to do things is something Landgate always 
encourages. Just because it’s done a certain way for a long 
time doesn’t mean it’s the best way and sometimes just a 
new perspective can really improve, not just the customer 
experience, but also the way that we can do our jobs.”

Image: Senior Customer Service Officer Sarah Davis
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Signi f icant  issues and t rends

Signif icant issues  
and trends
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Government budget measures Property market

A large proportion of Landgate’s revenue is dependent on the activity of an 
often volatile property market. This year, the Western Australian property 
market has been weaker than expected.  

With the softening of the economy and low consumer confidence, the 
outlook for the property market is predicted to remain subdued over the next 
few years.  

Landgate is closely monitoring property market forecasts to ensure it is 
prepared for the future.

Signi f icant  issues and t rends

The Western Australian economy is continuing to transition from its period 
of rapid growth. A weaker domestic economy and recent sharp declines 
in commodity prices are creating softer labour market conditions, slower 
population growth and a reduction in the government’s revenue base.  

In recognition of the challenging fiscal environment, the State Government 
continues to implement a number of corrective measures across the public 
sector that ensure the delivery of key services and achieve cost savings. 

Landgate is supporting the delivery of government reforms by helping 
agencies implement the expanded Government Land Asset Sales program. 
To ensure Landgate is addressing fiscal constraints, the authority will 
continue to implement its business improvement program to deliver 
enhanced productivity. 

Significant issues and trends
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Future workforce Open data 

There is a global trend for government data to be openly accessible at 
little or no cost, easily discoverable, with no restrictions on use, reuse and 
redistribution. 

The State Government approved an Open Data Policy during 2014/15 which 
encourages a consistent approach to open data across the public sector. 
The policy builds on the success of Landgate’s LIS and SLIP in increasing 
access to data.  

Landgate will implement and maintain the policy and develop a plan which 
prioritises the release of high quality, high value data to the community.  
Landgate will also support other agencies in developing their agency-level 
open data policies.

Signi f icant  issues and t rends

Almost half of Landgate’s staff are aged over 50 years, which has the 
potential to lead to a significant loss of corporate knowledge when they 
leave the workforce.

Landgate has commenced succession planning in key areas.  Through 
its business improvement program, Landgate will deliver a knowledge 
management framework and automate business processes. A detailed 
operating model review across the business will also identify opportunities 
for workforce reform, focusing on Landgate’s future resourcing mix to 
optimise the value and performance of the workforce. 

Identifying and capturing intellectual property, business rules and legal 
precedents is fundamental to addressing this issue, as is sourcing the right 
skills and capabilities in the future.  

Significant issues and trends
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National reform agendas Commoditisation of information technology 

Cloud infrastructure for delivering IT service solutions has become 
increasingly popular and will reduce infrastructure and service delivery costs. 

Recognising these costs in the financial statements has the potential to 
impact the authority’s bottom line during transition, as new ‘software as  
a service’ costs are incurred and retiring systems are depreciated or  
written off. 

A ‘greenfields’ reconstruction of Landgate’s core legacy systems is planned, 
which will provide a more flexible, responsive and cost-effective IT platform. 
This approach will ensure Landgate’s future systems environment has 
optimised architecture using ‘as-a-service’ offerings (Cloud). It also supports 
our engagement with PEXA and provides an opportunity for the automation 
and streamlining of business processes. In addition, it will provide the 
platform for future growth opportunities, including the potential consolidation 
of the national land administration environment.

Signi f icant  issues and t rends

The recent introduction of national e-conveyancing through PEXA has 
demonstrated that significant economic benefits are being achieved through 
a collaborative approach to national reform.  

As a result of the PEXA experience, there is an appetite for the convergence 
of land registry systems and processes. e-Conveyancing provides an 
enabler for this reform and Landgate is supporting industry uptake of PEXA 
as a priority. 

Landgate is also monitoring the trend towards a national land administration 
service. It is pro-actively leading innovation and collaboration with the other 
states to support a more harmonised national land administration sector. 

Significant issues and trends
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Private sector partnerships Legislative reform to support government and community priorities

Landgate will continue to lead legislative reform to support government and 
community priorities.  Reform of the Strata Titles Act 1985, for example, will 
provide more affordable, flexible housing options to support the state’s future 
growth.  In addition, it will help make the Western Australian property market 
more attractive to potential investors and developers. 

As part of its legislative reform program, Landgate will identify and prioritise 
a rolling program of work which enables the implementation of broader 
government and industry reforms and supports Landgate’s strategic 
ambitions.

Signi f icant  issues and t rends

Landgate continues to explore opportunities to partner with the private 
sector to provide the authority’s data and services using jointly developed 
technology and intellectual property. 

Through the planned Location and Innovation Hub, Landgate will leverage 
its reputation for cross-agency collaboration and leadership to provide 
an environment which connects the location, technology, education and 
investment sectors.  

The hub will build relationships between government and industry, facilitate 
focused location technology innovation and nurture the development of 
the location technology industry to benefit the State Government and 
community.
 

Significant issues and trends
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Increasing customer expectations

Customers and their expectations are changing. Customers want to access 
services anywhere and at any time. They are informed and empowered. They 
want personalised product and service offerings and options for self service. 
They expect their communications to be monitored and responded to quickly 
and thoroughly.

To improve the customer experience, Landgate has used customer feedback 
to help shape a new website which is more user-friendly for desktop, tablet 
and mobile devices. 

Through its business improvement program, Landgate is also implementing 
a number of initiatives to keep our customers at the heart of everything we 
do.  The Customer Relationship Management system will improve the way we 
engage with our customers. In addition, customer segmentation research is 
underway to better understand customer needs.

Signi f icant  issues and t rends

Significant issues and trends
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Authority overview

Author i ty  overv iew 
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Landgate is the trading name of the Western Australian Land Information 

Authority.  It is a statutory authority with commercial powers established 

under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 and is accountable to the 

Minister for Lands.

Geoffrey Hick, FCA MAICD
Chairman

Roger Hussey, LLB (WA) MA (Oxon) Business (Stanford)
Deputy Chairman

Geoffrey Hick joined the Landgate Board in 2009 and was appointed 
Chair in 2010. He is a Chartered Accountant and a former partner of Grant 
Thornton Chartered Accountants. For more than 40 years, Geoffrey has 
specialised in providing professional business advice to management and 
boards of private and public companies on a range of matters including 
finance, taxation, property development, business planning and strategy. 
He has experience as a board member for companies involved in land 
development, hospitality, franchising, construction, mining and finance.

Roger Hussey joined the Landgate Board in October 2012. Roger’s career 
has focused on business management and commercial activities. He was 
Chair and Chief Executive Officer of Century Holdings Ltd and Chair of 
other ASX companies involved in mining and industrial activities. Roger has 
also been a senior strategy consultant with large international consulting 
firms KPMG and Deloitte, leading large-scale organisational projects for 
government and business clients. Roger has also chaired many government 
and community bodies, such as Princess Margaret Hospital, Telethon Child 
Health Research Institute, Agwest Trade Development, TAB (WA) and the 
Bali Eye Foundation.

Author i ty  overv iew -  Board

Board
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Anne Arnold BEc MAICD Claire Poll, BA BJuris LLB

Anne Arnold joined the Landgate Board in January 2013. Most recently, she 
was Chief Executive of the Real Estate Institute of WA. Previously, she held 
senior positions in a number of private and government organisations. Anne 
has served on various boards and committees and is currently Councillor 
and Deputy Chair at the Heritage Council of Western Australia, a director of 
Southern Cross Care and a member of the State Government’s Affordable 
Housing Round Table. Anne holds a Bachelor of Economics from the 
University of Western Australia.

Karen Gadsby, BComm FCA MAICD

Karen Gadsby joined the Landgate Board in 2011 and is Chair of its Audit 
and Risk Management Committee. She has extensive experience in finance 
and the mining industry. She is Chair of Community First International Ltd, 
Chair of Strategen Environmental Consulting Pty Ltd and a Director for 
Talisman Mining Ltd. Her previous directorships include AMES (Vic), Western 
Health (Vic), GMHBA (Vic) and Perth Home Care Services (WA). Karen has a 
Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Western Australia and qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant with Coopers and Lybrand WA.

Claire Poll joined the Landgate Board in February 2012. She has more than 
20 years’ experience delivering legal and commercial solutions globally 
across a range of industries. Currently, Claire is Corporate Director at Verona 
Pharma plc, a drug discovery and development company listed on the AIM 
stock exchange in the UK. Prior to this, she worked in venture capital and 
headed the corporate development division at Inmarsat Ltd, a global satellite 
communications company. Claire is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and holds a Bachelor of Laws from the University of 
Western Australia and a Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the 
Securities Institute of Australia.

Author i ty  overv iew -  Board

Board
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Paul White, BSc BEng MBA Mike Bradford, BSurv MMngt Stud
Chief ExecutivePaul White joined the Landgate Board in 2009. He has significant expertise 

in information technology, strategic planning, project management and 
the implementation of technology-based solutions. Currently, Paul is Chief 
Executive Officer of The Tailor Made Spirits Company, which produces and 
markets boutique Australian spirits. Paul is also on the board of earthmine 
Australia, which provides services for the collection, processing and delivery 
of 3D street level imagery in the Australian and New Zealand marketplace. 
He graduated from the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor of 
Science in Electrical Engineering (Honours) and Computer Science. He also 
holds a Master of Business Administration from the Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology, Boston, USA.

Mike Bradford was appointed Chief Executive of Landgate in June 2009. 
He has led the transformation of the business, including founding a new 
commercial sales team and the development of a Location Information 
Strategy for Western Australia. Mike has international experience managing 
land information products and services, including topographic map 
production, satellite remote sensing and geographic information systems.  
He is experienced in strategic planning and the management of complex 
information technology projects. He has also been instrumental in several 
cross government initiatives. Mike is Deputy Chair of the Australia New 
Zealand Land Information Council and holds a Bachelor of Surveying Degree 
and a Master in Management Studies (Project Management).

Author i ty  overv iew -  Board

Board
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Jodi Cant, BEc GAICD
General Manager, Business Development

Andrew Fernandez
General Manager, Sales, Marketing & Customer Service

Jodi Cant joined Landgate in 2004 and was appointed the General Manager 
Business Development in October 2009. Previously, Jodi was the Executive 
Director of both Information Access and Business Services. Jodi also 
developed and implemented the Landgate Innovation Program, a first for 
the State Government. Jodi has worked in both the private and not-for-
profit sectors with extensive experience in strategic planning, organisational 
transformation and marketing and communications. Jodi is the Chair of 
earthmine Australia and a Board member of PSMA Australia. She is a 
creative thinker and an effective team builder.  Jodi holds a Bachelor of 
Economics Degree from University of Western Australia, is a Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and a Fellow of Leadership WA.

Andrew Fernandez joined Landgate in August 2012 as General Manager 
Sales, Marketing and Customer Service. Andrew brings to Landgate a 
results-driven, commercial focus that aligns customer satisfaction with 
financial results. Drawing on a wealth of executive management, customer 
service and sales experience from previous roles in the telecommunications, 
information technology and health sectors, Andrew is passionate about 
implementing changes to the way Landgate views and engages with its 
customers, as well as how it takes its offerings to market. Andrew is leading 
his team to deliver greater value to the authority’s customers and raise 
the public profile of Landgate.  Andrew has completed various executive 
programs at the Australian School of Management, Harvard Business 
School and other similar institutions.

Author i ty  overv iew -  Corporate  Execut ive

Corporate 
Executive
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Alison Hodge, MA (Merit), BA, Grad Dip Bus Admin, GAICD
General Manager, Strategy & Reform

Bruce Roberts, BJuris LLB
General Manager, Operations

Alison Hodge joined Landgate in 2013 with more than 20 years of 
progressive strategic and operational experience. During her corporate 
career, she has led diversified sales, marketing and customer teams for large 
global organisations through to entrepreneurial start-ups, and public/private 
partnerships. As a consultant she worked with leading organisations in 
professional services, construction, and owner-managed businesses. Alison 
has a proven ability in designing and implementing actionable strategies 
focused on driving growth.  Skilled at implementing change programs, she 
adopts a practical ‘real life’ approach to ensure program success. She has a 
Master of Arts (with Merit) from the University of Sydney, where she achieved 
first place for her research dissertation, a Bachelor of Arts and a Graduate 
Diploma in Business Administration.

Bruce Roberts joined Landgate in 1993 and, prior to being appointed 
General Manager Operations in December 2011, he held the positions of 
Registrations Branch Manager, Registrar of Titles, Manager Legal Services 
and Deputy Commissioner of Titles.  Bruce has worked on Landgate’s 
major legislative reforms, including the changes to the Transfer of Land Act 
1893 which enabled WA’s digital land title register. He was also instrumental 
in developing the Land Administration Act 1997, which created the single 
title registration system for private and Crown-owned land in WA. He has 
also worked on international projects establishing land title systems in Asia. 
He was the inaugural Chair of the Australian Registrars National Electronic 
Conveyancing Council of Australia. Bruce holds a Bachelor of Laws and 
Bachelor of Jurisprudence.

Author i ty  overv iew -  Corporate  Execut ive

Corporate Executive
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John Wreford, BEng GradDipBus MCom CPA CISA
General Manager, Finance, Information & Legal Services

John Wreford joined Landgate as General Manager Finance, Information 
and Legal Services in 2011.  John’s experience in the private sector in 
accounting, banking, information technology and legal services industries 
has contributed a commercial edge to Landgate’s investment, operational 
and strategic decisions. This has helped Landgate increase profitability and 
productivity in the business, through close attention to cost management 
and resource levels. John holds a Bachelor of Engineering, a Graduate 
Diploma of Business (Professional Accounting) and a Master in Commerce 
(Electronic Commerce) and is currently completing his PhD by research in 
Information Systems. He is a member of CPA Australia (Public Practice), the 
Australian Computer Society and the Information Systems Audit and Control 
Association.

Author i ty  overv iew -  Corporate  Execut ive

Corporate Executive
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Author i ty  overv iew -  Organisat ional  s t ructure

Organisational structure

People & Culture

Policy & Legislation Reform

Strategy & Planning

Business & Finance  
Performance

Strategy & Portfolio Office

Minister for Lands
Hon Terry Redman MLA

Board

Office of the Chief Executive
Mike Bradford

Sales, Marketing &  
Customer Service
Andrew Fernandez

Business Development
Jodi Cant

Finance, Information  
& Legal Services

John Wreford

Operations
Bruce Roberts

Strategy & Reform 
Alison Hodge

Registrations Innovation and Research &  
Development

Property & Valuations

Audit & Risk Management CommitteeSpecial Projects Committee

Audit & Risk Management 

Customer Service

Product Performance Location Knowledge Services

Communications & Marketing

Business & Government Sales Commissioner of Titles

Business Opportunities

Commercial Services

WALIS & LIS Program

SLIP & Interest Enquiry

Sourcing & Procurement

Information Management

Legal Services

Facilities & Record Services

http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Office+of+the+Chief+Executive
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Business+Development
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Finance,%20Information%20and%20Legal%20Services  
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Finance,%20Information%20and%20Legal%20Services  
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Business+Operations
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Strategy+and+Reform
http://smartask.dli.wa.gov.au/group/guest/wiki/-/wiki/SmartAsk/Audit+and+Risk+Management
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Author i ty  overv iew -  Strategic  f ramework

Strategic framework
Government goal:  Social and environmental responsibility

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit fo the state

Landgate outcomes

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are
supported by a land information base and certainty of ownership 

and other interests in land

Land Information
Information about land ownership, land boundaries  
and geographic features is collected, recorded and  

made available for use by government, business and  
the community

Valuations
An impartial valuation and property consultancy service

Access to Government Location Information
Effective access to land and location information can be 

demonstrated by improved data capture, access and 
usability of location information

Secure property rights and land titles register underpins 
property market

Deliver fair, impartial valuations for State and Local 
Government and utilities that underpin the rating and  

taxing system

Detail extent of interest and restrictions affecting use and
enjoyment of private and Crown land

Manage and value property assets on behalf of State and 
Local Government

Location Information Strategy

Shared Location Information Platform

Co-ordinated and expanded State Land Information  
Capture Program

Increase government agencies’ collaboration in location 
information to achieve greater efficiencies and improve  

decision making

Provision and integration of location information  
(maps, surveys, aerial and satellite imagery and property 

sales information) to support decision making

Independent valuations support government’s collection of rates
and taxes and management of property assets

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location 
information

Landgate services
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Strategic framework 
Outcome-based management framework

Landgate directly supported the State Government’s goal of ensuring 
economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of Western Australia by:

• underpinning the effective and efficient operation of the land and 
property market

• supporting the state’s rating and taxing base

• providing access to government location information to support sound 
decision-making by government, industry and the community.

These contributions and their relationships to State Government goals and 
authority outcomes are outlined on the previous page. Further detail about 
Landgate’s contributions to the State Government’s goals and planned 
outcomes are outlined in the Authority Performance and the Disclosures and 
Legal Compliance sections of this annual report.

Shared responsibilities

Landgate is leading the implementation of the LIS in collaboration with the 
WALIS community. WALIS is a dynamic partnership of government agencies 
and businesses and educational institutions, working together to manage 
and promote the state’s geographic information.

State Cabinet approved the LIS in August 2011 and confirmed Landgate’s 
lead role in consolidating and managing the state’s location information asset 
on behalf of government. The collaboration between Landgate and WALIS 
to implement the LIS will:

• support the economic growth of the state by improving the access, use 
and integration of location information

• provide location information to support sound planning and decision 
making for government, industry and the community

• minimise the duplication of resources by collecting location data once 
and using it many times

• reduce infrastructure cost and maintenance for location information, 
resulting in more efficient use of funding across government

• develop the location information industry through partnerships between 
industry and government, rather than direct competition, to provide new 
planning and decision-making support services, Geographic Information 
System (GIS) capabilities, data collection and maintenance services and 
industry development opportunities.

Although Landgate is not directly responsible for the delivery of other 
agencies’ desired outcomes and services, Landgate works collaboratively 
with other agencies to deliver cross-government outcomes and provide 
benefits to government, industry and the community.
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

   
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND INFORMATION AUTHORITY 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Western Australian Land Information Authority at 
30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are those policies and 
procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Western Australian Land Information Authority are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority for the year ended 30 June 2015.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome 
achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance and 
fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on the 
Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked 
to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
11 September 2015 
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Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
4 September 2015    

Murray Smith 

Chief Finance Officer
Western Australian Land Information Authority
4 September 2015    

Caroline de Mori

Chair
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
4 September 2015   The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian Land 

Information Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions 
of the  Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records 
to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015 and the financial position as at 30 June 2015.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which  
would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading 
or inaccurate.

Certification of the

f inancial statements
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note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Income

Revenue 

Provision of services 7 120,587 130,743

Sale of land information, data and imagery 8 8,004 7,594

Commonwealth grants and contributions 9 0 21

Interest revenue 10 2,919 2,194

Other revenue 11 1,022 2,456

Gains

Gain on equity accounted investments 12(a) 9,681 103

Total Income 142,213 143,111

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 13 81,073 75,288

Supplies and services 14 29,304 31,894

Other expenses 15 10,445 8,574

Depreciation and amortisation expense 16 9,791 9,214

Finance costs 17 2,104 2,324

Accommodation expenses 18 4,508 4,526

Impairment loss 33 244 160

Share of losses of associates and joint ventures 12(a) 5,438 0

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 12(b) 3 148

Total Expenses 142,910 132,128

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State 

Government (697) 10,983

note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 19 30,076 28,486

Royalties for Regions fund 20 116 534

Services received free of charge 21 352 611

Total grants and subsidies from State Government 30,544 29,631

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent (expense)/
benefit 29,847 40,614

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit 39 (9,371) (12,632)

Profit/(loss) for the period 20,476 27,982

Other Comprehensive Income

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 38 (4,871) 451

(4,871) 451

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss

Available-for-sale financial assets: 38

     Reclassification adjustment transferred to  
     income statement (9,585) 0

     Income tax on reclassification 2,875 0

(6,710) 0

Total other comprehensive income (11,581) 451

Total comprehensive income for the period 8,895 28,433

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015

See also Note 54 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.
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The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015

note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22 73,988 71,949

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 3,106 1,185

Inventories - maps 18 19

Receivables 24 16,264 26,132

Amounts receivable for services 28 4,072 4,386

Prepayments 29 1,908 2,106

Accrued Interest 30 1,170 907

Total current assets 100,526 106,684

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 23 0 2,525

Amounts receivable for services 28 22,962 22,212

Receivables 24 2,468 1,308

Investments accounted for using equity method 25 33,267 199

Other financial assets 27 0 32,038

Property, plant and equipment 31(a) 57,473 64,423

Intangibles 31(b) 30,508 23,568

Deferred tax assets 39 5,032 3,747

Total non-current assets 151,710 150,020

Total assets 252,236 256,704

note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 34 4,109 5,442

Current tax liabilities 0 5,667

Finance lease 35 3,152 2,902

Provisions 36 15,346 15,558

Other current liabilities 37 4,319 5,153

Total current liabilities 26,926 34,722

Non-current liabilities

Finance Lease 35 20,351 23,503

Provisions 36 3,579 3,326

Total non-current liabilities 23,930 26,829

Total liabilities 50,856 61,551

Net assets 201,380 195,153

Equity 38

Contributed equity 91,395 88,467

Reserves 16,706 28,287

Retained earnings 93,279 78,399

Total equity 201,380 195,153
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2015

note

Contributed 
Equity  
($000)

Reserves
($000)

Retained 
Earnings

($000)
Total Equity

($000)

Balance at 1 July 2013 38 84,619 27,836 54,373 166,828

Profit / (loss) 0 0 27,982 27,982

Other comprehensive income 0 451 0 451

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 451 27,982 28,433

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 2,339 0 0 2,339

   Other contributions by owners 1,544 0 0 1,544

   Distributions to owners (35) 0 (3,956) (3,991)

Total 3,848 0 (3,956) (108)

Balance at 30 June 2014 88,467 28,287 78,399 195,153

Balance at 1 July 2014 38 88,467 28,287 78,399 195,153

Profit / (loss) 0 0 20,476 20,476

Other comprehensive income 0 (11,581) 0 (11,581)

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (11,581) 20,476 8,895

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

   Capital appropriations 220 0 0 220

   Other contributions by owners 3,108 0 0 3,108

   Distributions to owners (400) 0 (5,596) (5,996)

Total 2,928 0 (5,596) (2,668)

Balance at 30 June 2015 91,395 16,706 93,279 201,380

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2015

note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

Inflows 

(Outflows)

Cash Flows from operating activities

Receipts

Provision of services 130,388 123,063

Sale of land information, data and imagery 8,184 7,679

Commonwealth contributions 0 21

Interest received 2,656 1,792

GST receipts on sales 1,376 1,633

GST receipts from taxation authority 3,958 3,830

Other receipts 556 2,272

Payments

Employee benefits (80,165) (75,677)

Supplies and services (30,089) (30,799)

Other expenses (10,257) (11,324)

Accommodation (4,563) (4,881)

Finance costs (2,175) (2,429)

GST payments on purchases (5,690) (5,462)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 40(b) 14,179 9,718

Cash Flows from investing activities

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 0 12

Proceeds from refund of investments 0 1

note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (14,922) (12,322)

Purchase of investments (6,374) 0

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (21,296) (12,309)

Cash Flows from financing activities

Payments

Finance lease payments (2,901) (2,671)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (2,901) (2,671)

Cash Flows from State Government

Service appropriations 25,254 24,212

Royalties for Regions funds 3,224 2,038

Holding account drawdowns 4,386 5,987

Capital appropriations 220 2,339

Taxation equivalents - payments (15,635) (17,684)

Dividends paid (5,596) (3,956)

Net cash transferred to other agencies (400) 0

Net cash provided by State Government 11,453 12,936

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 1,435 7,674

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

period 75,659 67,985

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 40(a) 77,094 75,659

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates.

Although the Authority is required to operate on prudent commercial principles, 
Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements designates the Authority as a not-for-profit entity for purposes 
of compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards.

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by Treasurers Instruction 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2015.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose 
legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take 

precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon 
the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention, except for land and buildings which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ 
discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Authority’s 
accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made 
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Western Australian Land Information Authority.
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(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by 
the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior 
to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction. Where the rendering of services can not be 
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred 
that are expected to be recoverable.

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be 
measured reliably.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which 
the Authority gains control of the appropriated funds. The Authority gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 
See Note 19 for further commentary on service appropriations.

Grants, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in 
which the Authority obtains control over the funds. The Authority obtains control 
of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Authority’s bank account. 
Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were 
obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used 
over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the end of 
the reporting period, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged 
conditions are disclosed in the notes. See Note 20 ‘Royalties for Regions.’

Gains/losses
Realised and unrealised gains/losses are usually recognised on a net basis. These 
include gains/losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non current assets.
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(f) Income tax

The Authority operates within the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) whereby an 
equivalent amount in respect of income tax is payable to the Treasury. The calculation 
of the liability in respect of income tax is governed by NTER guidelines and directions 
approved by Government.

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority is required to comply 
with AASB 112 Income Taxes.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current 
period’s taxable income adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax 
rate expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities settled, based on 
those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted. The relevant tax rates are 
applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to 
measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary 
differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred tax 
asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in 
a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 
did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused 
tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses.

Current and deferred income tax equivalents are recognised in profit or loss, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and when the tax balances 
relate to the same taxation authority.

(g) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements and building costing 
over $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items costing less than $1,000 are expensed in 
the year of acquisition direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total or where 
the asset is capitalised).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building are 
initially recognised at cost.

For items of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for 
the measurement of land and building and the historical cost model for furniture, 
equipment, plant and leasehold improvements. Land is carried at fair value less 
accumulated impairment losses. The building is carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses. Furniture, equipment, 
plant and leasehold improvements are carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to the recent market transactions, where market based 
evidence is available. This is typically the case for land within the Perth metropolitan 
area. Land outside the Perth metropolitan area is valued on the basis of existing 
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(g) Furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold improvements, land and building - cont.

use, where market based evidence is not available. The fair value of the building 
is determined on the basis of market buying values by reference to recent market 
transactions. When the building is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount.

Valuations for land and building are provided annually by the Valuer General and 
will be assessed by the Authority at 30 June each year. Where the valuation differs 
materially from the assets’ carrying value the valuation will be brought to account.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of land and building, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that item is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on 
the revaluation of non-current assets as described in Note 31 ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’.

Depreciation/amortisation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated/
amortised over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits.

Depreciation/amortisation of other assets is calculated on the straight line basis, using 
rates which are reviewed annually.

Estimated useful lives for each class of asset are:

Furniture 11 years

Equipment 5-15 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Plant 15-20 years

Leasehold improvements 8-15 years

Building 50 years

Leasehold improvements under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - 
Leasehold improvements’.

Land is not depreciated.

(h) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquired and internally generated intangible assets costing over $5,000 are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful 
lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of 
the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight 
line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and 
zero residual value.
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(h) Intangible assets - cont.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Service delivery software and related project costs 1-12 years

The value of intangible assets include:

• major computer software packages acquired plus costs associated with 
preparing the software for its intended use; and

• major internally developed software plus the associated development costs.

Intangible assets under development are classified as ‘Works in Progress - Service 
Delivery’.

Research and Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an 
individual project are carried forward when the future economic benefits can 
reasonably be regarded as assured. Other development costs are expensed as 
incurred.

(i) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication 
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount 
is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an 
asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down 
to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where 
there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

See Note 33 ‘Impairment loss’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
See Note 2(r) ‘Receivables’ and Note 24 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

(j) Leases

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement 
of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the 
leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined 
at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and 
vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Authority 
is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, 
according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Landgate Annual  Report  2014/1578

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(k) Joint arrangements

The Authority is engaged in business activities through joint arrangements.

A joint arrangement exists when two or more parties have joint control.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control. Investments in joint arrangements are 
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures, according to the contractual 
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint 
arrangement. The Authority has interests in both joint operations and a joint 
venture.

See Note 26 ‘Interest in joint operations’ and Note 27 ‘Other financial assets’.

Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control have 
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The 
financial statements of the Authority (subject to materiality), includes its share of the 
joint operation’ assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses arising jointly or otherwise.   

See Note 26 ‘Interest in joint operations’.

Joint Ventures
A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are accounted for using the 
equity method.

See Note 2(m) ‘Equity method’ and Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity 
method’.

(l) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Authority has significant influence.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the entity but is not control or joint control.

If the Authority holds 20 percent or more of the voting power of an entity, it is 
presumed to have significant influence, unless it can clearly demonstrate that this 
is not the case.  Significant influence can also arise if the Authority holds less than 
20 percent of the voting power but it can be demonstrated that it has the power 
to participate in the financial and policy decisions of the associate. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method.

Note 2(m) ‘Equity method’ and Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity 
method’.

(m) Equity method

Under the equity method the investment is recorded initially at cost, including the 
value of any goodwill on acquisition. In subsequent periods, the carrying amount of 
the investment is adjusted to reflect the Authority’s share of its post-acquisition profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.  Dividends received from the investee 
reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the carrying amount of the investment is zero after having applied equity 
accounting principles, the Authority discontinues recognising its share of any further 
losses.  If the investee subsequently reports profits, the Authority then recognises 
its share of profits only after its share of profits equals the share of losses not 
recognised.   

After application of the equity method, the value of the investment is assessed for 
impairment to determine if there is objective evidence that an impairment of the 
investment may have occurred.

See Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity method’.
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(n) Financial instruments

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Authority has four categories of financial 
instruments:

• Loans and receivables

• Held-to-maturity investments (term deposits)

• Other financial assets

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets

• Cash and cash equivalents

• Restricted cash and cash equivalents

• Receivables

• Amounts receivable for services

• Other financial assets 

Financial Liabilities

• Payables

• Finance lease liabilities

• Other current liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement 
is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

See Note 2(s) ‘Investments and other financial assets’ and Note 44 ‘Financial 
instruments’.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of six months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts.

(p) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see Note 34 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but 
unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight 
of the financial year end. The Authority considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

(q) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate for each particular class of inventory, with 
the majority being valued at weighted average cost.

(r) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against 
the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) 
is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect 
the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days.

See Note 2(n) ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 24 ‘Receivables’.
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(s) Investments and other financial assets

Investments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale are initially measured 
at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition these investments are measured at fair value 
less impairment. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
are acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.

Fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a 
financial asset is not active (e.g. unlisted securities), the Authority establishes fair value 
using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing.

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

Gains or losses on investments held-for-trading are recognised in profit or loss. Gains 
or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for impairment losses, until the investment is derecognised. At that 
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The Authority assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

(t) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(u) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there 
is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period (see Note 36 ‘Provisions’).

Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee 
benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value 
of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Authority does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period and is measured at the present value of amounts expected 
to be paid recognised when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
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(u) Provisions - cont.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional 
long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Authority has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth 
year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis 
as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can 
leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per 
calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees 
and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement 
and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension 
scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation 
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members 
since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment 
on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Authority 
makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are 
not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by
the Authority to the GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.
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(u) Provisions - cont.

The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities 
for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits 
attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by 
the treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made 
by the Authority to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined 
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the 
concurrently funded GSS obligations.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, 
and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See also Note 2(v) ‘Superannuation expense’.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included 
as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Authority’s ‘Employee 
benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

See Note 15 ‘Other Expenses’ and Note 36 ‘Provisions’.

(v) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises 
of employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the 
GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB 
in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(w) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Authority receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations 
are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable). The 
accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover asset replacement.

See also Note 19 ‘Service appropriation’ and Note 28 ’Amounts receivable for 
services’.

(x) Dividends

Dividends are provided for in the reporting period in which the dividends 
recommended by the Board are accepted by the Minister for Lands, with the 
concurrence of the Treasurer of Western Australia.

(y) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as 
income at the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can 
be reliably measured and the Authority would otherwise pay for. A corresponding 
expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

(z) Foreign currency translation

The Authority accounts for foreign currency transactions in accordance with AASB 
121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. The Authority’s functional 
currency is Australian Dollars (Australia is the primary economic environment in which 
the Authority operates).

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially translated to the functional 
currency using the exchange rates at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the year end exchange rates. All exchange rate differences are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Committed to innovat ing for  the future83

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

2. Summary of significant accounting policies - cont.

(aa) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the 
figures presented in the current financial year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Authority evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Authority has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office 
accommodation. Some of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and 
it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating 
leases.

Investments accounted for using equity method
The Authority currently holds less than 20% equity interest in Property Exchange 
Australia Ltd (PEXA Ltd). Pursuant to the amended Shareholder deed the Authority 
exercised its right to appoint a director to the board. Management have determined 
this in combination with a 15.9% equity interest has lead to significant influence 
over PEXA Ltd. Accordingly, the Authority’s interest in in PEXA Ltd is disclosed in 
accordance with AASB 128 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a  material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s long service 
leave provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and 
assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on the 
Authority.

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which 
a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be 
recognised. There is no financial impact for the Authority at 
reporting date.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number 
of changes to accounting treatments. The adoption of the new 
Standard has no financial impact for the Authority as it does 
not impact accounting for related bodies and the Authority 
has no interests in other entities.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard - cont.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 
131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for 
determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which 
are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the 
parties to the arrangement. There is no financial impact for 
the Authority as the new standard continues to require the 
recognition of the Authority’s share of assets and share of 
liabilities for the unincorporated joint operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure 
requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing 
the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst 
retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the 
preparation of separate financial statements. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a number of clarifications for the 
accounting treatments of changed ownership interest. The 
adoption of this new Standard has no financial impact on the 
Authority.

The Authority has disclosed its interests in Joint Ventures and 
Associates in Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity 
method’.

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), 
removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in 
IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian 
pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the 
general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities 
within the General Government Sector. The Authority will 
be required to disclose additional budgetary information and 
explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted 
amounts, though there is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 
2, 3, 5, 7,101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising 
from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact for the 
Authority.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard - cont.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to 
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the 
offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently 
has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross 
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial Assets

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of 
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in 
circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated 
as a hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a 
central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. 
The Authority does not routinely enter into derivatives or 
hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control 
and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant 
guidance in determining whether a not-for-profit entity controls 
another entity when financial returns are not a key attribute of 
the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact 
in its own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of 
the amended AASB 10.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual 
Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments 

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other 
Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 
in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2014. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to 
Accounting Standards and has no financial impact for the 
Authority. Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the 
Authority contributes to schemes that are either defined 
contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution plans.

Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes 
references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of 
Accounting Standards.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any 
of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may 
impact the Authority. Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard 
is currently 1 January 2018  after being amended 
by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 
2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards. The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2018

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the 
Authority shall apply to report useful information 
to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from a contract with a 
customer. The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 
and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments 
to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard 
has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 
2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Authority has not 
yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the 
application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The 
application date of AASB 9 was subsequently 
deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-
1. The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to 
AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the 
Authority to determine the application or potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Authority establishes Joint Operations in 
pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely 
acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, 
there is no financial impact on application of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2016

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial 
impact for the Authority as depreciation and 
amortisation is not determined by reference 
to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the 
issuance of AASB 15. The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the 
issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The 
Authority has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – 
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 
2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 
9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments in December 2014. The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
[AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and 
consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 
128, to allow entities to use the equity method of 
accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial 
statements. The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2016

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Sale or Contribution of  Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 
10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 
128 to address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 
128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The Authority has not 
yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 
11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of 
International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in 
September 2014, and editorial corrections. 
The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates - cont.

(b) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative - cont.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 
[AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide 
clarification regarding the disclosure requirements 
in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes 
narrow-focus amendments to address some 
of the concerns expressed about existing 
presentation and disclosure requirements and 
to ensure entities are able to use judgement 
when applying a Standard in determining 
what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of 
references to AASB 1031 in all Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
allowing that Standard to effectively be 
withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-
for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 
1049] 

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 
124 to include application by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. Implementation guidance is 
included to assist application of the Standard by 
not-for-profit public sector entities. The Authority 
has not yet determined the application of the 
Standard, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016

(c) Changes in accounting estimates

There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect in the current 
period or is expected to have an effect in future periods.

6. Services of the authority

Information about the Authority’s services and the expenses and revenues which are 
reliably attributable to those services are set out in Note 54 ‘Schedule of income and 
expenses by service’.

The three services of the Authority and their objectives as at 30 June 2015 were:

Service 1: Land Information
Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features is 
collected, recorded and made available for use by government, business and the 
community.

Service 2: Valuations
An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Service 3: Access to Government Location Information
Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by improved 
data capture, access and useability of location information.
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7. Provision of services 

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Land titles management fees

  Search 37,073 39,127

  Transfer 21,959 23,453

  Mortgage 16,224 16,422

  Discharge 15,671 15,689

  Other (plan lodgements, caveats, applications etc.) 13,523 12,808

104,450 107,499

Valuation service fees 14,251 21,381

Electronic advice of sale fee 1,419 1,518

Interest enquiry 467 345

120,587 130,743

8. Sale of land information, data and imagery

Property information and services 2,840 2,621

Land information and services 2,648 2,614

Imagery 1,728 1,723

Consultancy services 788 636

8,004 7,594

9. Commonwealth grants and contributions

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Grants

  National Bushfire Warning System  (a) 0 21

0 21

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, the Authority recognises contributions
as income, when it obtains control over the income (usually when received), 
notwithstanding that there may be restrictions or conditions imposed on the use of 
contributions.

a. National Bushfire Prediction, Detection, Simulation and Early Warning System  
 
The purpose of the project is for the Authority to develop a national system  
that will predict, detect and manage bushfires and provide this information to  
the National Telephone Early Warning System. This project was completed in 
2013-14.  
 
Refer to Note 2(e) ‘Income’. 

10. Interest Revenue

Interest on funds invested in term deposits 2,577 804

Interest on funds invested by the Department of Treasury 342 1,377

Interest on funds held on deposit with the Western Australian 

Treasury Corporation 0 13

2,919 2,194



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Committed to innovat ing for  the future91

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

11. Other revenue

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Project revenue 612 1,250

Recovery of costs 274 766

Other services 68 8

Government Vehicle Scheme 61 58

Sale of maps 7 31

WALIS forum 0 343

1,022 2,456

12 (a). Share of profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures

Gain on equity accounted investments:

Reclassification adjustment of Property Exchange Australia Ltd as 

an associate 9,585 0

Share of earthmine Australia Pty Ltd 2014-15 profit 96 103

9,681 103

Share of Property Exchange Australia Ltd 2014-15 loss (5,438) 0

Total gain on equity accounted investments 4,243 103

Refer to Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity method’

12 (b). Net (gains)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Furniture, office and computer equipment

Cost 863 4,026

Accumulated depreciation (860) (3,866)

Carrying amount of non-current assets 3 160

Less: Proceeds from sale 0 12

Net (gains)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 3 148

13. Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages (a) 64,914 60,361

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 7,536 7,231

Annual leave (b) 5,663 5,214

Long service leave (b) 2,960 2,482

81,073 75,288

a. This includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee. 

b. This includes a superannuation contribution component. 
 
Employment on-costs such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax 
are included at Note 15 ‘Other expenses’. The employment on-costs liability is 
included at Note 36 ‘Provisions’.



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Landgate Annual  Report  2014/1592

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

14. Supplies and services

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Services and contracts - IT 18,907 19,516

Services and contracts - others 8,256 8,421

Consultancy including legal costs 811 641

Travel 631 525

Communications 453 634

Consumables 246 246

Agents commission 0 1,911

29,304 31,894

15. Other expenses

Employee on-costs (a) 4,302 4,044

Compensation 1,390 455

Staff recruitment 1,118 798

Other staffing costs 784 693

Advertising 417 195

Minor purchases 406 302

Insurance 292 236

External customer costs 246 178

Fringe benefits tax 221 224

Board and committee fees 197 198

15. Other expenses - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Bank charges 136 130

Books, magazines, acts and subscriptions 124 162

Grants and subsidies 94 13

Hire charges - furniture 86 268

Membership fees 86 90

Postage 74 84

Printing costs 70 124

Hospitality 8 16

Cost of sales - maps 1 10

Other expenses 393 354

10,445 8,574

a. Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance.
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16. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Depreciation

  Building 1,392 1,392

  Computer equipment 1,075 1,017

  Equipment 177 188

  Plant 81 68

  Furniture 8 8

2,733 2,673

Amortisation

  Service delivery software and related project costs 5,986 5,440

  Leasehold improvements 1,072 1,101

7,058 6,541

Total depreciation and amortisation 9,791 9,214

17. Finance costs

Finance lease charges

  Buildings 2,016 2,228

  Land 88 96

2,104 2,324

18. Accommodation expenses

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Repairs and maintenance 1,377 1,462

Utilities and statutory charges 1,250 1,243

Minor works and alterations 931 319

Lease rentals 537 555

Other accommodation expenses 238 218

Contingent rent - land and buildings 175 729

4,508 4,526

19. Service appropriation

Appropriation revenue received during the reporting period 30,076 28,486

Service appropriations are accrual amounts, reflecting the full cost of services 
delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
(asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises an allocation based on the 
depreciation expense for the reporting period.
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20. Royalties for Regions fund

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Revenue received during the period:

Royalties for Regions funds - Regional Community Services  

Fund (a) (i) 116 174

Royalties for Regions funds - Regional Infrastructure and  

Headworks Fund (a) (ii) 0 360

116 534

a. These funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas. The 
Authority has been funded to provide two projects:

i. WA Location Information Strategy; and

ii. Pilbara Cities Economic Diversification Framework - Enhanced Valuation.

21. Services received free of charge

Services received free of charge have been determined on the 

basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

Department of the Attorney General 179 245

Department of Finance 173 366

352 611

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal 
consideration, the Authority recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the 
assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and 
which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be 
recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

22. Cash and cash equivalents

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Term deposits 55,000 65,000

Operating bank account 18,968 6,929

Cash on hand 20 20

73,988 71,949

23. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

Accrued salaries suspense (a) 2,687 0

Royalties for Regions fund (b) 412 165

Security deposits (c) 7 19

Foreign exchange held on deposit with the Western Australian 

Treasury Corporation (d) 0 1,000

Paid parental leave (e) 0 1

3,106 1,185

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense (a) 0 2,525

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,106 3,710
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23. Restricted cash and cash equivalents - cont.

a. Amount held in the suspense account is only used for the purpose of meeting the 
27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. This payment will occur 
on 30 June 2016. 

b. Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in Western Australian 
regional areas (Refer Note 20 ‘Royalties for Regions fund’).

c. Security deposits received from tenants as rental bond and Value Added 
Resellers guarantee.

d. The Authority engaged the Western Australian Treasury Corporation in 
accordance with Landgate authorisations and the relevant Treasurer’s Instruction 
826 to facilitate a Foreign Exchange which was settled in October 2014.

e. Funds received from the Commonwealth Government for the Paid Parental Leave 
Scheme unpaid at year end.

24. Receivables

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current

Trade debtors (a) 11,412 22,769

Income tax refund receivable 2,185 0

Accrued revenue 1,769 2,435

Goods and services tax 941 974

16,307 26,178

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables (b) 43 46

16,264 26,132

24. Receivables - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Non-current

Accrued revenue 2,468 1,308

2,468 1,308

a. The 2013-14 Trade debtors includes the Gross Rental Value General Metropolitan 
Triennial Program. As 2013-14 was the third and final year of the program it 
attracted the highest level of revenue.

b. Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables:

Balance at the start of the year 46 66

Doubtful debt expense recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income 45 (13)

Amounts written off during the year (48) (7)

Balance at the end of year 43 46

Refer to Note 2(r) ‘Receivables’ and Note 44 ‘Financial instruments’.
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25. Investments accounted for using equity method

Note
2015

($’000)
2014

($’000)

Interest in joint venture (a) 293 199

Interest in associate (b) 32,974 0

33,267 199

a.  Interest in joint venture 
 earthmine Australia Pty Ltd is the only joint venture in which the Authority  
 participates. In 2011-12, the Authority together with Geomatic Technologies and  
 earthmine Incorporated, formed a company called earthmine Australia Pty Ltd,  
 incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. earthmine Australia commenced  
 trading on 1 February 2012 and the principal place of business is Australia. 
 
 The objective of earthmine Australia is to provide Hi-Resolution 3D Street Level  
 Imagery within Australia and New Zealand. The Authority has a 45% ownership  
 interest in earthmine Australia, represented by owning 180,000 fully paid $1  
 ordinary shares. Geomatic Technologies and earthmine Incorporated have  
 ownership interests of 45% and 10% respectively. 
 
 The following table summarises the financial information of earthmine Australia  
 Pty Ltd as included in its own unaudited financial statements. 
 
 The table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying  
 amount of the Authority’s interest in earthmine Australia Pty Ltd. 
 
 The Authority has determined that no adjustments are required for difference in  
 accounting policies.

25. Investments accounted for using equity method - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current assets 837 394

Non-current assets 95 132

Current liabilities (281) (83)

Non-current liabilities 0 0

Net assets (100%) 651 443

The Authority’s share of net assets (45%) 293 199

Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 293 199

Revenue 575 520

Expenses (362) (290)

Profit and total comprehensive income (100%) 213 230

Authority’s share of profit and total comprehensive income (45%) 96 104

Dividends received by Authority 0 0

The following table reconciles the carrying value of earthmine 

Australia Pty Ltd as reported in the Authority’s financial  

statements and the Authority’s share of net assets in earthmine 

Australia Pty Ltd.

Investment held at beginning of financial year 199 96

Share of operating profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments 96 103

Adjustment for prior period expenditure (2) 0

Investment held at end of  financial year 293 199
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25. Investments accounted for using equity method - cont.

b.  Interest in associate 
 Property Exchange Australia Ltd (PEXA Ltd) was classified as an associate  
 during the period and is the only associate of the Authority. 
 
 The Authority currently holds a 15.9% equity interest and pursuant to the   
 amended Shareholder deed, on 18 September 2014, exercised its right to   
 appoint a director to the board of PEXA Ltd. Management have determined this  
 has lead to significant influence over PEXA Ltd even though it holds less than  
 20% of voting rights.  
 
 The objective of the company is to create and operate an efficient, competitive  
 system to settle real property transactions, lodge instruments with Land  
 Registries and pay associated duty and tax obligations electronically. PEXA Ltd   
 operates in Australia and is not  publicly listed. 
 
 Upon becoming an associate, a fair value adjustment of $9.585m (before tax),  
 that was previously recognised in the Authority’s equity and disclosed in other  
 comprehensive income, was transferred to income within the Statement of  
 Comprehensive Income as a reclassification adjustment.  
 
 The following table summarises the latest available financial information of PEXA  
 Ltd as at 30 June 2015. The Authority has determined no adjustments are  
 required due to differences in accounting policies at reporting date. The table  
 also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of  
 the Authority’s interest in PEXA Ltd.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Investments accounted for using equity method - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current assets 20,141 26,249

Non-current assets 68,593 63,888

Current liabilities (5,548) (13,928)

Non-current liabilities (292) (50)

Net assets (100%) 82,894 76,159

The Authority's share of net assets (15.9%) 13,180 0

Goodwill (i) 19,794 0

Carrying amount of interest in associate 32,974 0

Revenue 11,288 1,254

Expenses (45,492) (30,362)

Loss from continuing operations (100%) (34,204) (29,108)

Other comprehensive income (100%) 0 0

Total comprehensive income (100%) (34,204) (29,108)

Authority’s share of profit and total comprehensive income (15.9%) (5,438) 0

Dividends received by authority 0 0

The following table reconciles the carrying value of PEXA Ltd as 

reported in the Authority’s financial statements and the Authority’s 

share of net assets in PEXA Ltd.
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25. Investments accounted for using equity method - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Carrying amount of interest in associate held at beginning of 

financial year 0 0

Classification of PEXA as an Associate (i) 32,038 0

Additional investment in equity accounted investments 6,374 0

Share of operating profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments (5,438) 0

Carrying amount of interest in associate held at end of  financial year 32,974 0

i. Upon PEXA Ltd becoming an associate, the Authority recognised goodwill which 
is included in the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the carrying amount of the investment on the 
Authority’s statement of financial position, and its share of the net fair value of 
PEXA Ltd’s identifiable assets and liabilities. The amortisation of goodwill is not 
permitted.

26. Interest in Joint Operations

Landgate holds interest in the following joint operations. 

Name of Operation Principal Place 
of Business

Principal Activity Ownership 
Interest (%)

Western Australian Satellite 

Technology and Applications 

Consortium – X Band  

Facility (a)

Australia The operation’s use includes: 

acquiring and processing 

data for weather forecasting, 

monitoring environmental 

conditions and technical 

research. 

42.9%

Western Australian Satellite 

Technology and Applications 

Consortium – L Band  

Facility (b) 

Australia The operation’s use includes: 

facilitating the reception 

of earth observation data, 

and to maintain an archive 

of remotely sensed data 

received from various 

satellites.

25%

a. The Authority is required to make annual contributions of $20,000 for the 
operation and maintenance of the Facility. The Facility is managed by a Board in 
accordance with the Agreement that established X Band. The Authority does not 
account for X Band in accordance with AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, because 
this interest is not material. The Authority’s annual contributions are expensed.

b. The Authority is required to make annual contributions of $10,000 for the 
operation and maintenance of the Facility. The Facility is managed by a Board in 
accordance with the Agreement that established L Band. The Authority does not 
account for L Band in accordance with AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, because 
this interest is not material. The Authority’s annual contributions are expensed.
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27. Other financial assets

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Non-current

Investment - Property Exchange Australia Ltd (a) 0 32,038

0 32,038

a. During the period Property Exchange Australia Ltd was classified as an associate. 
Refer to Note 25.

b. The Authority has an investment of one ordinary share in Public Sector Mapping 
Agency (PSMA) Australia Limited, an unlisted public company limited by shares, 
incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. PSMA has 9 shareholders 
being the Commonwealth of Australia and each Australian State and Territory 
Government. Each shareholder holds one fully paid $1 share. 
 
PSMA’s primary purpose is the building of national data sets to which all 
shareholders contribute data at no cost, and its activities are funded from the 
revenues it receives from data licensing, and data supply contracts with third 
parties. Part of this revenue is distributed back to the shareholders at a rate 
determined by the Directors of PSMA. 
 
The Authority represents the Western Australian Government on the Board of 
PSMA. The Authority owns one fully paid $1 share, but does not have control or 
significant influence over the financial and operating policy decisions of PSMA. 
 
This investment is measured at cost because it is an unlisted company, and there 
is no active market in which these type of shares are traded, therefore, fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. 
 
The distribution (royalties) received by the Authority in 2014-15 for the 2013-14 
financial year was $127,564 (2013-14: $131,866). 

27. Other financial assets - cont.  
This revenue is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income under ‘Sale of 
land information, data and imagery’.  
 
Refer to Note 8 ‘Sale of land information, data and imagery’.

28. Amounts receivable for services

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current 4,072 4,386

Non-current 22,962 22,212

27,034 26,598

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is 
restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement. Refer to Note 19 ‘Service 
appropriation’.

29. Prepayments

Information and technology services 1,876 2,047

Other 32 59

1,908 2,106
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30. Accrued interest

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Interest on cash balances invested in Term Deposits 1,102 805

Interest on cash balances invested by the Department of Treasury 68 89

Interest on cash balances held on deposit with the Western 

Australian Treasury Corporation 0 13

1,170 907

31 (a). Property, plant and equipment

Building

Building under finance lease at fair value (a) 34,400 43,500

Accumulated depreciation 0 (2,784)

Total buildings (under finance lease) 34,400 40,716

Land

Land under finance lease at fair value (a) 8,500 8,500

Total Land under finance lease 8,500 8,500

Land reserves at fair value (b) 3,755 3,702

Total land reserves 3,755 3,702

Total land 12,255 12,202

31 (a). Property, plant and equipment - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Furniture, plant and equipment

Furniture at cost 114 114

Accumulated depreciation (82) (74)

32 40

Plant at cost 1,569 1,356

Accumulated depreciation (314) (233)

1,255 1,123

Plant works in progress at cost 0 214

1,255 1,337

Equipment at cost 2,620 2,500

Accumulated depreciation (1,673) (1,527)

947 973

Computer equipment at cost 10,725 10,311

Accumulated depreciation (7,993) (7,747)

2,732 2,564

Total furniture, plant and equipment 4,966 4,914
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31 (a). Property, plant and equipment - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold improvements at cost 14,649 14,154

Accumulated depreciation (9,130) (8,058)

5,519 6,096

Works in progress at cost 333 495

Total leasehold improvements 5,852 6,591

Total furniture, plant, equipment, leasehold improvements, land  

and building 57,473 64,423

a. The Midland building and land under a finance lease were revalued as at 1 July 
2014 by the Authority’s Property and Valuation Services Branch. The valuations 
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30 
June 2015. In undertaking the revaluation, the Midland building fair value was 
determined by reference to market values resulting in a valuation decrement of 
$4.9m.

b. This represents reserves for which the Authority became responsible since 1 July 
2008. Prior to 1 July 2008 these reserves were administered by the Department 
of Lands on behalf of the Crown. 
 
The land reserves were revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Authority’s Property 
and Valuation Services Branch. The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2015 and recognised at 30 June 2015. The fair values of the land 
reserves has been determined by reference to recent market transactions. 
 
Information on land reserves fair value measurements is provided in Note 32.

31 (b). Intangibles

Service delivery software and related project costs

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

At cost 96,969 86,686

Accumulated amortisation (81,812) (75,826)

15,157 10,860

Works in progress at cost 15,351 12,708

Total intangibles 30,508 23,568
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31 (c). Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements, intangibles, land and building at the beginning and end of the 

reporting period are set out below.

2015
Building 

($’000)
Land

($’000)
Furniture

($’000)
Plant

($’000)

Works in 
Progress Plant

($’000)
Equipment

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)

Leasehold
Improvements

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold
Improvements

($’000)

Service
Delivery,

Software and 
Project Costs

($’000)

Works in Progress  
Service Delivery

($’000)
Total

($’000)

Carrying amount at  

1 July 2014
40,716 12,202 40 1,123 214 973 2,564 6,096 495 10,860 12,708 87,991

Additions 0 0 0 214 0 162 1,258 495 344 10,283 12,926 25,682

Transfers (a) 0 0 0 0 (214) 0 0 0 (495) 0 (10,039) (10,748)

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 (1) (2) 0 0 0 0 (3)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

(4,924) 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,871)

Depreciation/amortisation (1,392) 0 (8) (81) 0 (177) (1,075) (1,072) 0 (5,986) 0 (9,791)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (244) (244)

Adjustments 0 0 0 (1) 0 (10) (13) 0 (11) 0 0 (35)

Carrying amount at  

30 June 2015 34,400 12,255 32 1,255 0 947 2,732 5,519 333 15,157 15,351 87,981

a. The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. 
Transfers includes surplus Crown land transferred to the Department of Lands. 
The Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.  
 
Includes expenditure transferred out of work in progress to non-current assets or 
relevant expenditure accounts.
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31 (c). Reconciliations - cont.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements, intangibles, land and building at the beginning and end of the 

reporting period are set out below.

2014
Building 

($’000)
Land

($’000)
Furniture

($’000)
Plant

($’000)

Works in 
Progress Plant

($’000)
Equipment

($’000)

Computer 
Equipment 

($’000)

Leasehold
Improvements

($’000)

Works in 
Progress 

Leasehold
Improvements

($’000)

Service
Delivery,

Software and 
Project Costs

($’000)

Works in Progress  
Service Delivery

($’000)
Total

($’000)

Carrying amount at  

1 July 2013
42,108 11,746 48 1,181 143 917 2,579 6,742 98 9,123 10,161 84,846

Additions 0 40 0 0 71 267 950 455 824 7,219 9,987 19,813

Transfers (a) 0 (35) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (429) 0 (7,059) (7,523)

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 (22) (90) 0 0 (48) 0 (160)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

0 451 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 451

Depreciation/amortisation (1,392) 0 (8) (68) 0 (188) (1,017) (1,101) 0 (5,440) 0 (9,214)

Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (160) (160)

Adjustments 0 0 0 10 0 (1) 142 0 2 6 (221) (62)

Carrying amount at  

30 June 2014 40,716 12,202 40 1,123 214 973 2,564 6,096 495 10,860 12,708 87,991

a. The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. 
Transfers includes surplus Crown land transferred to the Department of Lands for 
sale. The Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.  
 
Includes expenditure transferred out of work in progress to non-current assets or 
relevant expenditure accounts.
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32. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value(a):

2015
Level 1
($’000)

Level 2
($’000)

Level 3
($’000)

Fair value at the 
end of period

($’000)

Land reserves (Refer to Note 31) 0 257 3,498 3,755

0 257 3,498 3,755

During the period land reserves with a fair value of $34,950 (2014: $26,300 ) have 
been transferred from level 2 to level 3, due to land valuation changing from market 
value to current use. There was no change in prior periods.

2014
Level 1
($’000)

Level 2
($’000)

Level 3
($’000)

Fair value at the 
end of period

($’000)

Land reserves (Refer to Note 31) 0 283 3,419 3,702

0 283 3,419 3,702

a. For financial instruments revalued at fair value refer to Note 44 ‘Financial 
instruments’.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values:

Level 2 fair values of land reserves are derived using the market approach. Market 
based evidence of sales prices of comparable land in close proximity is used to 
determine price per square metre.

32. Fair value measurements - cont.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Land reserves

Fair value at start of period 3,419 2,838

Additions 0 39

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other 

Comprehensive Income 44 583

Transfers from Level 2 35 0

Disposals 0 (41)

Fair value at end of period 3,498 3,419

Valuation process

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to 
assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s Instructions 
require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 inputs on a 
recurring basis.

The Authority does not currently hold any specialised buildings or infrastructure 
assets.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market 
evidence of sales of comparable land that is unrestricted less restoration costs to 
return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land), or, 
comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted  
use land).
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32. Fair value measurements - cont.

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Authority are derived and evaluated as follows:

Selection of land with restricted utility

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence 
for land with low level utility.  Relevant comparators of land with low level utility are 
selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Land

Description Fair Value 2015 ($’000) Fair Value 2014 ($’000) Valuation technique 

Land reserves 3,498 3,419 Market Approach

Unobservable input

Range of unobservable 
inputs (weighted 
average) 2015 

Range of unobservable 
inputs (weighted 
average) 2014 

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Selection of land with 

similar approximate 

utility

$0.01 - $23 per m2 

($1.42 per m2)

$0.01 - $25 per m2 

($1.48 per m2)

Higher value of 

similar land increases 

estimated fair value

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances is provided in Note 31.

Basis of Valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the restricted nature of land 
reserves, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on a cost 
approach. The cost approach recognises that restrictions have been placed on 
their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. 
These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific 
community service.

33. Impairment loss

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

In accordance with the AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the 

Authority has reviewed its assets for impairment, including items 

in work-in progress as at 30 June 2015, and this impairment loss 

is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 244 160

The impaired assets were intangibles (software), recognised 
in work-in-progress, and therefore not yet available for use. 
It is considered that further development and completion 
of the software would not generate future economic 
benefits to the Authority. There were no other indications 
of impairment of furniture, equipment, plant, leasehold 
improvements, intangible, land and building assets at  
30 June 2015.

34. Payables

Accrued salaries 2,162 1,866

Accrued expenses 1,715 3,125

Trade payables 232 451

4,109 5,442
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35. Finance lease

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 131 121

   Building 3,021 2,781

Total current 3,152 2,902

Non-current

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 848 979

   Building 19,503 22,524

Total non-current 20,351 23,503

The land associated with the building is owned by the State Government of Western 
Australia and leased to a private sector entity until 14 March 2021. The private sector 
entity owns the building and has leased it to the Authority until 14 March 2021 after 
which ownership passes to the Government. In the event of default, the estimated 
value of the remaining lease payment becomes due and payable to the private sector 
entity.

36. Provisions

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current

Employee benefits provision (a)

   Annual leave (b) 4,673 4,255

   Long service leave (c) 9,851 10,465

14,524 14,720

Employee on-costs provision (d) 822 838

Total current provisions 15,346 15,558

Non-current

Employee benefits provision (a)

   Long service leave (c) 3,386 3,146

3,386 3,146

Employee on-costs provision (d) 193 180

Total non-current provisions 3,579 3,326

a. Employee benefits as at 30 June 2015 includes $1.55m in respect of employer 
superannuation contributions (2014: $1.64m).
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36. Provisions - cont.

b. Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,809 3,450

More than 12 months after the end of reporting period 768 703

4,577 4,153

c. Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of reporting period 3,240 3,467

More than 12 months after the end of reporting period 9,997 10,144

13,237 13,611

36. Provisions - cont.

d. The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the 
payment of employment on-costs including workers compensation insurance. 
The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense is included at Note 15 ‘Other expenses’.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of the reporting period 1,018 1,055

   Additional provisions recognised 528 460

   Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (531) (497)

Carrying amount at the end of reporting period 1,015 1,018

37. Other current liabilities

Unearned project revenue 2,127 2,069

Electronic advice of sales administration 1,173 1,251

Service revenue received in advance 217 980

Payroll tax 339 321

Other liabilities 463 532

4,319 5,153
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38. Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of the community. 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority. The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of 

non-current assets.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 88,467 84,619

   Contributions by owners

      Capital appropriations (a) 220 2,339

   Other contributions by owners

      Royalties for Regions fund - Regional Infrastructure and  

      Headwork Fund (a) 3,108 1,504

      Land reserves transferred from the Department of Lands to  

      the Authority (b) 0 40

   Distributions to owners

      Capital contribution - Royalties for Regions (c) (400) 0

      Land reserves transferred out to other agencies now  

      responsible for those reserves (b) 0 (35)

Balance at the end of period 91,395 88,467

a. The amounts received represent funding towards the Western Australian Location 
Information Strategy. Also refer Note 20 ‘Royalties for Regions fund’

b. Refer Note 31 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

c. Transfer of Royalties for Regions capital contribution to Department of Planning 
for the development of the Location Information Strategy - Regional and Urban 
Scenario Planning project.

38. Equity - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of period 28,287 27,836

   Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

      Land reserves 53 451

      Building under finance lease (4,924) 0

      Recognition of Property Exchange Australia Ltd as an  

      associate (a) (9,585) 0

      Deferred tax asset (b) 2,875 0

Balance at the end of period 16,706 28,287

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on 
the revaluation of non-current assets as described in accounting policy Note 2(g).

a. Refer Note 25 ‘Investments accounted for using equity method’ for further details.

b. Refer Note 39 ‘Taxation equivalent’ for further details.

Retained earnings

Balance at the start of period 78,399 54,373

Result for the period 20,476 27,982

Dividend disbursement (5,596) (3,956)

Balance at the end of period 93,279 78,399

Total equity 201,380 195,153



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Committed to innovat ing for  the future109

39. Taxation equivalent

The Western Australian Land Information Authority was included in the National Tax 
Equivalents Regime (NTER) for the first time on 1 January 2007. The NTER requires 
the payment of income tax assuming the Authority is a non-government business.

Major components of income tax expense as at 30 June 2015 are:

(a) Income tax expense

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Current income tax

Current income tax charge 7,808 12,742

Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (27) 0

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,574 (100)

Benefit from previously unrecognised tax loss used to reduce 

deferred tax expense 16 (10)

Total Income tax expense 9,371 12,632

39. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) applicable to accounting profit before 
income tax equivalents at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at the 
Authority’s effective income tax rate for the period ended 30 June 2015 and 

30 June 2014 are as follows:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents 29,847 40,614

   Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 30% 8,955 12,184

   Non-deductible expenses 427 458

   Temporary differences not recognised 16 0

   Adjustments in respect of previous current income tax (27) 0

   Adjustments in respect of previous deferred income tax 0 (10)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 9,371 12,632

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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39. Taxation equivalent - cont.

(c) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Receivables (13) (14) 20 0 7 (14)

Other financial assets 0 (21) 1,278 2,881 1,278 2,860

Property, plant & 

equipment
(2,171) (35,606) 1,298 34,439 (873) (1,167)

Payables (61) (54) 0 0 (61) (54)

Provisions (6,092) (6,071) 708 699 (5,384) (5,372)

Tax (assets) liabilities (8,337) (41,766) 3,304 38,019 (5,033) (3,747)

Set off of tax 3,304 38,019 (3,304) (38,019) 0 0

Net tax (assets) 

liabilities (5,033) (3,747) 0 0 (5,033) (3,747)

39. Taxation equivalent - cont.

Movement in temporary  
differences during the year

Balance
1 July 2014

($’000)

Recognised 
in Income

($’000)

Recognised
in Equity

($’000)

Balance 
30 June 2015

($’000)

Receivables (14) 21 0 7

Other financial assets 2,860 (1,581) 0 1,279

Property, plant & equipment (1,167) 340 0 (827)

Payables (54) (7) 0 (61)

Provisions (5,372) (59) 0 (5,431)

Tax (assets) liabilities (3,747) (1,286) 0 (5,033)

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets.

40. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 22) 73,988 71,949

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see Note 23) 3,106 3,710

77,094 75,659

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Committed to innovat ing for  the future111

40. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

(b)  Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided  

       by/(used in) operating activities

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Profit/(loss) after income tax equivalents 20,476 27,982

Grants and subsidies from State Government (non-operating 

activity) (30,544) (29,631)

Non-cash items:

   Income

   Gain on equity accounted investments (9,681) (103)

   Expenses

   Depreciation and amortisation expense 9,791 9,214

   Income tax equivalent expense 9,371 12,632

   Share of losses of associates and joint ventures 5,438 0

   Services received free of charge 352 611

   Impairment loss 244 160

   Doubtful debts expense 3 20

   Loss on disposal of non-current assets 3 148

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

   Inventories 1 10

   Receivables (a) 11,028 (9,168)

   Prepayments 198 164

   Accrued interest (263) (402)

40. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

   Accounts payable (a) (1,333) (2,637)

   Provisions 41 (423)

   Other liabilities (979) 1,140

   Net GST receipts / (payments) (b) 33 1

   Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) 0 0

   Net cash provided by /(used in) operating activities 14,179 9,718

a. Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of 
GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current 
assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling 
items. 

b. This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 

c. This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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41. Services provided free of charge

During the reporting period the following services in excess of $10,000 were provided 
to other agencies free of charge:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Department of Finance 11,694 11,100

Main Roads Western Australia 4,629 928

Department of Lands 3,300 4,699

Department of Fire and Emergency Services 1,807 920

Horizon Power 1,539 118

Department for Regional Development 1,404 0

Department of Aboriginal Affairs 976 802

Department of Water 929 302

Department of Planning 789 216

Department of Agriculture & Food 736 574

Department of Fisheries 531 178

Western Australia Police Service 505 345

Tourism Western Australia 452 325

Department of Treasury 370 299

Department of Mines & Petroleum 368 197

Department of Parks and Wildlife 298 971

Department of Education 295 226

Fremantle Ports 275 0

Department of Health 272 302

The University of Western Australia 186 378

Department of Transport 154 154

Department of Local Government and Communities 138 0

41. Services provided free of charge - cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Department of the Attorney General 120 152

Public Transport Authority 67 71

Department of Environment & Regulation 60 0

Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions 52 0

Department of Education Services 40 47

Western Australian Electoral Commission 39 27

Department of Training & Workforce Development 31 190

Department for Child Protection and Family Support 26 27

Heritage Council of WA 24 0

Department of the Premier & Cabinet 15 0

Office of the Public Advocate 10 0

Department of Commerce 0 16

Forrest Products Commission 0 151

LandCorp 0 140

32,131 23,855

Resources provided to other agencies which were less than 

$10,000 per agency 28 36

Resources provided free of charge to organisations other than 

departments and statutory authorities: 3,995 3,853

Total resources provided free of charge 36,154 27,744
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42. Commitments

Finance lease commitments

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance 

leases are payable as follows:

   Within 1 year 5,076 5,076

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 20,305 20,305

   Later than 5 years 5,076 10,154

Minimum finance lease payments 30,457 35,535

Less future finance charges (6,954) (9,130)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 23,503 26,405

The present value of finance lease payable is as follows: (a)

   Within 1 year 4,771 4,771

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 15,579 15,579

   Later than 5 years 3,153 6,055

Present value of finance lease liabilities 23,503 26,405

Included in the financial statements as:

Current (Note 35 'Finance lease') 3,152 2,902

Non-current (Note 35 'Finance lease') 20,351 23,503

23,503 26,405

The land associated with the building is owned by the State Government of Western 
Australia and leased to a private sector entity until 14 March 2021. The private sector 
entity owns the building and has leased it to the Authority until 14 March 2021 after 
which ownership passes to the Government.

42. Commitments - cont.

The lease contains an escalation clause under which the minimum lease payments 
are increased by the movement in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) every six months. 
Any excess of lease payments above the minimum lease payments set at the lease 
inception in September 1993 is deemed contingent rent and is expensed each year. 
(Refer Note 18 ‘Accommodation expenses’).

In September 2013 the lease payments (minimum lease payments plus contingent 
rent) was reset to an equivalent market rent. Any excess of the lease payments above 
the minimum lease payments set at the lease inception will continue to be accounted 
for as contingent rent. The new lease payments will then increase by the movement in 
the CPI every 6 months until the lease expires.

Apart from the September 2013 reset of lease payments, the lease has a “ratchet 
clause” that prevents the lease payments from falling.

In the event of payment default, the remaining lease payments become due and 
payable.

The finance lease does not impose restrictions on Landgate’s financial operations 
such as dividends, debt or further leasing.
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42. Commitments - cont.

The commitments below are inclusive of GST - Non-cancellable operating 
lease commitments

These commitments are in respect of non-cancellable operating leases contracted for 
at the end of the reporting period date but not recognised as liabilities. These leases 
include office accommodation, office equipment and motor vehicles.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Within 1 year 723 895

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 901 1,296

Later than 5 years 317 512

1,941 2,703

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional 
to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1,148 473

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0

Later than 5 years 0 0

1,148 473

42. Commitments - cont.

Other expenditure commitments

These expenditure commitments relate to general administration expenses including 
IT services, software licensing and maintenance, photographic services and building 
maintenance, and are payable as follows:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Within 1 year 27,872 32,959

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 19,116 40,567

Later than 5 years 0 0

46,988 73,526

43. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers

(a) Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall 
within the following bands are:

2015 2014

30,001-40,000 4 4

40,001-50,000 1 1

50,001-60,000 1 1

320,001-330,000 0 1*

330,001-340,000 1* 0

7 7

* Includes the Chief Executive who is a senior officer and a member of the 
accountable authority.
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43. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers -  
      cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Base remuneration and superannuation 515 517

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 17 8

Other benefits 19 19

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 551 544

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority 
in respect of members of the accountable authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

(b) Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the
accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2015 2014

         0-10,000 1 0

60,001-70,000 0 1

110,001-120,000 0 1

160,001-170,000 0 1

180,001-190,000 0 1

190,001-200,000 2 1

200,001-210,000 2 2

210,001-220,000 1 0

6 7

43. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers -  
      cont.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Base remuneration and superannuation 994 1,089

Annual leave and long service leave accruals (34) (10)

Other benefits 58 58

The total remuneration of senior officers 1,018 1,137

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority 
in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

44. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, investments, amounts receivable for services, 
payables, finance lease liabilities and other current liabilities. The Authority has limited 
exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses 
on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting 
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to 
each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those 
assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note 44(c) 
‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and Note 24 ‘Receivables’.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Landgate Annual  Report  2014/15116

44. Financial instruments - cont.

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies - cont.

The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad 
debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Overdue customer accounts are regularly reviewed, and credit may be suspended 
until the account is brought up to date. Where it is economic to do so, the Authority 
refers large unpaid debts to a debt collection agent for further action, including legal 
proceedings.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence 
such as observable data indicating changes in client credit ratings. For financial 
assets that are either past due or impaired, see Note 44(c) ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal 
course of business.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including 
drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that 
sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

44. Financial instruments - cont.

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies - cont.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments.

The Authority’s trading in foreign currency is minimal. The Authority is exposed to 
interest rate risk primarily on cash and cash equivalents. There are no borrowings or 
Treasurer’s advance other than finance leases (fixed interest).

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that 
represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.
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44. Financial instruments - cont.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 73,988 71,949

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,106 3,710

Amounts receivables for services 27,034 26,598

Receivables (i) 17,791 26,466

Other investments (ii) 0 32,038

121,919 160,761

Financial liabilities

Payables 4,109 5,442

Finance lease liabilities

   Land 979 1,100

   Building 22,524 25,305

Other current liabilities 4,319 5,153

31,931 37,000

i. The amount of receivables excludes GST receivable from the ATO.

ii. During the period Property Exchange Australia Ltd was classified as an associate. 
Refer to note 25.

44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the 
ageing analysis of financial assets. The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown 
below.

The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired 
and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior 
management of the Authority.

The Authority holds collateral in the form of bank guarantees and cash deposits in 
respect of some customers to mitigate the risk of these customers being unable to 
pay their accounts when due - the total value of collateral held is $2.34m
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44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Past due but not impaired

Carrying Amount
($’000)

Not past due and 
not impaired

($’000)
Up to 1 month

($’000)
1-3 months

($’000)
3 months to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)
More than 5 years

($’000)
Impaired financial 

assets ($’000)

2015 Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 73,988 73,988

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,106 3,106

Receivables (a) 17,791 17,361 192 227 10 1 0 0

Other investments (b) 0 0

Amounts receivable for services 27,034 27,034

121,919 121,489 192 227 10 1 0 0

Past due but not impaired

Carrying Amount
($’000)

Not past due and 
not impaired

($’000)
Up to 1 month

($’000)
1-3 months

($’000)
3 months to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)
More than 5 years

($’000)
Impaired financial 

assets ($’000)

2014 Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 71,949 71,949

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,710 3,710

Receivables (a) 26,466 25,831 255 300 79 1 0 0

Other investments (b) 32,038 32,038

Amounts receivable for services 26,598 26,598

160,761 160,126 255 300 79 1 0 0

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

b. During the period Property Exchange Australia Ltd was classified as an associate. Refer to Note 25.

Credit Risk - cont.
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44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section 
includes interest and principal cash flows. 

The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2015
Weighted Average 

Effective Interest Rate %

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Fixed 
interest rate

($’000)

Variable 
interest rate 

($’000)

Non-Interest
bearing
($’000)

Nominal  
Amount
($’000)

Up to 1 month
($’000)

1-3 months
($’000)

3 months   
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More than  
5 years
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3.15  73,988  55,000  18,968  20  75,784  19,056  26,955  29,773 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3.15  3,106  3,106  3,106  3,106 

Receivables (a)  17,791  17,791  17,791  15,323  2,468 

Other investments (b) 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services  27,034  27,034  27,034  450  600  3,022  22,962 

 121,919 55,000 22,074 44,845 123,715 37,935 27,555 32,795 25,430 0

Financial liabilities

Payables  4,109  4,109  4,109  4,109 

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land  8.46  979  979  1,268 0  106  106  845  211 

   Buildings  8.46  22,524  22,524  29,189 0  2,432  2,432  19,460  4,865 

Other liabilities  4,319  4,319  4,319  4,319 

 31,931 23,503 8,428 38,885 8,428 2,538 2,538 20,305 5,076

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

b. During the period Property Exchange Australia Ltd was classified as an associate. Refer to Note 25.
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44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure - cont.

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2014
Weighted Average 

Effective Interest Rate %

Carrying 
Amount
($’000)

Fixed 
interest rate

($’000)

Variable 
interest rate 

($’000)

Non-Interest
bearing
($’000)

Nominal  
Amount
($’000)

Up to 1 month
($’000)

1-3 months
($’000)

3 months   
to 1 year

($’000)
1-5 years

($’000)

More than  
5 years
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3.01  71,949  65,000  6,929  20  72,997  6,949  66,048 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3.01  3,710  3,710  3,723  3,723 

Receivables (a)  26,466  26,466  26,466  25,158  1,308 

Other investments (b)  32,038 32,038 32,038  32,038

Amounts receivable for services  26,598  26,598  26,598  507  1,014  2,865  22,212 

 160,761 65,000  10,639 85,122 161,822 36,337  67,062  2,865  23,520 32,038

Financial liabilities

Payables  5,442  5,442  5,442  5,442 

Finance lease liabilities 

   Land  8.46  1,100  1,100  1,479 0  106  106  845  422 

   Buildings  8.46  25,305  25,305  34,054 0  2,432  2,432  19,460  9,730 

Other liabilities  5,153  5,153  5,153  5,153 

 37,000  26,405  10,595  46,128  10,595  2,538  2,538  20,305  10,152 

a. The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

b. During the period Property Exchange Australia Ltd was classified as an associate. Refer to Note 25.
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44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the 
Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the 
profit/(loss) for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed 
that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-1% After Tax +1% After Tax

2015

 Carrying 
 amount 

($’000)
 Profit 

($’000)
 Equity 
($’000)

 Profit 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 73,988 (518) (518) 518 518

Restricted cash and cash  
equivalents

3,106 (22) (22) 22 22

Total increase / (decrease) 77,094 (540) (540) 540 540

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 71,929 (504) (504) 504 504

Restricted cash and cash  
equivalents

3,710 (26) (26) 26 26

Total increase / (decrease) 75,639 (530) (530) 530 530

44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Fair value hierarchy
The Authority uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value 
of financial instruments:

i. Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

ii. Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; or

iii. Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The following table shows the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities according to 
the valuation hierarchy.

2015
Level 1
($’000)

Level 2
($’000)

Level 3
($’000)

Total
($’000)

Other investments 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

2014

Other investments 0 0 32,038 32,038

Total 0 0 32,038 32,038

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015



Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Financia l  s tatements

Landgate Annual  Report  2014/15122

44. Financial instruments - cont.

(c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Fair value hierarchy - cont.

Level 3 financial assets and liabilities:

The following table shows the movements in the Authority’s Level 3 assets and 
liabilities.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Level 3 Financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 32,038 32,039

   Additions 6,374 0

   Adjustments refund 0 (1)

   Unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in the Statement of  

   Comprehensive Income (5,438) 0

   Classification of investment as an associate (32,974) 0

Balance at the end of the financial year 0 32,038

During the reporting period the Authority classified the investment held in Property 
Exchange Australia Ltd as an associate. Refer to note 25.

Valuation process:

There were no changes in valuation technique during the period.

Transfer in and out of fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers between the three 
hierarchy levels are determined according to the criteria of each of the three levels.

The carrying amounts of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities are calculated using 
appropriate valuation models, including discounted cash flow modelling and the most 
recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable willing parties. 

44. Financial instruments - cont.

c) Financial instrument disclosures - cont.

Fair value hierarchy - cont.

Valuation process: - cont.

The following table shows a Level 3 financial assets and liabilities, and the effect on 
profit/(loss) and equity, at the end of the reporting period, based on a reasonably 
possible change to the most relevant risk variable (share price), with all other variables 
constant.

-10% After Tax +10% After Tax

2015

 Carrying 
 amount 

($’000)
 Profit 

($’000)
 Equity 
($’000)

 Profit 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Other investments (i) 0 0 0 0 0

Total increase / (decrease) 0 0 0 0

-10% After Tax +10% After Tax

2014

 Carrying 
 amount 

($’000)
 Profit (ii) 

($’000)
 Equity 
($’000)

 Profit (ii) 
($’000)

 Equity 
($’000)

Financial Assets

Other investments 32,038 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

Total increase / (decrease) 0 (2,243) 0 2,243

i. During the reporting period the Authority classified the investment held in Property 
Exchange Australia Ltd as an associate. Refer to Note 25. 

ii. The effect on profit is zero in the 2013-14 financial year because it is included in 
Other Comprehensive Income.
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45. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Authority has 
the following contingent liabilities:

i. The Authority has pending or potential litigation that may affect the financial 
position to the value of $1,367,319.

ii. There is potential for Copyright Agency Limited and/or individual surveyors to 
claim against the State of Western Australia and/or the Authority in respect of:

a. copying surveyors’ plans for public use; and

b. the Authority’s use of plans to create products and services following the 
decision of the Federal Court of Australia in Copyright Agency Limited v State 
of New South Wales [2007] FCAFC 80 (5 June 2007) and the decision of the 
High Court of Australia in Copyright Agency Limited v State of New South 
Wales [2008] HCA 35 (6 August 2008).

Litigation has currently ceased and Copyright Agency Limited is negotiating with the 
States the rate of payment to be made for publication of surveyors’ plans. This may 
include an amount for retrospectivity which is unquantified.

Contingent assets
In addition to the assets incorporated in the financial statements, the Authority has 
one contingent asset in relation to a counterclaim reported in (i) above for the value  
of $1,750,000.

46. Intellectual property

The Authority’s intellectual property consists of software; data; records created and 
processes developed by the Authority as a result of its activity and transactions; 
publications; products; trade marks and know-how; in the categories listed below. At 
the end of the reporting period the intellectual property cannot be reliably measured, 
and accordingly has not been recognised as an asset in the financial statements. 
Moreover, AASB 138 ‘Intangible Assets’ does not allow internally generated brands, 
mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance to be 
recognised as assets in the financial statements:

1. Aerial Photography 
A collection of images and mosaics of Western Australia collected from 1948.

2. Spatial Cadastral Database 
Includes information about land parcel boundaries (including freehold and crown 
lots),  lodged cadastral boundaries, control marks, easements, surveyed mining 
tenement and administrative boundaries.

3. Geodetic Survey Marks Database 
Information and metadata about the state’s geodetic survey marks including 
three  dimensional coordinates that provide the common geographic reference 
framework for the state’s spatial data sets.

4. GEONOMA Database 
Place, feature and road name information for Western Australia, including 
position, origin, meaning and classification of names.

5. Authority’s Branding and Ownership 
Various registered trade marks, business names, internet domain names and 
unregistered trade mark rights.

6. Mapping Products 
Copyright, design, artwork and “know how” related to mapping products and 
publications (digital and analogue, including internet design).
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46. Intellectual property - cont.

7. Application and Web Services 
Copyright in the software code for various application and web services and 
the associated documents and process maps used for their specification and 
description (including for key applications as SmartPlan and SmartRegister).

8. Tenure
* Tenure Systems - systems containing descriptions of how land is held, e.g. 

freehold or reserve.

* Title and Document Images and hardcopy - digital and historical hard copies 
of titles, surveys and documents that are held in a central location.

9. Topographic Database/Geodatabase 
Repository of all geographic land information stored in terms of relief, cultural, 
transport, road centreline, hydrography, coastlines and points of interest.

10. Satellite Imagery 
Digital datasets of satellite value-added images maintained in a catalogue archive.

11. Native Title Database 
Spatial data depicting external boundaries of Native Title Applications and 
Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs).

12. Thematic Databases 
Data fundamentally used in the preparation of thematic mapping products.

13. Land and Property Improvements Database 
A repository that contains a description of the physical characteristics of land and 
improvements to land.

14. Land Valuations Database 
A database of current and previous values determined by the Valuer General.

15. Property Sales and Rentals Database 
A repository of historical sales and rental information integrated with land and 
property descriptions.

16. Computer Assisted Valuation Methodology 
A suite of integrated software that assists with the mass appraisal of values.

17. Work Management System Database 
A suite of software that provides the recording and allocation of human resources 
across services.

18. Property/Valuation GIS 
Integrated spatial and textual data displayed via a customised suite of software.

19. Customer Information 
A collection of lists and databases that make up the Authority’s information, 
location data, commercial activity and interactions.

20. TRIM Database 
A register of the Authority’s hard copy records, and storage of digital copies of 
surveys and related documents.

21. Property Street Address Database 
A database of current property street address details and geocodes of all 
property in Western Australia.

22. Soil Grade Classification Sketches 
Analogue Soil Classification Sketches for agricultural land throughout Western 
Australia used for rating valuations.

23. Algorithms and Techniques 
Confidential customised and novel algorithms and techniques for work 
processes, assessments, and analysis to generate, depict and manipulate land 
and  auxiliary information, digital geographic information, valuation and property 
information (including such tools and methodology to automate the thematic 
presentation of data).

24. The Innovation Forum Database 
The Innovation Forum database of material (text and drawings) around 
opportunities or issues related to the location information domain, and associated 
markets.
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46. Intellectual property - cont.

25. Licences 
Copyright in the compilation and design or a suite of licences to disseminate the 
Authority’s products and services.

26. Publications 
Copyright in the imagery, design and compilation of the Authority’s key 
documentation, including its reports, policies, frameworks, guidelines and 
manuals.

27. Marketing material and collateral 
Includes the copyright in marketing created photography, imagery, newsletters 
and videos.

28. Training 
Copyright in developed modules and training presentations.

29. State Capture and Advice Register (SCAR) 
An application  to manage the State Land Information Capture Program (SLICP) 
program. 

30. Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP) 
Software, applications (DUET and WFS Translator), custom scripts, data 
dictionaries and custodian instruction manuals.

31. Patent Application for a System and Method for Multi-Tenanted Land Tenure 
Registration 
Software, system design and methodologies for a cloud based multi-tenanted 
land registration platform.

47. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

In July 2015 PEXA Ltd issued a further $45m in shares at $3.15 per share, in a 
Further Tertiary Stage Funding.  The share issue was over-subscribed and completed 
on 23 July 2015. The Authority applied for additional shares but was advised on 5 
August 2015 that it had received no allocation.

As a result of the share issue, the Authority’s shareholding in PEXA Ltd has been 
diluted to 13.64% (from 15.9%), and in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, this has resulted in the Authority benefiting by $1.23m through 
a “gain on dilution” which is measured as the difference between the carrying 
amounts of the PEXA Ltd investment on the Authority’s Statement of Financial 
Position immediately before and after the share issue.

The “gain on dilution” will be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
and the carrying amount of the investment in PEXA Ltd will be increased by $1.23m in 
the Statement of Financial Position in 2015-16.

48. Remuneration of auditor

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of 

the audit for the current financial year. 160 158

49. Affiliated body

The Land Surveyors’ Licensing Board is an affiliated body in 
that it received administrative support of $160,580 and a grant 
of $14,070 from the Authority. The Board is not subject to the 
operational control of the Authority and reports to Parliament 
separately. 175 147
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50. Supplementary financial information

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

(a) Write offs

   Bad debts and public property Approved by Accountable  

   Authority 49 7

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

   Losses of public monies and public and other property through  

   theft or default 4 2

   Amount recovered 1 2

3 0

(c) Gifts of public property 2 0

Gifts of public property provided by the Authority 2 2

51. Special purpose accounts

Special Purpose Account section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management Act 2006.

Payroll deductions
The purpose of the special purpose account is to hold income tax instalments 
deducted from salaries and wages of employees of Landgate Payroll.

Balance at the start of the year 0 0

   Receipts 17,106 15,006

   Payments (17,106) (15,006)

Balance at the end of the year 0 0

52. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement

The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories is recouped from the 
Commonwealth Government.

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Balance at the start of the year 61 28

   Receipts 136 56

   Payments (114) (23)

Balance at the end of the year 83 61
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53. Explanatory Statement

This statement provides details of any significant variations between budget and 
actual results for 2015 and between the actual results for 2014 and 2015.
Major variances are considered to be those greater than 10% or $10 million.

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Income

Revenue

Provision of services A 123,417 120,587 130,743 (2,830) (10,156)

Sale of land information, 
data and imagery

1 9,450 8,004 7,594 (1,446) 410

Commonwealth grants 
and contributions

B 0 0 21 0 (21)

Interest revenue C 2,744 2,919 2,194 175 725

Other revenue 2,D 1,981 1,022 2,456 (959) (1,434)

Gains

Gain on equity accounted 

investments 3,E 0 9,681 103 9,681 9,578

Total income 137,592 142,213 143,111 4,621 (898)

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Expenses

Employee benefits 
expense 81,140 81,073 75,288 (67) 5,785

Supplies and services 30,592 29,304 31,894 (1,288) (2,590)

Other expenses 4,F 8,789 10,445 8,574 1,656 1,871

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense

5 13,333 9,791 9,214 (3,542) 577

Finance costs 2,113 2,104 2,324 (9) (220)

Accommodation 
expenses 6 5,287 4,508 4,526 (779) (18)

Impairment loss 7,G 0 244 160 244 84

Share of losses of 
associates and joint 
ventures 8,H 0 5,438 0 5,438 5,438

Loss on disposal of 
non-current assets

9,I 0 3 148 3 (145)

Total expenses 141,254 142,910 132,128 1,656 10,782
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Profit/(loss) before grants 
and subsidies from State 
Government

(3,662) (697) 10,983 2,965 (11,680)

Grants and subsidies from 
State Government

Service appropriation 28,721 30,076 28,486 1,355 1,590

Royalties for Regions fund 10,J 179 116 534 (63) (418)

Services received free  
of charge

11,K 665 352 611 (313) (259)

Total grants and subsidies 
from State Government

29,565 30,544 29,631 979 913

Profit/(loss) before income 
tax equivalent (expense)/
benefit 25,903 29,847 40,614 3,944 (10,767)

Income tax equivalent 
(expense)/benefit 12,L (7,592) (9,371) (12,632) (1,779) 3,261

Profit/(loss) for the period 18,311 20,476 27,982 2,165 (7,506)

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(a) Statement of Comprehensive Income - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Other comprehensive 
income

Items not reclassified 
subsequently to profit  
or loss

Changes in asset 
revaluation surplus 13,M 2,814 (4,871) 451 (7,685) (5,322)

2,814 (4,871) 451 (7,685) (5,322)

Items that will be 
reclassified subsequently  
to profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial 
assets:

   Reclassification  
   adjustment transferred   
   to income statement 14,N 0 (9,585) 0 (9,585) (9,585)

   Income tax on  
   reclassification 15,O 0 2,875 0 2,875 2,875

0 (6,710) 0 (6,710) (6,710)

Total other comprehensive 
income

2,814 (11,581) 451 (14,395) (12,032)

Total comprehensive income 
for the period 21,125 8,895 28,433 (12,230) (19,538)
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(b) Statement of Financial Position

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents 16 91,737 73,988 71,949 (17,749) 2,039

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

17,P 18 3,106 1,185 3,088 1,921

Inventories - maps 18 30 18 19 (12) (1)

Receivables 19,Q 11,471 16,264 26,132 4,793 (9,868)

Amounts receivable for 
services 4,110 4,072 4,386 (38) (314)

Prepayments 20 2,385 1,908 2,106 (477) (198)

Accrued Interest 21,R 505 1,170 907 665 263

Total current assets 110,256 100,526 106,684 (9,730) (6,158)

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(b) Statement of Financial Position - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 22,S 2,635 0 2,525 (2,635) (2,525)

Amounts receivable for 

services 22,924 22,962 22,212 38 750

Receivables 23,T 3,582 2,468 1,308 (1,114) 1,160

Investments accounted 
for using equity method

24,U 0 33,267 199 33,267 33,068

Other financial assets 25,V 32,135 0 32,038 (32,135) (32,038)

Property, plant and 
equipment 26,W 71,555 57,473 64,423 (14,082) (6,950)

Intangibles 27,X 25,190 30,508 23,568 5,318 6,940

Deferred tax assets 28,Y 3,637 5,032 3,747 1,395 1,285

Total non-current assets 161,658 151,710 150,020 (9,948) 1,690

Total assets 271,914 252,236 256,704 (19,678) (4,468)
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(b) Statement of Financial Position - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Payables 29,Z 9,724 4,109 5,442 (5,615) (1,333)

Current tax liabilities 30,AA 7,592 0 5,667 (7,592) (5,667)

Finance lease 3,152 3,152 2,902 0 250

Provisions 13,952 15,346 15,558 1,394 (212)

Other current liabilities AB 4,111 4,319 5,153 208 (834)

Total current liabilities 38,531 26,926 34,722 (11,605) (7,796)

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance Lease AC 19,590 20,351 23,503 761 (3,152)

Provisions 31 4,107 3,579 3,326 (528) 253

Total non-current liabilities 23,697 23,930 26,829 233 (2,899)

Total liabilities 62,228 50,856 61,551 (11,372) (10,695)

Net assets 209,686 201,380 195,153 (8,306) 6,227

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(b) Statement of Financial Position - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Equity

Contributed equity 90,690 91,395 88,467 705 2,928

Reserves 32,AD 33,425 16,706 28,287 (16,719) (11,581)

Retained earnings 33,AE 85,571 93,279 78,399 7,708 14,880

Total equity 209,686 201,380 195,153 (8,306) 6,227
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(c) Statement of Cash Flows

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Cash Flows from operating 
activities

Receipts

Provision of services 129,376 130,388 123,063 1,012 7,325

Sale of land information, 
data and imagery

34 9,450 8,184 7,679 (1,266) 505

Commonwealth 
contributions

AF 0 0 21 0 (21)

Interest received AG 2,744 2,656 1,792 (88) 864

GST receipts on sales 35,AH 1,674 1,376 1,633 (298) (257)

GST receipts from 
taxation authority 3,906 3,958 3,830 52 128

Other receipts 36,AI 1,981 556 2,272 (1,425) (1,716)

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(c) Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Payments

Employee benefits (80,809) (80,165) (75,677) 644 (4,488)

Supplies and services (30,329) (30,089) (30,799) 240 710

Other expenses 37 (8,269) (10,257) (11,324) (1,988) 1,067

Accommodation 38 (5,287) (4,563) (4,881) 724 318

Finance costs AJ (2,113) (2,175) (2,429) (62) 254

GST payments on 
purchases (5,580) (5,690) (5,462) (110) (228)

Net cash provided by /  
(used in) operating activities 16,744 14,179 9,718 (2,565) 4,461
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(c) Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Cash Flows from investing 
activities

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of 
non-current physical 
assets AK 0 0 12 0 (12)

Proceeds from refund of 
investments

AL 0 0 1 0 (1)

Payments

Purchase of non-current 
assets AM (15,214) (14,922) (12,322) 292 (2,600)

Purchase of investments 39,AN 0 (6,374) 0 (6,374) (6,374)

Net cash provided by / 
(used in) investing activities (15,214) (21,296) (12,309) (6,082) (8,987)

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(c) Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Cash Flows from financing 
activities

Payments

Finance lease payments (2,902) (2,901) (2,671) 1 (230)

Net cash provided by /  
(used in) financing activities (2,902) (2,901) (2,671) 1 (230)
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(c) Statement of Cash Flows - cont.

Note

Original 
Budget 

2015
($’000)

Actual 
2015

($’000)

Actual 
2014

($’000)

Variance
between 
original
budget 

and 
actual

($’000)

Variance
between

actual 
results

2015 and 
2014

($’000)

Cash Flows from State 
Government

Service appropriations 23,899 25,254 24,212 1,355 1,042

Royalties for Regions funds 40,AO 3,837 3,224 2,038 (613) 1,186

Holding account 
drawdowns

AP 4,386 4,386 5,987 0 (1,601)

Capital appropriations AQ 220 220 2,339 0 (2,119)

Taxation equivalents - 
payments 41,AR (8,442) (15,635) (17,684) (7,193) 2,049

Dividends paid 42,AS (4,086) (5,596) (3,956) (1,510) (1,640)

Net cash transferred to/
from other agencies 43,AT (2,072) (400) 0 1,672 (400)

Net cash provided by  
State Government 17,742 11,453 12,936 (6,289) (1,483)

Net increase / (decrease) 
in cash and cash 
equivalents 16,370 1,435 7,674 (14,935) (6,239)

Cash and cash 
equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 78,020 75,659 67,985 (2,361) 7,674

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at the end of the Period 94,390 77,094 75,659 (17,296) 1,435

53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes

(i) Variances between original budget and actual

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015

1. Sale of land information, data and imagery 
Sale of land information, data and imagery is less than budget as a result of the 
lower than expected activity for land information and services including map sales 
and data.

2. Other revenue 
Other revenue is lower than budget as a result of the lower than expected 
revenue received for project related activities.

3. Gain on equity accounted investments 
Gain on equity accounted investment was not budgeted. This is due to the 
reclassification of the Authority’s equity interest in Property Exchange Australia 
(PEXA) Ltd  as an associate during the period. The fair value of the Authority’s 
equity interest previously disclosed in other comprehensive income, was 
transferred to the income statement as a reclassification adjustment.

4. Other expenses 
Other expenses exceed budget mainly as a result of the settlement of a 
compensation claim pursuant to Section 210 of the Transfer of Land Act 1893.

5. Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Depreciation expense is lower than budget as a result of some capital works 
projects not being completed as planned during 2015 and as a consequence of 
some assets reaching the end of their useful lives. 

6. Accommodation expenses 
Accommodation expenses are less than budget as a result of the lower than 
expected contingent rent on the Midland building and land finance lease.
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(i) Variances between original budget and actual - cont.

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015 - cont.

7. Impairment loss 
Impairment losses are not budgeted for, however, during the 2015 year there 
were some Works in Progress intangible assets that were impaired on the basis 
of not generating a future economic benefit.

8. Share of losses of associates and joint ventures 
During the year the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd was classified as an 
associate, requiring the Authority to recognise its share of PEXA Ltd’s loss under 
equity accounting. This was not budgeted for.

9. Loss on disposal of non-current assets 
Losses on disposal of non-current assets are not budgeted for, however, a loss 
was realised on the sale of some non-current assets during 2015.

10. Royalties for regions fund 
Funds received from the Royalties for Regions fund from the Department of 
Regional Development are less than budget as a result of a reduction in the 
funding requirements for the Regional and Urban Scenario Planning initiative of 
the Location Information Strategy program.

11. Services received free of charge 
Services received free of charge are lower than budget as a result of less than 
anticipated utilisation of contract and procurement services from the Department 
of Finance and legal advice from the Department of the Attorney General.

12. Income Tax Expense 
Income tax expense is lower than budget due to higher than budgeted taxable 
profits. 
 
 

13. Changes in asset revaluation surplus 
The changes in the asset revaluation surplus is lower than budget as a result of a 
fall in the value of the Midland building as a consequence of the declining market 
rental rates. 

14. Reclassification adjustment transferred to income statement 
This is due to the reclassification of the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd as 
an associate during the period This was previously recognised in the Authority’s 
equity and disclosed in other comprehensive income and is now required to 
be transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a reclassification 
adjustment. This was not budgeted for.

15. Income tax on reclassification 
This reflects the income tax implications on the reclassification adjustment 
transferred to the income statement. This was not budgeted for.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015 

16. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is lower than budget mainly due to the purchase of additional shares in 
PEXA Ltd and higher than anticipated income tax payments.

17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents - current 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents exceed budget as a result of the 
reclassification of accrued salaries to meet the 27th pay due in June 2016, from 
non-current assets to current assets, and unspent funding, that was received 
from the Department of Regional Development for the Location Information 
Strategy.

18. Inventories - maps 
Inventories are less than budget as a result of a lower number of maps and aerial 
photography prints being held in stock.

19. Receivables - current 
Receivables exceeds budget as a result of higher than anticipated June invoice 
activity. 
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(i) Variances between original budget and actual - cont.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015 - cont.

20. Prepayments 
Prepayments are lower than budget as a result of fewer data processing 
contracts being paid in advance of the receipt of services than had been 
anticipated.

21. Accrued Interest 
Accrued interest exceeds budget as a result of the recognition of more than 
expected interest receivable on cash balances in 2015.

22. Restricted cash and cash equivalents - non-current 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents are lower than budget as a result of the 
reclassification of accrued salaries held to meet the 27th pay due in June 2016 
from non-current assets to current assets in 2015. 

23. Receivables - non-current 
Receivables are lower than budget due to the accrued revenue relating to the 
triennial Metropolitan Revaluation Program, being lower than anticipated.

24. Investments accounted for using equity method 
Investments accounted for using equity method was not budgeted. This is due 
to the reclassification of the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd from a financial 
asset to an associate during the period.

25. Other financial assets 
Other financial assets are no longer reported due to the reclassification of the 
Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd from a financial asset to an associate 
during the period. The Authority’s equity interest in earthmine Australia Pty Ltd is 
also reported under Investments accounted for using equity method. 

26. Property, plant and equipment 
The value of property, plant and equipment is lower than budget as a result of the 
revaluation decrement of the Midland building under finance lease.

27. Intangibles 
Intangibles exceed budget as a result of the higher than expected expenditure on 
service delivery software and related project costs and the approval of the Strata 
Titles Act 1985 reform subsequent to the publication of the 2015 budget.

28. Deferred tax asset 
Deferred Tax Asset exceeds budget due to higher than expected temporary 
timing differences between accounting profit and taxable profit.

29. Payables 
Payables are lower than budget as a result of lower than anticipated trade 
payables and accrued expenses.

30. Current tax liabilities 
Current tax liabilities are lower than budget due to a higher than anticipated 
income tax instalments reducing the current tax liability as at 30 June 2015  
to zero.

31. Provisions - non-current 
The provision is lower than budget as a result of the impact of severance 
payments made in 2015 as part of the strategic reform program.

32. Reserves 
Reserves are lower than budget due to the unrealised gain previously recognised 
in respect of equity held in PEXA Ltd, being transferred from the asset revaluation 
surplus to income, as a consequence of PEXA Ltd being recognised as an 
associate (reclassification adjustment) and the related income tax. Additionally 
an adjustment was made to the reserves as a result of the 2015 revaluation 
decrement of the Midland building under a finance lease. 

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(i) Variances between original budget and actual - cont.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015 - cont.

33. Retained earnings 
Retained earnings is higher than budget due to better than expected actual 
results over the last two reporting periods.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2015

34. Sale of land information, data and imagery 
Cash receipts from the sale of land information, data and imagery is less than 
budget as a result of the lower than expected activity for land information and 
services including map sales and data.

35. GST receipts on sales 
GST receipts on sales is less than budget as a direct result of the lower than 
anticipated cash received on the sale of land information.

36. Other receipts 
Other receipts are less than budget as a result of the lower than expected cash 
received for project related activities.

37. Other expenses 
Payments for other expenses exceed budget as a result of the settlement of a 
claim pursuant to Section 210 of the Transfer of Land Act 1893.

38. Accommodation 
Accommodation payments are less than budget as a result of the lower than 
expected Midland land and building finance lease contingent rent due to lower 
than previously forecast market rental rates.

39. Purchase of investments 
Purchase of investments exceeds budget as a result of the purchase of additional 
shares in PEXA Ltd. 
 

40. Royalties for Regions funds 
Funds received from the Royalties for Regions fund from the Department of 
Regional Development are less than budget as a result of a reduction in the 
funding requirements for the Regional and Urban Scenario Planning initiative of 
the Location Information Strategy program.

41. Taxation equivalents - payments 
Taxation equivalents payments exceed budget as a result of higher than 
anticipated income tax instalments including the final instalment from 2014.

42. Dividends paid 
Dividends paid, which are based on prior year profit after tax, exceed budget as a 
result of a better than expected profit in 2014.

43. Net cash transferred to/from other agencies 
Net cash transferred to/from other agencies is significantly lower than budget 
as a result of reduced funding requirements of the Regional and Urban Scenario 
Planning initiative of the Location Information Strategy in the current period.

(ii) Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015

A. Provision of services 
The 2015 year is the first year of the triennial Metropolitan Revaluation Program 
resulting in a lower level of revenue than 2014 which was the third and final 
year of the previous program attracting the highest level of revenue. Land Title 
Management revenue is also lower than 2014 as a result of the continued 
uncertainty in the property market.  

B. Commonwealth grants and contributions 
Commonwealth grants and contributions received were lower than 2014 as a 
result of the final funding being received in 2014 for the National Bushfire Warning 
System which was completed in the previous year.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(ii) Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014 - cont.

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015 - cont.

C. Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is higher than 2014 as a result of the higher interest earned on 
term deposits held with the major banks.

D. Other revenue 
Other revenue is less than 2014 as a result of lower revenue received for project 
related activities and recoups. The 2014 year includes revenue from the WALIS 
forum which was not held in 2015.

E. Gain on equity accounted investments 
Gain on equity accounted investments was due to the reclassification of the 
Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd as an associate during the period. 
The fair value of the Authority’s equity interest previously disclosed in other 
comprehensive income, was transferred to the income statement as a 
reclassification adjustment.

F. Other expenses 
Other expenses are higher than 2014 mainly as a result of the settlement of a 
compensation claim pursuant to Section 210 of the Transfer of Land Act 1893.

G. Impairment loss 
During 2015 the value of Works in Progress intangible assets which met the 
criteria for impairment, on the basis of not generating a future economic benefit, 
was higher than 2014.

H. Share of losses of associates and joint ventures 
During the year the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd was classified as an 
associate, requiring the Authority to recognise its share of PEXA Ltd’s loss under 
equity accounting. 

I. Loss on disposal of non-current assets 
The loss on disposal of non-current assets was less than 2014 as a result of a 
lower value of losses being realised during 2015 on the sale of some non-current 
assets.

J. Royalties for Regions fund 
Royalties for Regions funds are lower than 2014 as a result of the final funding 
being received during 2014 for the Pilbara Cities Economic Diversification 
Framework  Enhanced Valuation program which was completed in the 2014 
financial year.

K. Services received free of charge 
Services received free of charge are lower than 2014 as a result of less contract 
and procurement services received from the Department of Finance and less legal 
advice sought from the Department of the Attorney General.

L. Income tax expense 
Income tax expense is lower than 2014 due to lower taxable profits.

M. Changes in asset revaluation surplus 
The changes in the asset revaluation surplus are lower than 2014 due to the 
revaluation of the Midland building during 2015 which resulted in a fall in the asset 
value as a consequence of the declining market rental rates.

N. Reclassification adjustment transferred to income statement 
This is due to the reclassification of the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd as 
an associate during the period. This was previously recognised in the Authority’s 
equity and disclosed in other comprehensive income and is now required to 
be transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a reclassification 
adjustment. 

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(ii) Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014 - cont.

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015 - cont.

O. Income tax on reclassification 
This is due to the reclassification of the Authority’s equity interest in PEXA Ltd as 
an associate during the period. This reflects the income tax implications on the 
reclassification adjustment transferred to the income statement.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015

P. Restricted cash and cash equivalents - current 
Restricted cash is higher than 2014 as a result of the reclassification of accrued 
salaries, held to meet the 27th pay due in June 2016, from non-current assets to 
current assets.

Q. Receivables - current 
Receivables are lower than 2014 as a result of the cyclical nature of the 
Metropolitan Revaluation Program.  The 2014 year was the third and final year of 
the triennial program when a debtor was raised for valuations undertaken during 
the cycle. Revenue was received in 2015, the first year of the next revenue cycle, 
hence reducing the debtors balance.

R. Accrued Interest 
Accrued interest is higher than 2014 as a result of the additional interest 
receivable on cash balances invested in term deposits.

S. Restricted cash and cash equivalents - non-current 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents non-current are lower than 2014 as a result 
of the reclassification of accrued salaries, held to meet the 27th pay due in June 
2016, from non-current assets to current assets in 2015. 

T. Receivables - non-current 
Receivables is higher than 2014 mainly due to the cyclical nature of the triennial 
Metropolitan Revaluation Program. 

U. Investments accounted for using equity method 
Investments accounted for using equity method are higher than 2014 as a result 
of the adoption of equity accounting for the Authority’s investment in PEXA Ltd, 
classified as an associate.

V. Other financial assets 
Other financial assets are lower than 2014 as a result of the adoption of equity 
accounting for the Authority’s investment in PEXA Ltd and the subsequent 
reclassification from an investment to an associate.

W. Property, plant and equipment 
The value of property, plant and equipment is lower than 2014 as a result of the 
2015 revaluation of the Midland building held under a finance lease which was 
recognised at 30 June 2015.

X. Intangibles 
Intangibles are higher than 2014 as a result of the increased expenditure on 
service delivery software and related project costs including the progressing of 
strategic reform programs.

Y. Deferred tax asset 
Deferred tax asset is higher than 2014 due to an increase in temporary timing 
differences between accounting profit and taxable profit.

Z. Payables 
Payables are lower than 2014 as a result of lower accrued expenses in 2015.

AA. Current tax liabilities 
Current tax liabilities are lower than 2014 due to higher than anticipated income 
tax instalments reducing the current tax liability as at 30 June 2015 to zero.

AB. Other current liabilities 
Other current liabilities are less than 2014 as a result of less revenue received in 
advance from customers for the 2015 financial year.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(ii) Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014 - cont.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015 - cont.

AC. Finance lease - non-current 
Finance lease non-current is lower than 2014 as a result the repayment of the 
Midland land and building finance lease liability.

AD. Reserves 
Reserves are less than 2014 due to the unrealised gain previously recognised in 
respect of equity held in PEXA Ltd, being transferred from the asset revaluation 
surplus to income, as a consequence of PEXA Ltd being recognised as an 
associate (reclassification adjustment) and the related income tax. Additionally 
an adjustment was made to the reserves as a result of the 2015 revaluation 
decrement of the Midland building under a finance lease. 

AE. Retained earnings 
Retained earnings have increased in 2015 mainly as a result of the profit for the 
period.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2015

AF. Commonwealth contributions 
Commonwealth contributions are lower than 2014 as a result of the final funding 
being received in 2014 for the National Bushfire Warning System which was 
completed in the previous financial year.

AG. Interest received 
Interest receipts are higher than 2014 as a result of the higher interest earnt on 
investments held in term deposits with the major banks.

AH. GST receipts on sales 
GST receipts on sales is lower than 2014 as a result of a lower value of sales/
services for items that have GST applied.

AI. Other receipts 
Other receipts are lower than 2014 as a result of lower revenue received for 
project related activities and recoups.

AJ. Finance costs 
Payments for finance costs are lower than 2014 as a result of the continued 
repayment of the Midland land and building lease liability and the subsequent 
reduction in the interest component of the loan.

AK. Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 
Proceeds from the sale of non-current physical assets is less than 2014 as a 
result of no proceeds from the disposal of minor assets being recognised in 2015.

AL. Proceeds from refund of investments 
Proceeds from the refund of investments is lower than 2014 as a result of a 
refund on the PEXA Ltd investment in 2014. 

AM. Purchase of non-current assets 
The purchase of non-current assets is higher than 2014 as a result of progressing 
the strategic reform agenda.

AN. Purchase of investments 
Purchase of investments is higher than 2014 as a result of the purchase of 
additional shares in PEXA Ltd.

AO. Royalties for Regions funds 
Funding received from Royalties for Regions fund is higher than 2014 as a result 
of progressing some components of the Location Information Strategy.

AP. Holding account drawdowns 
Holding account drawdowns are lower than 2014 as a result of the lower capital 
expenditure requirements in 2015.

AQ. Capital appropriations 
Capital appropriations received are significantly lower than 2014 as a result of 
components of the Location Information Strategy nearing completion during 2015 
with funding from capital appropriation received in prior years.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
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53. Explanatory Statement - cont.

(d) Footnotes - cont.

(ii) Variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014 - cont.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2015 - cont.

AR. Taxation equivalents - payments 
Taxation equivalent payments are lower than 2014 as a result of the lower profit.

AS. Dividends paid 
Dividends paid are higher than 2014 as a result of the increase in the dividend 
payment rate compared to the rate used in the prior year.

AT. Net cash transferred to/from other agencies 
Net cash transferred to/from other agencies is higher than 2014 due to the first 
progress payment for the Regional and Urban Scenario Planning initiative of the 
Location Information Strategy.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
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54. Schedule of income and expenses by service

Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government 
Location Information Total

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Income

Revenue

Provision of services 106,336 109,362 14,251 21,381 0 0 120,587 130,743

Sales of land information, data & imagery 7,942 7,531 62 63 0 0 8,004 7,594

Commonwealth grants and contributions 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 21

Interest revenue 2,539 1,879 263 199 117 116 2,919 2,194

Other revenue 869 1,391 0 0 153 1,065 1,022 2,456

Gains

Gain on equity accounted investments 9,681 103 0 0 0 0 9,681 103

Total income 127,367 120,287 14,576 21,643 270 1,181 142,213 143,111

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 57,002 52,723 21,469 20,210 2,602 2,355 81,073 75,288

Supplies and services 25,042 26,489 1,016 977 3,246 4,428 29,304 31,894

Other expenses 8,207 6,137 1,854 1,718 384 719 10,445 8,574

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,998 7,686 471 443 322 1,085 9,791 9,214

Finance costs 1,830 1,992 190 210 84 122 2,104 2,324

Accommodation expenses 3,105 3,164 1,183 1,142 220 220 4,508 4,526

Impairment loss 206 144 20 10 18 6 244 160

Share of losses of associates and joint 
ventures 5,438 0 0 0 0 0 5,438 0

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 3 148 0 0 0 0 3 148

Total expenses 109,831 98,483 26,203 24,710 6,876 8,935 142,910 132,128

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
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54. Schedule of income and expenses by service - cont.

Service Land Information Valuations
Access to Government 
Location Information Total

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

2015
($’000)

2014
($’000)

Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from 
State Government

17,536 21,804 (11,627) (3,067) (6,606) (7,754) (697) 10,983

Grants and subsidies from State Government

Service appropriation 7,627 13,846 15,966 7,079 6,483 7,561 30,076 28,486

Royalties for Regions fund 0 0 0 360 116 174 116 534

Services received free of charge 280 427 65 165 7 19 352 611

Total grants and subsidies from State  
Government

7,907 14,273 16,031 7,604 6,606 7,754 30,544 29,631

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalent 
(expense)/benefit 25,443 36,077 4,404 4,537 0 0 29,847 40,614

Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit (9,371) (12,632)

Profit/(loss) for the period 20,476 27,982

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
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Mike Bradford 

Chief Executive
Member, Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
4 September 2015    

Caroline de Mori

Chair
Board of Management
Western Australian Land Information Authority
4 September 2015   

In the opinion of the Board, Western Australian Land Information Authority, 
the accompanying key performance indicators:

 » are based on proper records

 » are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Authority’s 
performance and

 » fairly represent the Authority’s performance for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015.  

Certification of the

key performance indicators
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Key Performance Indicators 2014-15

Relationship to Government Goals

The following table illustrates the relationship between the Authority’s 
services, the desired outcomes and the relevant Government Goal.  The 
key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery 
of services on the achievement of desired outcomes. The key efficiency 
indicators monitor the relationship between the service delivered and the 
resources used to produce the service. Refer to the Strategic Framework 
section of the Annual Report for further details.

Government Goal Outcomes Services

Social and 
Environmental  
Responsibility:

Ensuring that 
economic activity 
is managed in 
a socially and 
environmentally 
responsible manner 
for the long-term 
benefit of the State.

The State’s administrative, 
commercial and social 
systems are supported by 
a land information base and 
certainty of ownership and 
other interests in land.

1. Land Information -  
Information about 
land ownership, 
land boundaries and 
geographic features is 
collected, recorded and 
made available for use 
by government, business 
and the community.

Independent valuations 
support government’s 
collection of rates and 
taxes and management of 
property assets.

2. Valuations - 

An impartial valuation 
and property consultancy 
service.

Coordinated capture and 
access to the State’s 
location information.

3. Access to Government 
Location Information  - 

Effective access to land 
and location information 
can be demonstrated by 
improved data capture, 
access and usability of 
location information.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Key Performance Indicators 2014-15

Outcome

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a 
land information base and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (1 of 2):

The extent to which the currency and relevance of the Land Information 
Databases meet the needs of the Western Australian community.   

Percentage of work program completed
Actual

2012/13
Actual

2013/14
Target

2014/15
Actual

2014/15

Extent to which the currency and 
relevance of the Land Information 
Databases meet the needs of the 
Western Australian community 

89% 94% 100% 100%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Landgate maintains its strategic land information datasets in order that they 
are fit for purpose and match the level of land related activity and change 
through cyclical and targeted data revision.  Currency and relevance relate 
to how well the data itself is kept up to date and the support given to the 
many requests for new and revised information received through the Western 
Australian Land Information System (WALIS) Office. As the maintenance is 
needs-based, the achievement of set targets reflects the extent to which 
these user needs are met and therefore it is an indicator of effectiveness.

How was the indicator derived? 

For 2014-15 the indicator is derived from those core land information 
databases that describe and record the location and physical attributes of the 
State’s infrastructure. Landgate’s geographic information focus is on location 
products and services with ongoing process improvement.

The core databases are: 

• Aerial Photography

• Property Street Addressing 

• Geographic Naming

• Spatial Cadastral Database

• Medium Scale Topographic Data

• Large Scale Topographic Data 

The currency of the information provides a measure of Landgate’s 
effectiveness in responding to land development and social changes. 
Activity targets are set in response to administrative expectations relating to 
development and submissions to the Western Australian Land Information 
System (WALIS) Office.  They define the minimum required to maintain 
the land information base and deliver the needs at the levels of accuracy, 
currency and completeness expected by the users.

What does this indicator show? 

The indicator shows how well Landgate has maintained its geographic 
location and land boundary information overall. It is an average measured via 
achievement against targets for each of the core databases. These targets 
are gauged on Landgate’s capacity to satisfy an expected level of data 
maintenance and user community requests for new information as well as 
maintain cyclic revision programs agreed by the WALIS Council.

In 2014-15 Landgate was on average 100% effective in meeting overall user 
expectations. There were no underperformance exceptions.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Key Performance Indicators 2014-15

Outcome

The State’s administrative, commercial and social systems are supported by a 
land information base and certainty of ownership and other interests in land.

Key Effectiveness Indicator (2 of 2):

Claims against registered interests as a result of fraud, negligence or errors, 
settled by the Crown. 

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Number of claims settled by Crown 1 2 0 1

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The indicator provides a measure of the State’s success in maintaining 
an accurate land titles register. It shows the settled claims against the 
State arising from fraud, negligence or errors involving the certainty of land 
ownership within the State.

How was the indicator derived? 

The indicator is derived from a register that records new, current or rejected 
claims made for monetary compensation against the State concerning 
registered interests in land under the Transfer of Land Act 1893 (excludes 
minor ex gratia payments).

The following definitions apply:

“Fraud” means the illegal activities by a person or persons other than the 
registered owner or owners to effect changes to the existing interests 
recorded on a Certificate of Title or other land transaction document.

“Negligence or errors” means the actions or errors attributed to the Registrar 
of Titles or to conveyancers, but not detected, which affect the land register 
or clients’ ability to successfully complete land transactions.

What does this indicator show? 

WA has a robust Torrens land titles system.  No significant trend involving 
error or negligence is apparent.  

There was one payment for compensation made by the State under the 
Transfer of Land Act 1893, with costs and interest yet to be paid. The 
registered proprietor’s land was fraudulently transferred by his daughter using 
an unauthorised power of attorney. This is a case of family fraud.

Whilst family fraud is statistically more common than fraud committed by 
strangers, this payment of compensation due to family fraud is not considered 
to be part of a trend.

The three frauds for which compensation was paid  in 2014-15, 2013-14 
and 2012-13 were each committed before the increased awareness of 
the importance of verification of identity and before the introduction of the 
Western Australian Commissioner and Registrar of Titles Joint Practice: 
Verification of Identity.  

It is impossible to prevent all fraud, but with vigilance, the risk of successful 
fraud is minimised. 
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Key Performance Indicators 2014-15

Service 1

Land Information

Service description

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features 
is collected, recorded and made available for use by Government, business 
and the community.  

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 2)

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Average cost per land registration 
action

$31.67 $30.05 $31.38 $34.42

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land registration actions include a range of activities associated with 
registered land transactions.  The most common include document searches, 
examination and registration of interests on land.  The last two involve 
incorporating changes made to a Certificate of Title.  Typically, changes 
concern land ownership details on a title, applications for a new title for 
subdivisional land development, caveats, leases, powers of attorney, and 
other minor adjustments to land titles.

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of recording on Government 
guaranteed land titles the range of interests, boundaries and ownership 
relevant to that land.  This is a clear indicator of the efficiency with which the 
land registration system and service is maintained.

How was the indicator derived? 

The number of transactions is derived from a recording and checking system 
that reports the number of:

• Documents examined for registration against the title

• Certificates of title created

• Document search requests received

• Number of lots created

The cost of registration actions includes all direct costs and an appropriate 
share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.  The cost of land registration 
actions is recovered via charges to users for each transaction.  Each charge 
is calculated on a full cost recovery basis.

What does this indicator show? 

The subdued property market has led to a 7.3% reduction in the expected 
number of land registrations actions.  Total costs have increased by 1.7% 
mainly because of Landgate’s share of the operating loss of its equity 
investment in PEXA Ltd and costs associated with the legislative and 
business reform programs. The narrowing of the land registrations transaction 
base combined with increased costs has resulted in a 9.7% increase in the 
average cost per land registration action when compared to the 2014-15 
target.
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Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate)
Key Performance Indicators 2014-15

Service 1

Land Information

Service description

Information about land ownership, land boundaries and geographic features 
is collected, recorded and made available for use by Government, business 
and the community. 

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 2)

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Average cost per land information 
action 

$16.80 $19.25 $18.65 $20.86

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

Land information actions include a range of activities associated with the 
capture, production and maintenance of physical land and land boundary 
information in Landgate’s datasets.  These datasets include information 
about:

• Cadastre

• Geodetic marks

• Administrative boundaries

• Landscape relief (ie contours)

• Cultural, or built environment, and natural features

• Aerial photography

• Satellite imagery

• Geographic Names

• Property Street Addresses

• Road Centreline (ie position of constructed roads)

• Native Title Claims

• Baselines/territorial sea limits

The indicator provides a measure of the full cost of maintaining an up-to-date 
Government land information base and the costs involved represent a key 
indicator of efficiency.

How was the indicator derived? 

The number of actions is derived from recording systems that report the 
above list of items.

The cost of land information actions includes all direct costs and an 
appropriate share of indirect and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show? 

During 2014-15 there was a 9.1% decrease in the expected amount of land 
information collected due to a satellite failure, conflicts in satellite orbits and 
an over-estimation of the area of aerial imagery to be captured (the final 
capture program acquired more customer requested high resolution town-
site imagery instead of regional information resulting in less square kilometres 
being captured).  This issue disproportionately affects the total collection 
result, with other data-sets largely achieving collection targets.  

Total costs for delivering this service has increased by 1.7% mainly because 
of costs related to Landgate’s business reform programs.  These combined 
factors resulted in an 11.8% increase in the average cost of land information 
actions when compared to the 2014-15 target.
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Outcome

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, 
and management of property assets.

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 2)

International standards for accuracy and uniformity of rating and taxing values 
are met.

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Benchmark against international standards 
for accuracy using Median Ratio Test:

Gross Rental Value 94.77% 92.7% >92.5% 92.59%

Unimproved Value 92.18% 92.43% >92.5% 92.42%

Coefficient of dispersion to check 
uniformity of values:

Gross Rental Value 6.37% 4.49% <7% 4.88%

Unimproved Value 3.58% 3.36% <15% 3.14%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

State and local governments rely on impartial, uniform and accurate property 
values as a base for levying rates and taxes.  Therefore, measuring the 
uniformity and accuracy of valuations provides a useful indicator of our 
contribution to their effectiveness in meeting this outcome.

How was the indicator derived? 

The uniformity and accuracy of Unimproved Values are checked against 
international ratio standards published by the International Association of 
Assessing Officers (IAAO) in their ‘Standard on Ratio Studies’. Coefficient of 
Dispersion (COD) and the Median Value Price Ratio (MPR) tests are the key 
standards. These are used extensively in both Australia and New Zealand.  
Both were adopted as ideal indicators suited to Western Australia. Gross 
Rental Values are compared against our own standards developed in 1998 
along similar lines to the IAAO land value standards. 

In relation to the MPR, the IAAO Standards state that “the overall level of 
appraisal for a jurisdiction.... for vacant land.... should be between 90 percent 
and 110 percent”, and that the “Coefficient of Dispersion (COD) for vacant 
land should be 20 percent or less”. In larger urban jurisdictions dealing with 
uniform land releases and availability of sales, the COD should be <15%. 

For Unimproved Values the Valuer General of Western Australia has set an 
MPR standard of >92.5% and a COD of <15%.

While there is currently no international standard for Gross Rental Values, the 
Valuer General has adopted the same accuracy and uniformity measures 
applying to Unimproved Values but with a tighter COD target of <7%.

The quality of the outcome is reflected in the extent to which the results 
exceed the minimum targets.
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What does this indicator show? 

For unimproved values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR of 92.42% is slightly under the target of >92.5%.  The degree with 
which it falls below target is considered to be insignificant and is well within 
the normal range of fluctuations from year to year.  It is also a reflection of 
the increased caution in some sectors of the land market.  The MPR was 
determined on a statistical analysis which compared assessed values as at 
the date of valuation being 1 August 2014 with sales occurring between 1 
June 2014 and 31 August 2014. 

The COD at 3.14% is the best result since these indicators commenced in 
2000 and eclipses the previous best result of 3.36% achieved in 2013-14.  
The COD is a measure of divergence between the assessed land values and 
selling prices and this result is indicative of a relatively stable property market 
during the designated period of 1 June 2014 and 31 August 2014.

For gross rental values the outcomes show the following:

The MPR shows 92.59% against a target of >92.5% measured from a sample 
size of 2,120 key rents.  The 2014-15 general valuation program was limited 
to 32 country local government districts and the result is very good given the 
falling market experienced in the Pilbara. 

The COD of 4.88% meets the requirement of ‘less than 7%’ as a measure of 
valuation uniformity and is an improvement on the 6.37% COD recorded in 
2012-13 which again only applied to GRV general valuations of country local 
governments.  

Taken together the above unimproved value and gross rental value results 
show a very satisfactory outcome.
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Outcome

Independent valuations support Governments’ collection of rates and taxes, 
and management of property assets.

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 2)

Adjustments of rating and taxing values as a result of Objections and Appeals 
as a percentage of total values in force.

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Adjustments to rating and taxing 
values as a result of Objections and 
Appeals as a percentage of total 
values in force

0.0196% 0.0147%  <0.2% 0.0189%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The percentage of values amended as a consequence of owners exercising 
their right to challenge values is a reasonable measure of the integrity and 
fairness of the values contained in Valuation Rolls.

How was the indicator derived? 

The figure is derived by dividing the number of values that have been 
amended as a result of an objection or appeal by the total number of rating 
and taxing values in force.

What does this indicator show? 

As at 30 June 2015, there were 2,103,305 values in force in Western 
Australia.  During the year 397 of these were amended as a result of either 
formal objections determined by the Valuer-General or review of valuations by 
the State Administrative Tribunal.  This indicates that only one in every 5,298 
values was amended.  The outcome of 0.0189% remains well below the 
international standard and is similar to previous outcomes.

The result continues to demonstrate the effectiveness of the valuation process 
for rating and taxing in Western Australia and its general acceptance by 
ratepayers and taxpayers.
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Service 2

Valuations

Service description

An impartial valuation and property consultancy service.

Key Efficiency Indicator

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Average cost per valuation $14.91 $13.55 $19.05 $18.92

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The number of valuations made and the average cost per valuation provide a 
reliable measure of overall performance against forecast targets and previous 
years’ outcomes. Some variation does occur from year to year due to the 
cyclical nature of gross rental valuation (GRV) based general valuations. 2014-
2015 was not a year of GRV assessment activity within the Perth Metropolitan 
Region with the result that the number of valuations made during the year 
was the lowest in the 3 year cycle.  

During the year 1,384,808 values were made at an overall program cost 
of $26,203,264 or $18.92 per value.  This results in a 39.6% increase in 
the cost per value over the previous year when GRV revaluation activity 
included the Perth Metropolitan Region and was high. The deferment of the 
assessment of approximately 29,500 unimproved values of mining, petroleum 
and geothermal tenements into July 2015 as a consequence of an urgent 
amendment to the Valuation of Land Act 1978 which required late changes 
to the valuation system, also impacted on costs. Had these valuations been 
issued as part of the State’s unimproved valuation roll before 30 June 2015, 
the cost per valuation would have been around $18.53 or 52 cents per value 
below the target.   

How was the indicator derived? 

Cost per valuation refers to the total cost per value of unimproved and gross 
rental values including general valuations, interim valuations, objections, 
appeals and queries made during the financial year, and other valuations 
including stamp duty, market, and asset valuations, and property related 
valuation consultancy services.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 
and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show? 

The average cost per valuation of $18.92 is 13 cents below the target of 
$19.05. It is also identical to the cost per value incurred in 2011-12 which 
was the same point in the Perth Metropolitan Region revaluation cycle. This 
excellent outcome is due to a combination of a slight lift in the number of 
valuations made, internal efficiencies and expenditure restraint.
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Outcome

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator (1 of 3)

Use of location information

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Overall satisfaction with the capture 
of, access to and useability of 
Government Location Information 

65% 66% 80% 76%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy (LIS) for Western Australia was endorsed 
by the Minister for Lands and approved by Cabinet in 2011. The goals of 
the LIS are to facilitate the State’s growth and sustainable development 
through improved use of location information.  This enables better informed 
government, industry and community decision making.  It also streamlines the 
capture and maintenance of government data.  Landgate, through the WALIS 
framework, is responsible for the overall coordination of the LIS. 

The key strategic initiatives for the LIS are: 

• Strategic Capture of the State’s location information

• Enhanced access to location information

• Education and career development

• Citizen engagement through location technology

• Promoting and branding Western Australia

The benefits of the LIS can only be achieved if improvements to the strategic 
capture of and access to location (or spatial) information can be translated 
into increased use of location information across the public and private 
sectors. This indicator will provide a measure of how the business use of the 
location information captured and disseminated improves over time.

More effective capture, access and use of location information, and reducing 
duplication of effort across government, can be demonstrated through:

• a more comprehensive and coordinated capture process through the 
State Land Information Capture Program or SLICP, now known as the 
Capture WA Program (the Program).

• access to a wider range of data available through the Shared Location 
Information Platform (SLIP).

• annual surveys of customer usage of location information provided 
through these mechanisms.

How was the indicator derived? 

The actual satisfaction level of 76% is an average of two overall satisfaction 
scores (SLIP - 69% and SLICP - 84%) derived through independent survey 
results obtained in May and June 2015 and it is specific to this effectiveness 
indicator. The survey will be conducted on an annual basis to address this 
indicator.

The independent survey consists of two online questionnaires; a SLIP survey 
(for SLIP users) and a SLICP survey (for SLICP participants).  Reliability and 
validity testing was undertaken prior to launch.  Data collection was done 
over a three week period with reminders sent weekly to non-respondents or 
partially completed surveys.  A total sample size of 195 SLIP users and 26 
SLICP users was achieved.  Based on a sample size of 195 SLIP users and a 
sample size of 26 SLICP users, the combined margin of error at the 95% level 
of confidence is ± 6.9%. 
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What does the indicator show?

This indicator shows the level of satisfaction of WALIS community members 
in relation to the capture, access and useability of Government Location 
Information.  It provides insight into the way in which WALIS community 
members rate the effectiveness of data capture through the program and 
data access and ease of use through SLIP.

The 2014-15 overall satisfaction level of 76% is higher than the 2013-14 
result.  However, this falls short of the target figure of 80% for 2014-15.  
The key reason for this stems from continued customer perceptions in an 
environment of change, primarily for SLIP.  Under the LIS, in 2014-15, SLIP 
continued to undergo a fundamental renewal in the way data is accessed 
and managed.  In addition, alternatives to the SLIP back-end system (Google 
Maps Engine) are currently being evaluated to provide a replacement. This 
replacement has become necessary as a result of Google’s decision to 
terminate Google Maps Engine in January 2016.  The transition of this back-
end system is anticipated to be seamless from the customer’s perspective.  
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Outcome

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator (2 of 3)

Strategic Capture – Participation

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Percentage increase in the number 
of requests submitted by agencies 
(manually and on-line) requesting 
data capture through the State Land 
Information Capture Program (SLICP)  

17% 6% 5% 65%

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The program is designed to reduce cost and avoid duplication in the capture 
of location information across the State of Western Australia by planning, 
recording and acquiring the information through one channel to ensure the 
most strategic use of resources. Landgate through the WALIS framework has 
simplified the process and is seeking to expand the program to address the 
future needs of the State’s location information.  

How was the indicator derived? 

The increase in the number of requests is measured in terms of the 
percentage increase in the number of requests submitted by agencies with a 
baseline being set during 2011-12. 

For 2013-14, a total of 208 requests were received, representing a 6% 
increase from the previous year.

For 2014-15, a total of 343 requests were received, representing a 65% 
increase from the previous year.

What does this indicator show? 

This indicator shows that a percentage increase in the number of agencies 
taking part in the program leads to improvements in the use of strategic 
resources through reduced duplication of effort and cost savings for the 
State. For 2014-15, a 65% increase in the number of requests has been 
recorded.  There are several reasons for this impressive result:

1. 2014-15 is the first time that requests were fully transitioned from a 
manual to an on-line system, leading to ease of access and additional 
functionalities that allowed agencies to check for status, frequency and 
currency of capture in Western Australia. This has led to more agencies 
coming on to the program; 

2. The flow-on effects of intensive efforts made through the WALIS Office 
with regard to stakeholder engagement for the program; and

3. Increased funding availability in 2014-15 through Royalties for Regions 
which provided for additional capture under the program.  

It is anticipated that a similar increase will be seen for the 2015-16 program, 
given the feedback being received from agencies.
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Outcome

Coordinated capture and access to the State’s location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator (3 of 3)

Enhanced Access

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Volume of data consumed -

Percentage increase in the total 
volume of data delivered (gigabytes) 
through Shared  Land Information 
Platform (SLIP) (Note 1)

76% 7% 5% 7%

Data Availability  -

Percentage increase in the number of 
datasets available through SLIP

12% 19% 5% 9%

(Note 1 - From 1 July 2015 the Shared Land Information Platform will be 
known as the Shared Location Information Platform.)

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

SLIP provides a single point of access for whole of government and industry 
partners to use and share location information. It works by enabling data 
custodians to manage and disseminate their core location information through 
a single online point, ensuring all those accessing the information work off a 
common source of truth.

Highlighting the volume of data consumed and the number of datasets 
available in SLIP shows that Government agencies are embedding SLIP 
services into their systems and core business applications. 

Through measuring the increasing use of SLIP services and the number of 
datasets available highlights the value placed on SLIP by government and 
industry to facilitate access to needed ‘source of truth’ location information. 

How was the indicator derived? 

Volume of data consumed is measured in terms of the increase in the volume 
of data delivered through SLIP with a baseline being set during 2011-12.  
Reporting figures were gathered using SLIP Operations Reports. 

For 2014-15, a total volume of 4,857.15 gigabytes of data was consumed.  
This represents an increase of 7% from the previous year.

Data Availability is measured in terms of the increase in the number of 
datasets available through SLIP with a baseline being set during 2011-12.   

For 2014-15, a total of 3,098 datasets are available through SLIP.  This 
represents a 9% increase in datasets from the previous year.

What does this indicator show? 

The indicator shows that the value of information provided through a single 
access point is increasingly becoming more relied upon as a preferred data 
delivery channel.  The increase in volume of data downloaded highlights that 
more organisations require access to data to carry out their duties. 

For 2014-15, the increase in the volume of data consumed reflects a 
continued change in culture throughout Western Australia where online 
services are becoming the norm for complete and current access to location 
information.  Landgate, through the WALIS framework, has worked with 
a number of organisations to ensure SLIP is reliable and delivers location 
information through web services direct into business system applications. As 
these applications are rolled out throughout an organisation, more users are 
drawing on SLIP services, increasing the total data downloaded from SLIP.
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Service 3

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description

Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by 
improved data capture, access and usability of location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator

Strategic Capture

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Average cost of coordinating the 
SLICP per request for capture  

$8,924 $10,644 $10,041 $4,233

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western Australia aims to increase the 
number of organisations actively participating in the program in order to better 
coordinate and reduce the costs of capturing location information, while also 
improving the efficiency of this process and reducing the cost of coordination. 

How was the indicator derived? 

The cost of coordinating and managing the program (based on Landgate and 
WALIS Office resources used to manage the program) is compared with the 
number of capture requests received in order to derive an average cost per 
transaction.

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 
and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show? 

This indicator shows the average cost of effectively co-ordinating the program 
for customers. The actual for 2014-15 is significantly lower than the target 
due to two major factors: 

1. Large increase in the number of capture requests received for the year; 
and

2. Efficiencies derived from the implementation of an on-line system that has 
reduced direct, indirect and overhead recurrent costs associated with  
co-ordinating the program.
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Service 3

Access to Government Location Information 

Service description

Effective access to land and location information can be demonstrated by 
improved data capture, access and usability of location information.

Key Efficiency Indicator

Enhanced Access

Actual
2012/13

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Average cost per gigabyte of 
information delivered through SLIP  

$933 $1,487 $1,160 $1,117

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?

The Location Information Strategy for Western Australia aims to enhance SLIP 
to reduce the effort required to make data available through SLIP and ensure 
SLIP is the most cost effective solution to delivering location information from 
across the State to users.  

How was the indicator derived? 

The cost per gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP is based on the 
resources needed to support SLIP customers and the infrastructure cost to 
maintain SLIP (i.e. average cost per gigabyte of information delivered through 
SLIP).

The total cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate share of indirect 
and overhead recurrent costs.

What does this indicator show? 

This indicator shows the average delivery cost (per gigabyte) of data through 
SLIP.  Direct, indirect and overhead recurrent costs associated with SLIP 
have been higher in 2014-15, however, this has been offset by an increase 
in the gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP.  This has resulted in 
a marginally lower than expected 2014-15 actual for the average cost per 
gigabyte of information delivered through SLIP.
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Ministerial directives

Under section 65(3) of the Land Information Authority Act 2006, Landgate is 
required to include in its Annual Report the text of a written direction given to 
it by the Minister, relating to the performance of Landgate’s functions.  There 
were no directions given during 2014/15.

Pricing policies

Under the Treasurer’s Instruction 903, section 13(i), Landgate is required to 
advise the Department of Treasury (Treasury) of the policies underlying the 
pricing of its goods and services and, where appropriate provide references 
to relevant public documents that contain pricing information. For the major 
categories of goods and services provided by Landgate, the following 
pricing policies apply:

Land registrations 
The setting of fees for land transaction documents, memorial registrations 
and survey plan lodgements are made pursuant to section 181 of the 
Transfer of Land Act 1893; section 130 of the Strata Titles Act 1985; and 
section 22 of the Registration of Deeds Act 1856. The basis for determining 
the cost of these services is in accordance with the guidelines set out in 
‘Costing and Pricing Government Services’ published by Treasury. The 
2014/15 schedule of fees for all land registration services services remained 
unchanged from the existing fee. 

Land searches 
Similarly, the schedule of fees for inspecting and copying (searching) land 
registration information, including Certificates of Title, survey plans and 
documents were also unchanged.

Land valuations 
Pricing for valuations and valuation consulting services are made under 
the powers contained within the Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Land 
Information Authority Act 2006. 

Other goods and services 
These goods and services cover a broad range of stakeholder and customer 
driven endeavours and include: 

• maps and aerial photography

• remote sensing satellite imagery 

• native Title mapping 

• geospatial data sales 

• property value and sales information 

• land information enterprises

• land and property market.

Prices of non-regulatory goods and services produced and delivered by 
Landgate are determined in accordance with Landgate’s Pricing Framework. 
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Pricing policies - cont.

This framework ensures that the authority complies with the State 
Government’s requirements for the pricing of land information and for the 
costing and pricing of goods and services, as detailed in section 16 of the 
Land Information Authority Act 2006. The framework includes processes 
and procedures to ensure prices are set in a transparent, methodical and 
accountable way.

Capital works

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2015 was as follows:

Capital expenditure
($’000)

Estimated cost to 
complete ($’000)

Location infrastructure 6,364 125

Products and services    867    5

Asset replacement 2,738 240

Business reform initiatives 9,920   28

Total 19,889 398

Minor delays were experienced across all programs causing work to be 
carried over for completion in the early stages of 2015/16.  The $0.398m is 
committed expenditure as at 30 June 2015. 

Landgate’s capital works consists of four ongoing programs:

Location infrastructure
This program supports improvements in the collection and maintenance of 
location information that is the basis of Landgate’s operations and crucial 
to the operations of government, industry and the wider community.  This 
program ensures the data meets the quality requirements of users and is 
designed to modernise systems and processes associated with producing 
location products.  The program also provides for the support of the 
implementation of the LIS and funding for Landgate’s Innovation program.

The LIS provides a framework and strategic direction for the collection, 
use and management of location information.  This will be supported by a 
number of strategic enablers led by Landgate, including the redevelopment 
of SLIP and a better coordinated whole-of-government approach to 
acquiring and managing location information.
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Products and services
This program provides for the research, development and delivery of new 
products and services and the continual improvement of online business 
initiatives to meet government and community needs.

The primary activities of this program include developing web-enabled 
products, improving service delivery of key business solutions and extending 
mapping products to the commercial, private and government sectors.  

Asset replacement
The asset replacement program provides for ongoing asset management 
through replacement and maintenance of facilities, physical infrastructure 
and information technology assets up to current standards.

Business reform initiatives
This program provides for the development of core functions and data 
to meet an increased demand for integrated services and technological 
change. It will deliver operational efficiencies through process automation 
and redesign. Landgate will be able to supply a range of new commercial, 
best practice services and integrated or bundled solutions.  Currently 
the major project within this program is the redevelopment of our land 
registration process and the underlying software platforms. This builds on 
the National Electronic Conveyancing System, which was established by 
the Council of Australian Governments to deliver a uniform and seamless 
national approach to electronic conveyancing. 

Employment and industrial relations – staff profile

Number of employees represented by division

Business unit
Number of 

employees 2014/15
Number of 

employees 2013/14

Office of the Chief Executive 13 12

Strategy and Reform 43 51

Operations 459 464

Finance Information and Legal Services 144 161

Business Development 37 30

Sales, Marketing and Customer Service 105 119
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Employment and industrial relations – staff profile - cont.

Number of employees represented by employment status

Employee by employee status
Number of 

employees 2014/15
Number of 

employees 2013/14

Full time 678 707

Part time 124 130

Casual 0 0

Permanent 737 785

Fixed term contract 65 52

Staff learning and development
Landgate continued to work towards improving the capabilities and 
performance of its reducing workforce during 2014/15, by supporting staff 
development through training to improve the skills required to meet changing 
business needs. 

During this financial year leadership and management development was 
a focus, with a pilot program aimed at upskilling our managers rolled out 
across the business. 

Landgate’s Growth Performance and Satisfaction (GPS) system continues to 
be the driving force behind performance management, with managers and 
employees continuing to align their objectives with corporate outcomes.  At 
the end of this financial year 92% of staff had completed a plan and 95% of 
these employees completed reviews during the year.
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Governance disclosures
Enabling legislation

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 is the governing legislation which 
establishes the Western Australian Land Information Authority (the authority) 
as a statutory authority with commercial powers. The authority operates 
under the business name of Landgate. 

The Land Information Authority Act 2006 prescribes the powers Landgate 
has to perform its functions and links to other acts. 

Administered legislation

Landgate is responsible for administering legislation in relation to the 
registration of land transactions and the regulation of land surveyors. 
The Transfer of Land Act 1893, Strata Titles Act 1985 and Valuation of 
Land Act 1978 are the principal acts regulating the registration of land 
transactions. The Licensed Surveyors Act 1909 provides for the registration, 
licensing practice of land surveyors, the making of authorised surveys and 
establishment of the Land Surveyors Licensing Board.

Landgate’s operations are affected by more than 100 acts. The Fair Trading 
Act 2010 which applies the Australian Consumer Law set out in Schedule 
2 of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Commonwealth) and Part 
IV of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 both apply to Landgate’s 
commercial operations. The Financial Management Act 2006, Auditor 
General Act 2006 and State Supply Commission Act 1991 regulate finances, 
accounts and procurements. 

Governance arrangements

Since Landgate commenced operating as a statutory authority in 2007, 
the Landgate Board has been committed to establishing and practising 
effective governance arrangements to oversee the direction and operations 
of Landgate.

The corporate governance structure of Landgate enables the authority’s 
objectives to be pursued and achieved. The structure encompasses the 
systems and processes required to make and manage business decisions. 
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Minister

The Minister for Lands has responsibility for Landgate and is administratively 
responsible for the Land Information Authority Act 2006. 

The Minister approves Landgate’s budget, strategic direction, strategic 
initiatives and financial decisions. The Minister tables Landgate’s annual 
report and any directions given to the authority in parliament and is 
accountable to parliament for Landgate’s performance.

Board 

The Board is accountable to the Minister for the performance and the 
efficient and effective financial management of the authority. The role and 
functions of the Board are set out in the Land Information Authority Act 2006 
and the Board is subject to the provisions within the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996. 
 
The Board is responsible for:

• setting the broad strategic direction of Landgate and objectives, plans 
and performance targets through the annual development of a five year 
Strategic Development Plan and one year Statement of Corporate Intent 
which must be agreed by the Minister

• approving the budget and capital submissions to government (under the 
Financial Management Act 2006)

• reporting to the Minister on the operational and financial performance of 
Landgate

• making a recommendation as soon as practicable after the end of the 
financial year on whether a dividend is to be paid to the consolidated 
account and, if so, the amount to be paid

• monitoring financial and operational performance of Landgate (against 
agreed goals/targets)

• providing risk management oversight

• consulting and communicating with the Minister

• monitoring and approving major business transactions

• reviewing the internal financial and operational control environments

• determining the scope (and any relevant limits) of authority delegated to 
the Chief Executive

• overseeing the management of the authority by the Chief Executive to 
ensure it is operating effectively and has a culture of compliance and 
best practice business performance in financial, human resource, risk 
and asset management. 
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Governance disclosures
Board structure

The Minister appoints the members of the Board, which is to comprise 
not less than four and not more than six persons in addition to the Chief 
Executive (ex officio member) in accordance with the Land Information 
Authority Act 2006.

Board members are required to have relevant knowledge and experience to 
enable Landgate’s functions under the Land Information Authority Act 2006 
to be performed and a range of skills and expertise is required including 
commercial acumen, information technology, strategy development and 
financial management. The skills and experience of the current Board 
members are set out in the agency overview section of this annual report. 

Members are appointed for fixed terms of up to three years and can be 
reappointed. The Minister designates appointed members to the roles of 
Chair and Deputy Chair.

Board sub-committee - Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC)

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Board established under Section 29 (1) of the Land Information Authority Act 
2006.

The primary objective and responsibility of the committee is to assist the 
Board fulfill and discharge its responsibilities in relation to Landgate’s 
accounting policies, financial reporting practices, financial and internal 
control systems, internal audit function, and risk management framework by 
providing an objective and robust opinion on the effectiveness and efficiency 
of these activities.

The Board has authorised the committee to:

• select, engage, terminate and approve the fees and other terms and 
conditions of the engagement of special or independent counsel, 
accountants, other experts and other advisors as it deems necessary to 
carry out its duties

• have unrestricted access to management, employees and information it 
considers relevant to its responsibilities 

• meet individually with the Auditor General and/or their representative, 
the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and the Manager, 
Audit and Risk Management without any other members of management 
being present, at least once a year or whenever it is deemed appropriate 
by the Chair of the Committee
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Governance disclosures 
Board sub-committee - Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) - cont.

• consult with and be consulted by management on the appointment and 
performance of the Manager, Audit and Risk Management.  

ARMC financial reporting 

The committee reviews the annual financial statements and key performance 
indicators before recommending a submission to the Board for approval.

The committee also reviews other financial issues and reports throughout the 
year, including:

• any significant or unusual accounting issues or new transactions

• new or changes to accounting standards and how that may impact on 
Landgate’s financial management

• the appropriateness of Landgate’s accounting policies and practices.

ARMC risk management (including business continuity) 

During the year the committee:

• reviews Landgate’s risk management policies and frameworks, which 
include risk management, business continuity, insurance and other 
related areas

• monitors Landgate’s actual strategic (material) risk exposures

• provides oversight of the management of operational and project risks 
and responses to plans for the reduction of unacceptably high risks 
(Treatment Action Plans).

ARMC legal and regulatory obligations (compliance) 

In the area of compliance the committee:

• reviews Landgate’s approach to achieving compliance with statutory and 
regulatory obligations through the Compliance Policy and Compliance 
Framework

• monitors changes in legislation, standards and other forms of regulation 
to determine the impact on Landgate’s activities

• confirms the Annual Compliance Certification which is completed by 
each General Manager as part of the annual reporting process

• monitors any high risk legal or compliance matters through to 
conclusion.
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Governance disclosures
Internal and external audit functions 

Ensuring the independence of audit activities, the committee will consider 
the following:

• approval of the Annual Audit Plan, ensuring adequate coverage of high 
risk areas, through a risk assessment of auditable areas within the Audit 
Universe

• monitor the progress of the internal audit plan and approve any changes 
required to the planned scope

• oversee the annual Officer of Auditor General (OAG) Audit Plan which 
highlights proposed audits, timing and costs

• have oversight of audit reports issued by the OAG

• monitor follow up action in response to internal audit and external audit 
recommendations

• review and approve the Internal Audit Charter on a two year cycle.

Risk management

Landgate has an established risk management framework which 
incorporates strategic risk, operational risk and project risk. Landgate’s 
strategic risks are identified as part of the Strategic Development Plan 
annual review process and are monitored on no less than a quarterly 
basis. Operational risk registers are in place for all key business units 
and are fully reviewed every year with support from the Audit and Risk 
Management Branch. Interim monitoring and review takes place in areas 
of higher risk or where change has occurred. The status of strategic and 
significant operational risks is reported quarterly to the Board, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and Corporate Executive.

Project risks are identified for each key project throughout its lifecycle and 
are monitored and reported in line with the PRINCE2 project management 
methodology.  Landgate also has a structured Business Continuity Program 
incorporating business and IT disaster recovery protocols.  Scenario 
testing of the business plans is conducted quarterly.  IT disaster recovery 
simulations are also conducted on a quarterly basis, with an increase in 
demand at each test.
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Audit and Risk Management branch

The Audit and Risk Management branch (ARMB) was established in 2008.  
Activities include internal audit, risk management, insurance, compliance and 
business continuity. All work is guided by best practice under Australian / 
international standards, internal audit standards, Treasurer’s Instructions and 
relevant regulatory guidelines.

The ARMB reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
establishing independence of the internal audit function. It is part of the 
Office of the Chief Executive, which ensures it remains independent from the 
business.  

The annual audit planning process applies a risk-based approach, along with 
consultation across the business units, to determine the annual audit plan.

Board sub-committee – Special Projects Committee (SPC) 

The Special Projects Committee (SPC) is a sub-committee of the Board 
established under Section 29 (1) of the Land Information Authority Act 2006.   

The primary function of the SPC is to provide support and assistance to the 
Board on matters referred to it by the Board, consistent with achieving the 
goals and objectives in the current Strategic Development Plan.

The Board has authorised the SPC to:

• seek independent professional advice when necessary

• make decisions on behalf of the Board through delegated authority

• inform the Board of relevant items at the committee’s discretion

• require the attendance of any employee at its meetings.
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Board remuneration 

The Landgate Board is established under the Land Information Authority 
Act 2006. The Board is responsible for the performance of the authority’s 
statutory functions and determines its strategic direction. The Board meets 
on the fourth Wednesday of the month at various locations, including 
Midland, Perth and Floreat. Meeting dates and arrangements may be 
subject to change to address special requirements.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) is a sub-committee 
of the Landgate Board and comprises two Board members. In line with its 
charter, the committee may invite other participants to its meetings. The 
primary function of the ARMC is to assist the Board and Chief Executive to 
fulfill their corporate governance responsibilities.  The ARMC meets on a 
quarterly basis.

The Special Projects Committee (SPC) is also a sub-committee of the 
Landgate Board and comprises four Board members, one of whom is the 
Chief Executive. The primary function of the SPC is to assist the Board 
on matters relevant to achieving the goals and objectives in the current 
Strategic Development Plan. The SPC meets as required.

Landgate Board

Position Name
Type of 
remuneration*

Period of 
membership

Gross/actual 
remuneration

Chairman Geoffrey Hick annual
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$46,403

Deputy 
Chairman Roger Hussey* annual

1/07/14-
30/06/15

$37,122

Member Karen Gadsby* annual
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$30,206

Member Paul White^ annual
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$27,842

Member Claire Poll^ annual
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$27,842

Member Anne Arnold^ annual
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$27,842

Chief Executive, 
member

Mike  
Bradford^

n/a ex officio N/A

Total: $197,257

* Also a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
^ Also a member of the Special Projects Committee
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Other committee remuneration

The Geographic Names Committee (GNC) was appointed as an advisory 
committee to the Minister for Lands in 1936 to provide advice to the Minister 
on geographical naming issues. Appointments to the GNC are made by 
the Minister for Lands to represent many different points of view, from local 
communities to professional institutions and government agencies within 
Western Australia.

The GNC is served by a Chairman, Executive Officer and a Secretariat, all 
of which are provided by Landgate. The GNC is responsible for providing 
advice regarding the nomenclature needs for geographical features, 
administrative boundaries, localities and road.  Landgate, through delegated 
authority from the Minister, administers the formal application process and 
maintains the states nomenclature database, known as GEONOMA (geo = 
geographic, noma = Latin for ‘names’).

GEONOMA is recognised by the Western Australian government as the 
single source of truth and the official register for all approved named 
geographic features, administrative boundaries and road names and their 
positions and/or extents.

Geographic Names Committee

Position Name
Type of 
remuneration*

Period of 
membership

Gross/actual 
remuneration

Member Jennie Carter sitting
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$640

Member Kevin Trent sitting
1/07/14-
30/06/15

$640

Total: $1,280
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Other legal requirements
Advertising 

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.  
Total expenditure for 2014/15 was $685,721.38 and incurred in the  
following areas:

Advertising agencies $299,857.91

Big Head Digital 20,320.00

Carat Australia Media Services 220,554.68

Trilogy 32,130.75

Dubsat 144.00

GateCrasher Advertising Pty Ltd 7,810.00

Digitalsmoosh 10,260.50

Adcorp 8,637.98

Direct mail $5,562.97

Webcentral 5,562.97

Market research $343,372.50

Painted Dog Research Pty Ltd 343,372.50

Media advertising providers $36,928.00

Captivate Global 2,028.00

90 Seconds Australia 13,900.00

Google Adwords 21,000.00

Polling NIL
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Sponsorship

Curtin University Partnership Spatial Sciences Studio
The Curtin Alliance Memorandum of Understanding between Curtin 
University and Landgate was renewed for a period of three years in 2013. 
The agreement continues to encourage Landgate and Curtin University 
(School of Spatial Sciences) to work in partnership to develop and promote 
education and research in location information and improve education and 
employment opportunities for students in the spatial sciences field.

Bursary
Landgate annually funds a student bursary in Spatial Sciences for final 
year or Honours students enrolled in a Bachelor of Science (GIS) at Curtin 
University.

The award promotes excellence and innovation in spatial sciences. This 
year’s winner was a student with strong interests in remote sensing and 
environmental and natural resource management.

GovHack 2014
GovHack events bring together ideas people, technical expertise, developers 
and government data for a short high intensity competition. In addition, 
GovHack harnesses creativity and innovation to create new solutions to the 
problems and challenges facing government today. Landgate sponsored 
the Landgate Location Innovation Prize which was awarded to the team 
demonstrating the most innovative use of data through SLIP. The Landgate 
prize was won by team ClueGO with a cloud-based interactive and 
educational mobile app to encourage active discovery of Perth city.

GovCamp 2014
GovCamp was a nationally video-linked conversation which included 
Adelaide, Brisbane, Melbourne, Sydney and Canberra. GovCamp was an 
occasion to inspire and shape new opportunities around innovation for 
public purpose. It was an opportunity for a mix of people – from inside and 
outside government, from the worlds of technology and policy, community 
and universities – to share ideas about public-purpose innovation and ways 
that support real-world transformation of government.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes 

(Disability Services Act 1993 S29) 
Landgate is proud of its efforts to ensure that it is an inclusive and accessible 
place for its staff, customers and members of the public with disability. 

Landgate’s 2012-2017 Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) furnishes 
a structure to identify physical and systemic areas of our business where 
services to people with disability can be enhanced.  It also informs the 
development of strategies to facilitate the design and implementation of 
projects in response to the outcomes identified in the plan.  An annual 
progress report is provided to the Disability Services Commission in 
July of each year ensuring that Landgate’s five year plan and the service 
requirements identified in it continue to comply with the Disability Services  
Act 1993.

1. People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access 
the services of, and any events organised by, a public authority 
Our planning for events and activities includes ensuring people with 
disability are able to attend and participate. Landgate’s services 
are accessible by all members of the community including people 
with disability. People with disability, who have access or inclusion 
requirements are encouraged to contact us. 

2. People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access 
the buildings and other facilities of a public authority 
All Landgate buildings are equipped with:

• ramps

• strategically placed automatic door openers throughout the building 
to improve access for staff and customers with disabilities

• a disability access toilet for public use and 

• wheelchair and hearing impaired assistance services at the Midland 
Customer Centre.

Landgate acquires funds from the Federal Government for workplace 
modifications to ensure people with disability have equal opportunity to 
access its facilities and services.
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Other legal requirements 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes - cont.

3. People with disability receive information from a public authority in a format 
that will enable them to access the information as readily as other people are 
able to access it 
Information about Landgate services is readily accessible via various 
means including:

• face to face contact

• telephone

• teletypewriter (TTY)

• internet, Facebook and Twitter

• email

• alternative formats on request and the redesigned corporate website. 

Landgate’s redeveloped corporate website went live on 19 March 2015. 
The website redevelopment addressed a number of accessibility issues 
and is progressing to full compliance with the Web Content Accessibility 
Guidelines version 2.0.  

 

Improvements include:

• a new content management system that meets accessibility 
guidelines

• a responsive web design that presents the website to fit the device 
used

• ability to change text size

• all website videos captioned

• eight website content authors have been trained in website 
accessibility and how to create accessible documents.

4. People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from the 
staff of a public authority as other people receive from the staff of that public 
authority 
Landgate is proud of the quality of service it provides to its customers 
and the community and ensures that service levels are high for all 
sectors of its clients including people with disability. Landgate maintains 
and promotes policies, codes of conduct and strategies that prohibit 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation of people with disability. 
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Other legal requirements 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes - cont.

5. People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to a public authority 
Landgate’s complaints management system and its feedback 
mechanisms are accessible to all customers and are available through a 
number of appropriate mechanisms to ensure equal access.

6. People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by a public authority 
People with disability can participate in public consultation by accessing 
Landgate’s services through a number of means detailed in outcome 3. 
Interpreters and specialist providers are engaged on request to ensure 
full inclusion of all during consultation.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7. People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain 
and maintain employment with a public authority 
Three per cent of Landgate’s staff identify as having a disability.  
Landgate continues to refine its strategies to attract, recruit and retain 
employees to ensure a diverse workforce.  Landgate’s Workforce 
and Diversity Plan and Disability Access and Inclusion Plan identify 
gaps in policy, service provision and operational processes, improving 
opportunities for staff diversity.  
 
Landgate provides Auslan interpreters for employees who have a hearing 
impairment to ensure access to information, training, interviews and 
succession opportunities. 
 
Employees with disability are provided with support to carry out their 
employment responsibilities, career development and succession 
opportunities through the Workplace Literacy/Language Support 
Program.  
 
Enriching the employment of people with disability via job redesign and 
other innovative and flexible work practices on a case by case basis is 
an ongoing priority.
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Equal opportunity outcomes

Diversity progress report – representation  
Landgate’s women in management 2014/15

Women in management

Landgate 
representation 

(%) 2014/15

Landgate 
representation 

(%) 2013/14

Distribution (equity index) 99 99

Management tier 1 0 0

Management tier 2 40 33.3

Management tier 3 50.0 37.5

Management tier 2 & 3 combined 47.7 36.6

Landgate’s workforce diversity 2014/15

Diversity group

Landgate 
representation 

(%) 2014/15

Landgate 
representation 

(%) 2013/14

Equity 
index

2014/15

Equity 
index

2013/14

People from culturally 
diverse backgrounds 10 16 75 75

Indigenous australians 1.0 1.0 26.9 28

People with disability 3.2 3.0 63 64

Youth (<25) 3.0 3.0 31 26

This information shows the diversity of Landgate employees against other 
state sectors. The equity index compares the distribution of a diversity group 
in the workforce to the distribution of the workforce as a whole. If the group 
has a similar distribution across all ranges as the total workforce the equity 
index is 100. An equity index of less than 100 indicates compression of the 
group at the lower salary ranges. An equity index of more than 100 indicates 
compression of the group at the higher salary ranges.

Note: as the responses rely on voluntary self-nomination (other than for 
Youth), it is likely that the data under represents these diversity groups at 
Landgate.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1)

Human Resource Management Standards, Public Sector Standards and Ethical 
Codes Compliance Statement for 2014/15 Overview

Landgate is committed to upholding the Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics 
and Landgate’s Code of Conduct. 

Public Sector Standards
The standards are available on Landgate’s intranet and are embedded in 
relevant policies and procedures.

• Landgate welcomes open communication and integrity including 
compliance with the standards and ensuring reviewable decisions are fair 
and equitable and properly recorded.

• Landgate’s People and Culture team ensures the business is kept up-
to-date with changes to the Public Sector Standards, Commissioner’s 
Instructions, and any changes to the Public Sector Management Act 
1994 and regulations.

Public Sector Code of Ethics and Landgate’s Code of Conduct
• the Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are available on Landgate’s 

intranet

• the Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct are brought to the attention of 
new Landgate employees

• employees are informed of important ethical and behavioural topics via 
the intranet, the promotion of new or revised policies, courses, seminars 
and workshops

• ninety-five per cent of Landgate staff have completed Accountable 
and Ethical Decision Making courses. New employees undertake 
accountable and ethical decision-making learning via an online learning 
module.

Mike Bradford
Chief Executive
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Other legal requirements 
Recordkeeping plans

The following information is provided as required by State Records 
Commission Standard 2, Principle 6 – Compliance.

Landgate has been implementing an electronic document and records 
management system (eDRMS). The eDRMS rollout includes establishing 
‘Records Super-users’ within business areas who are comprehensively 
trained in using the corporate records management system and the eDRMS. 
Training in using the corporate records management system and the eDRMS 
continues to be provided as required.

Recordkeeping awareness training forms part of Landgate’s induction 
processes. All people new to Landgate are required to complete this training 
within 30 days of enrolment, including people working for Landgate’s 
contracted service providers.

Training content was reviewed in 2015. It continues to provide an awareness 
of Landgate’s recordkeeping policies, processes and principles, and 
describes what is required to comply with Landgate’s Recordkeeping Plan. 
Over 100 people were enrolled during the year with 99% of participants 
successfully completing their recordkeeping induction.

Information statement
The Western Australian Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides a 
legal right of access to documents held by all state and local government 
agencies. The Landgate Annual Report serves the purpose as Landgate’s 
Information Statement to meet the requirements of Part 5 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992.

Freedom of Information Applications for 2014/15
Three valid applications were received for the year, two to access non-
personal information and one to access personal information. Two external 
reviews were lodged for an application processed the previous financial 
year. Statistics for 2014/15 reported for inclusion in the Information 
Commissioner’s Annual Report at www.foi.wa.gov.au.

Information enquiries
The public has ready access to many Landgate information collections. 
Requests to access Landgate information are first directed to Customer 
Service Officers where a formal FOI application is required if the information 
sought is not readily available through the products and services delivered 
by Landgate.



Committed to innovat ing for  the future179

Disclosures and legal  compl iance -  Other  legal  requirements

Other legal requirements
Recordkeeping plans - cont.

Receipt of FOI applications
FOI applications, payments, correspondence and general enquiries should 
be directed to:

FOI Coordinator
Landgate
PO Box 2222
Midland WA 6936
Telephone +61 (0)8 9273 7565
Facsimile +61 (0)8 9273 7666.

FOI application forms are available from the Landgate website at  
http://www.landgate.wa.gov.au/ or from the FOI Coordinator.

Fees and charges
The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI Act.

• Application fee for non-personal information is $30.00. There are no fees 
for applications for personal information about the applicant.

• Charges for dealing with the application are set at a standard rate of 
$30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour.

• Charges for supervising inspection of documents are set at a standard 
rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour.

• Charges for photocopying are $30.00 per hour for staff time and 20¢ per 
copy.

• Charges for time taken by staff transcribing information from a tape or 
other device are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or pro rata for 
a part of an hour.

• Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer information will be the 
actual cost.

• Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will be the actual cost. 

Processing applications
The coordination and assessment of FOI applications are centralised, with 
decentralised decision-making. Initial decisions are generally made by the 
relevant business manager / information owner due to their knowledge of the 
activities and information involved. The internal review process is conducted 
by Landgate’s Legal Services team.
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Recordkeeping plans - cont.

Notice of decision
Applicants are provided with written notice of the Landgate’s decision, 
including the:

• date of the decision

• name and designation of the decision-maker

• reasons for deleting any matter

• reasons for deferring access

• arrangements for giving access

• reasons for refusing access to any matter

• amount and basis for any charges levied

• rights of review and procedures to be followed.
 
Review rights
If an applicant or third party is aggrieved with a decision they have the right 
to submit a written request for a review. The request for a review must 
be lodged within 30 days of notice of the original decision. The review 
is conducted by a person other than the person who made the original 
decision, is not subordinate to that person, and is usually a person from 
Landgate’s Legal Services team.

The authority must respond with a written notice of decision within 15 days 
of receiving a request for a review. There is no lodgement fee payable for 
internal reviews. If the applicant or third party is still aggrieved they may 
lodge a written complaint to the Office of the Information Commissioner 
within 60 days following the internal review decision (30 days for third 
parties). The Commissioner’s decision is final, unless an appeal is made to 
the Supreme Court on a question of law.

Occupational safety, health (OSH) and injury management

Landgate is dedicated to providing and maintaining safe and healthy 
environments for workers and visitors through the development and 
implementation of effective and integrated safety, wellness and injury 
management systems.

Landgate’s commitment to safety, health and wellness is articulated within 
our OSH Policy Statement. The statement is formulated in consultation with 
representative groups, endorsed by the Corporate Executive and signed by 
the Chief Executive. It is proudly displayed in prominent locations throughout 
Landgate. 
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Other legal requirements 
Occupational safety, health and injury management - cont.

Landgate is committed to ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for all 
workers and visitors by:

• nurturing the continuous improvement of workplace safety, health 
conditions and culture

• acknowledging and accepting a shared responsibility for the safety and 
health of all persons who may be affected by Landgate’s activities

• promoting a consultative environment that will resolve issues while 
proactively developing and improving OSH systems in the workplace

• providing and maintaining workplaces and systems of work so, as far as 
practical people are not exposed to hazards

• providing appropriate financial, physical and human resources to ensure 
effective implementation, maintenance and improvement of OSH 
systems

• supporting OSH performance based objectives and targets to 
continuously improve and eliminate work-related illness and injury.

OSH representatives are available to consult and provide representation on 
safety and health matters. Representatives’ details are provided via a poster, 
which is displayed throughout the workplace and is available on the staff 
intranet. Newsletter and intranet articles serve to promote the role, recruit 
new representatives, convey their identity and availability. 

Landgate’s OSH Committee meets on a six weekly basis or as required. It 
provides a forum for discussion and development of safety and wellness 
programs. Initiatives developed and recommended by the committee are 
referred to business unit managers and the Corporate Executive. Minutes 
from OSH committee meetings are available to all employees via the staff 
intranet. 

It is through effective, timely monitoring of safety conditions that Landgate 
is able to respond to any concerns or opportunities for improvement. 
Landgate’s Quarterly OSH and Wellness Performance Reports contain an 
extensive range of performance indicators and trend analysis. 
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Occupational safety, health and injury management - cont.

• Engagement – number of OSH representatives and visits to OSH intranet 
material.

• Workers compensation and Injury management – number of claims, 
actual and future estimated costs.

• OSH and injury management training – percentage of managers trained 
and the timeliness of OSH training being completed. 

• Incidents, first aid treatments and ergonomic assessments – number of 
reported incidents, treatments by a First Aid Officer and assessments 
performed by Landgate’s internal assessors.

• Employee assistance program – overall utilisation and the ratio of work 
related use, benchmarked against the wider public service.

• Wellness program – participation in a range of leisure and lifestyle 
program activities and memberships.

• Summary of incidents – a description of all recent incidents 
investigations, corrective actions and outcomes. 

Performance reports are made available via the staff intranet. They are 
formally reviewed by Landgate’s Board, Corporate Executive and OSH 
Committees. Managers, employees and their representative groups are 
alerted to their presence by email and encouraged to review within team 
meetings.

Landgate’s Injury Management Policy is developed in accordance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and WorkCover 
WA guidelines for injury management. It documents the authority’s approach 
to work related and non-work related illness and injury and is available via 
the staff intranet.

Landgate’s workplace-based injury management service is available to any 
employee who suffers a work-related injury or illness as well as those who 
suffer a non-work related injury or illness that may be impacted by or upon 
their work. Where required, return to work and injury management plans 
are developed and monitored in accordance with the requirements of the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and Landgate’s 
Policy.

Landgate recognises the benefits of continuous improvement based 
upon best practice standards. An integral part of Landgate’s approach 
is a comprehensive ongoing workplace inspection and systems auditing 
process. 
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Other legal requirements 
Occupational safety, health and injury management - cont.

This includes six monthly workplace hazard inspections in conjunction to 
those periodically performed by OSH Representatives, annual legislative and 
procedural compliance audits and five yearly safety management system 
audits, conducted in accordance with the code of practice for OSH in the 
Western Australian public sector and AS4801:2000. 

In late 2010 Landgate engaged an external audit of its safety management 
system. The audit scope was aligned to Western Australia’s WorkSafe Plan, 
WorkSafe Victoria’s SafetyMap and ComCare’s National Audit tools.  A 
review conducted in May 2014 found 100% of the 27 recommendations; 
spanning nine focus areas had been fully addressed.

Throughout 2014/15 Landgate has continued to act on opportunities for 
improvement by:

• refining and enhancing OSH aspects of its organisational risk register

• completing a review of asbestos management, implementing new 
guidance material, reporting and inspection systems and educating 
industry stakeholders on the risks associated with this hazardous 
material in Landgate installations

• developing and reviewing an expanded set of OSH guidance in order to 
document OSH and injury management systems and the management 
of key OSH risks.

Landgate looks forward to identifying further opportunities for improvement 
through a repeat assessment of OSH management systems in late 2015.

Actual results Results against target

Measure 2013/14 2014/15
2014/15 

Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0
Landgate has 

continued to perform 
well, in the prevention 

and management of 
workplace injury.

Lost time injury and/or 
disease incidence rate

0.13 0.17 0.12

Lost time injury and/or 
disease severity rate

0 0 0

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work:

100% 100% N/A Only two lost time 
incidents occurred in 
the 2014/15 period, 

five within the past four 
years.

(i) within 13 weeks 100% 100% ≥ 80%

(ii) within 26 weeks 93% 86% ≥ 80%

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

87% 93% ≥ 80%

Competency based
electronic training and

refreshers has been 
well received and 

highly effective.

*Note: figures provided are based upon three year trends
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